
 

Cabinet Agenda 
 
 
 
 
 5.00 pm Tuesday, 7 January 2020 

Committee Room No. 2, Town Hall, 
Darlington. 

 
 

 

Members and Members of the Public are welcome to 
attend this Meeting. 

 

 
1.   Introductions/Attendance at Meeting.  

 
2.   Declarations of Interest.  

 
3.   To hear relevant representation (from Members and the General Public) on items 

on this Cabinet agenda.  
 

4.   To Approve the Minutes of the meeting of this Cabinet held on Tuesday, 3 
December 2019. (Pages 1 - 8) 
 

5.   Matters Referred to Cabinet –  
There are no matters referred back for reconsideration to this meeting 
 

6.   Issues Arising from Scrutiny Committee –  
There are no issues referred back from the Scrutiny Committees to this Meeting, 
other than where they have been specifically consulted on an issue and their 
comments are included in the contents of the relevant report on this agenda 
 

7.   Key Decisions:-  
 

 (a)   Medium Term Financial Plan –  
Report of the Chief Officers Executive. 
 (Pages 9 - 68) 
 

 (b)   Darlington Capital Strategy –  
Report of the Chief Officers Executive. 
 (Pages 69 - 88) 
 

 (c)   Housing Revenue Account - Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2020/21 to 
2023/24 –  
Report of the Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services. 

Public Document Pack



 (Pages 89 - 104) 
 

 (d)   The Council Plan 2020/23 –  
Report of the Chief Officers Executive. 
 (Pages 105 - 120) 
 

 (e)   Capital Works Required at Crown Street Library –  
Report of the Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services. 
 (Pages 121 - 160) 
 

 (f)   Darlington Rail Heritage Quarter –  
Report of the Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services. 
 (Pages 161 - 246) 
 

 (g)   Permit System to Manage and Coordinate Roadworks –  
Report of the Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services. 
 (Pages 247 - 256) 
 

8.   Darlington Crematorium Refurbishment - Update –  
Report of the Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services. 
 (Pages 257 - 260) 
 

9.   Schedule of Transactions –  
Report of the Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services. 
 (Pages 261 - 264) 
 

10.   Membership Changes - To consider any Membership Changes to Other Bodies to 
which Cabinet appoints.  
 

11.   SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM(S) (if any) which in the opinion of the Chair of this 
Committee are of an urgent nature and can be discussed at this meeting.   
 

12.   Questions.  
 

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 

13.   To consider the exclusion of the Public and Press :- –  
RESOLVED - That, pursuant to Sections 100A(4) and (5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during the 
consideration of the ensuing items on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in exclusion paragraph 3 of Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 
 

     
Luke Swinhoe 

Assistant Director Law and Governance 
 



Thursday 19 December 2019 
 
Town Hall  
Darlington. 
 
 
Membership 
Councillors Crudass, Dulston, Johnson, Marshall, Mills, Mrs H Scott and Tostevin 
 

If you need this information in a different language or format or you have any other 
queries on this agenda please contact Lynne Wood, Elections Manager, Resources 
Group, during normal office hours 8.30 a.m. to 4.45 p.m. Mondays to Thursdays and 
8.30 a.m. to 4.15 p.m. Fridays (e-mail Lynne.Wood@darlington.gov.uk or telephone 
01325 405803). 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
-1- 

 

DECISIONS SHOULD NOT BE IMPLEMENTED BEFORE 
MONDAY 16 DECEMBER 2019 

 
 

CABINET 
Tuesday, 3 December 2019 

 
PRESENT – Councilllors Mrs H Scott (Chair), Dulston, Johnson, Marshall and Tostevin 
 
INVITEES – Councillors Curry, Harker, K Nicholson and Snedker 
 
APOLOGIES – Councillors Crudass and Mills  
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE – Councillors Clarke, Donoghue, Durham and Keir 
 
 

C75 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. 
 

 In respect of Minute C81(1) below, the Leader declared a non-pecuniary interest as 
she was a Governor of Beaumont Hill Academy. 
 

C76 TO HEAR RELEVANT REPRESENTATION (FROM MEMBERS AND THE 
GENERAL PUBLIC) ON ITEMS ON THIS CABINET AGENDA. 
 

 No representations were made by Members or members of the public in attendance 
at the meeting. 
 

C77 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THIS CABINET HELD ON 5 
NOVEMBER 2019. 
 

 Submitted - The Minutes (previously circulated) of the meeting of this Cabinet held on 
5 November 2019. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Minutes be confirmed as a correct record. 
 
REASON – They represent an accurate record of the meeting. 
 
 

C78 MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET 
 

 There were no matters referred back for re-consideration to this meeting. 
 

C79 ISSUES ARISING FROM SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

 There were no issues arising from Scrutiny considered at this meeting. 
 

C80 ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER 
 

 The Cabinet Member with the Resources Portfolio introduced the report of the 
Managing Director (previously circulated) presenting the Annual Audit Letter for 
2018/19 (also previously circulated). 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 

 
-2- 

 

 
The Annual Audit Letter provided a high level summary of the results from the 
2018/19 audit work undertaken by Ernst and Young LLP (EY), the Council’s external 
auditors; confirmed that the Council’s accounts gave a true and fair view for the year 
ending 31 March 2019; and that the Council had put in place proper arrangements to 
secure value for money in use of its resources. 
 
A representative from Ernst and Young LLP (EY), presented the main findings from 
the Annual Audit Letter 2015/16 and stated that, the Council had been issued with an 
unqualified audit opinion. 
 
RESOLVED - That the Annual Audit Letter, as appended to the submitted report, be 
noted. 
 
REASON - To enable Cabinet to receive the results of external audit work carried out. 
 

C81 KEY DECISIONS:- 
 

(1)  HAUGHTON CHILDREN'S CENTRE 
 

 The Leader introduced the report of the Director of Children and Adults Services 
(previously circulated) seeking approval for the Education Village Academy Trust 
(EVAT) to take over the site of the Haughton Children’s Centre, subject to a lease 
under the Academies Act 2010 to provide Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
(SEND) placements at Beaumont Hill Academy (BHA). 
 
The submitted report stated that the use of the site would support Darlington’s 
strategic aim to educate more pupils with SEND in the Borough; Darlington had faced 
an increasing demand for specialist placements for pupils with SEND; Darlington’s 
Local Area SEND Strategy aimed to retain more pupils in the Borough rather than at 
high cost out of the area specialist placements; an opportunity had arisen to use the 
Haughton Children’s Centre site to increase capacity at Beaumont Hill Academy; and 
that the lease of the building to EVAT would involve a £400,000 risk of financial 
clawback, from the Department for Education. 
 
Discussion ensued on the potential ‘clawback’ by the Department for Education and 
whether there were any other ‘clawbacks’ that would require, to be paid. 
 
RESOLVED - (a)  That the take-over of the site of Haughton Children’s Centre, by the 
Education Village Academy Trust (EVAT) be approved, on standard lease terms 
under the Academies Act 2010, as set out in the submitted report. 
 
(b)  That £400,000 be earmarked from General Fund Reserves in case the 
Department for Education clawback is enacted. 
 
(c)  That the Assistant Director Law and Governance be authorised to complete legal 
documents accordingly. 
 
REASON - (a)  It supports the aims of Darlington’s Local Area SEND strategy to 
building capacity in mainstream and specialist settings to support children and young 
people to be educated in their local community and to reduce reliance on out of area 

Page 2



 

 
-3- 

 

placements 0-25 by providing additional capacity to BHA. 
 
(b)  It reduces the need for high cost out of area placements for pupils with SEND. 
 

(2)  WARM HOMES PROJECT 
 

 The Cabinet Member with the Stronger Communities Portfolio introduced the report of 
the Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services (previously circulated) 
providing an update on the previous Cabinet report of 9 January 2018 (Minute 
C98/Jan/18 refers), in relation to approval to participate in a Tees Valley Partnership 
to deliver Warm Homes Fund Project (WHF) and to agree to share financial risk with 
four Local Authority partners. 
 
The submitted report stated that in July 2017, the National Grid and Community 
Interest Company, Affordable Warmth Solution (AWS) established a £150M Warm 
Homes Fund; a consortium, led bid by Northumberland County Council, of seven 
local authorities, including Darlington, registered housing providers and community 
partners had made a successful joint bid for Year 1 funding of £1.8M; that whilst the 
bid was successful, the number of measures delivered were much higher in 
Northumberland than any of the other partners; a further bid for funding in Year 2 was 
unsuccessful; a Round 3 bid for funding was submitted by a consortium of the Tees 
Valley Affordable Warmth Partnership, led by Stockton Borough Council, which 
approved but was later rejected; and that a Round 4 bid had been submitted to AWS, 
by the Tees Valley Affordable Warmth Partnership, for £4,065,284 
 
Particular reference was made to the number of eligible properties; the importance of 
identifying those properties that were most in need; the sharing of the risks of the 
project with the other Local Authorities; the implications on the social landlords; and to 
the work that was being undertaken to ensure landlords had appropriate measures in 
place. 
 
RESOLVED - (a)  That, subject to the successful award and acceptance of grant by 
Stockton Borough Council, participation in the Warm Homes Fund Partnership be 
continued to deliver energy efficiency measures across the Borough.  
 
(b)  That the potential clawback, as detailed in paragraph 36 of the submitted report, 
be underwritten by the Council. 
 
(c)  That the underspend on the Housing Investment Programme Capital Grant 
(SHIP3) be allocated to the Warm Homes Project, to mitigate the potential clawback 
risk.    
 
REASONS - (a)  Participation in the project will deliver energy efficiency 
improvements for qualifying residents in the Borough.  Funding availability elsewhere 
is now greatly reduced compared to previous years.  
 
(b)  Fuel poverty levels in the Borough will be reduced and associated problems will 
be reduced.   
 

(3)  DELIVERY OF NEW HOMES PROGRAMME - JOINT VENTURE PROPOSAL 
 

Page 3



 

 
-4- 

 

 The Cabinet Member with the Resources Portfolio introduced the report of the 
Managing Director (previously circulated) requesting that consideration be given to 
the establishment of a Joint Venture Company, to provide the infrastructure build and 
sale of homes under an investment programme within the North East under the 
company name Esh DBC JV Limited; the Council investing in the company; and 
acquiring land for schemes meeting qualifying investment criteria for residential 
development, through the Council’s Joint Venture arrangements.  
 
The submitted report stated that to date four Joint Venture schemes had been 
arranged under separate joint venture companies which brought forward a number of 
developments and that the schemes were projected to provide 388 new homes; 
estimated new homes bonus of £2.1m; a post-tax profit of over £3m; and on loan 
interest payments of £1.1m from a maximum engaged investment of £24.3m.   
 
RESOLVED - (a)  That the establishment of the Joint Venture Company to acquire 
land, as detailed in the submitted report, be approved. 
 
(b)  That £9.5m from the Investment Fund, to fund the Joint Venture Company 
financed by prudential borrowing subject to a first Legal Charge in favour of the 
Council over the Land acquired by the Joint Venture Company together with a 
Guarantee from the Joint Venture Partner in respect of 50 per cent of the Senior Loan 
sum, be approved. 
 
(c)  That the Joint Venture Agreement, be approved, and delegated authority be given 
to the Assistant Director – Resources (Chief Finance Officer) to finalise the 
establishment of the Joint Venture Company in line with the terms as detailed in the 
submitted report. 
 
(d)  That the Assistant Director – Resources (CFO), the Assistant Director Housing 
and Building Services and the Assistant Director - Law and Governance be appointed 
to act as directors in the Joint Venture Company as part of its Executive Board and 
approval be delegated to agree the acquisitions of land and development of sites on 
behalf of the Council as Shareholder. 
 
(e)  That the Joint Venture be funded from prudential borrowing from the Capital 
Investment Fund established by the report to Council dated November 2016. 
 
REASONS - (a)  To assist in the delivery of the Economic Strategy by speeding up 
the building of new homes. 
 
(b)  To deliver income for the Council.   
 

C82 DOLPHIN CENTRE TEN PIN BOWLING 
 

 The Cabinet Member with the Health and Housing Portfolio introduced the report of 
the Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services (previously circulated) 
requesting that consideration be given to the release of funding for the Dolphin 
Centre to install a five-lane ten pin bowling alley and extension to the existing soft 
play facility. 
 
The submitted report stated that following the decision by Cabinet not to relocate the 

Page 4



 

 
-5- 

 

Library to the Dolphin Centre, work had been ongoing to develop proposals to 
introduce a range of facilities that improved the family and teen offer of the building; 
the proposal was to develop a five-lane Ten Pin Bowling Alley and extend the Soft 
Play together with a number of facilities for young people/teenagers; the Town Centre 
Strategy received a number of comments supporting the development of a Ten Pin 
Bowling facility in Darlington; outlined the financial, legal and HR implications; and the 
outcome of the consultation. 
 
Particular concerns were raised at the meeting to the implications for squash players 
who didn’t drive, to access alternative venues should they wish to play squash; the 
viability of introducing bowling in the Dolphin Centre; the management of the bowling 
and other facilities for young people; and the importance of offering the right 
experience to ensure that the facilities were used.  The Director of Economic Growth 
and Neighbourhood Services responded thereon. 
 
RESOLVED – That the alterations to the Dolphin Centre, with the introduction of new 
facilities and the release of £1million, to be funded from additional revenue, be 
approved. 
 
REASON - To enable the alterations to the Dolphin Centre with the introduction of 
Ten Pin Bowling and extensions to Soft Play alongside additional offer for young 
people/teenagers.   
 
 

C83 THE NORTHGATE INITIATIVE 
 

 The Cabinet Member with the Stronger Communities Portfolio introduced the report of 
the Managing Director (previously circulated) requesting that consideration be given 
to the introduction of an initiative in the Northgate Ward, aiming to work with partner 
agencies to address a broad range of issues including environment, education, 
health, employment, safety and social relationships. 
 
The submitted report stated that the initiative would comprise a multi-agency 
programme to pilot a range of interventions, from support to advice to enforcement 
activities where required in order to improve outcomes for local residents in all areas 
of wellbeing, including economy, education and childhood, health, environment and 
social relationships; the work would focus on the area of the Northgate Ward to the 
west of North Road; outlined the terms of reference of the initiative; next steps; 
governance arrangements; financial, legal and HR implications; and equalities 
considerations. 
 
Discussion ensued on the funding of the initiative; the provision of an additional post; 
involvement of the Ward Councillors in the initiative; the sustainability of the project; 
the importance of receiving feedback on the project; and the implications for those 
living in poverty, particularly children. 
 
RESOLVED - (a)  That the Northgate Initiative, as detailed in the submitted report, be 
approved. 
 
(b)  That the proposal to earmark £100,000 from the Futures Fund for the project 
initiation, be noted. 

Page 5



 

 
-6- 

 

 
REASONS - (a)  Northgate ward has one of the highest concentrations of private 
rented property in the borough. 
 
(b)  There is also a relatively high number of younger deprived families living in the 
area, suffering from a range of interrelated issues of deprivation including child 
poverty, fuel poverty, high incidences of crime and antisocial behaviour and poor 
health outcomes. 
 
(c)  To allocate funding to the initiative. 
 

C84 PROPOSED WAITING RESTRICTIONS MCMULLEN ROAD ROUNDABOUT - 
OBJECTIONS 
 

 The Leader introduced the report of the Director of Economic Growth and 
Neighbourhood Services (previously circulated) advising Members of an objection 
received to a proposal for waiting restrictions at McMullen Road/Yarm Road 
roundabout and requesting that consideration be given to a decision on whether to 
proceed with the proposal. 
 
The submitted report outlined the background to the proposals and stated that an 
objection had been received from a resident who owned one of the affected 
properties. 
 
The Leader reported at the meeting that although the Ward Councillors hadn’t been 
consulted prior to the report being circulated, they had since been consulted, and 
were in favour of the proposals  
 
RESOLVED - That the objection, as detailed in the submitted report, be set aside for 
reasons as outlined in the submitted report and officers be authorised to proceed with 
the proposal to introduce and no waiting at any time and no waiting 8.00am to 
6.00pm. 
 
REASON - To improve the traffic flow and road safety of the roundabout. 
 

C85 REVIEW OF OUTCOME OF COMPLAINTS MADE TO OMBUDSMAN 
 

 The Cabinet Member with Resources Portfolio introduced the report of the Managing 
Director, the Director of Children and Adults Services and the Director of Economic 
Growth and Neighbourhood Services providing Members with an update of the 
outcome of cases which had been determined by the Local Government and Social 
Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) and Housing Ombudsman (HO) since the preparation of 
the report to Cabinet on 10 September 2019. 
 
The submitted report stated that between 1 April and 30 September 2019 eleven 
cases were the subject of a decision by the LGSCO and none subject to a decision 
by the HO; the Council received four upheld maladministration injustice decisions for 
the LGSCO, three relating to adult social care services and the other highways; that 
there were no identifiable themes running through the complaints; and that the 
actions identified to remedy the complaints should ensure there was no re-
occurrence. 

Page 6



 

 
-7- 

 

 
The Cabinet Member with the Resources Portfolio, in presenting the report, stated 
that the report would move to annual update. 
 
RESOLVED - That the contents of the report be noted.  
 
REASONS - (a)  It is important that Members are aware of the outcome of complaints 
made to the LGSCO and the HO in respect of the Council’s activities. 
 
(b)  The contents of this report do not suggest that further action, other than detailed 
in the report, is required. 
 

C86 MID-YEAR PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT 2019/20 
 

 The Cabinet Member with the Resources Portfolio introduced the report of the 
Managing Director (previously circulated) seeking approval of the revised Treasury 
Management Strategy, Prudential Indicators and providing a half-yearly review of the 
Council’s borrowing and investment activities. 
 
It was reported that the mandatory Prudential Code, which governs Council’s 
borrowing, required Council approval of controls, called Prudential Indicators, which 
related to capital spending and borrowing.  The indicators were set out in three 
statutory annual reports and the key objectives of those reports were set out in the 
submitted report, together with the key proposed revisions to the indicators which 
related to a reduction in the Operational Boundary and the Authorised Limit to allow 
for any additional cashflow requirements. 
 
Particular references were made to the removal of the facility to lend to Registered 
Social Landlords and to investments of £30m in property funds, which were expected 
to increase the net return on investment by around £0.700m in future years. 
 
It was reported that the Audit Committee had considered the report and were satisfied 
with the Council’s borrowing and investment activities, reported indicators and revised 
borrowing limits. 
 
RESOLVED - (a)  That the revised prudential indicators and limits, as detailed in 
Tables 1 to 6, 8 and 15 to 18 in the submitted report, be examined. 
 
(b)  That the over-spend in the Treasury Management Budget (Financing Costs) of 
£0.033m, as shown in Table 12 of the submitted report, be noted. 
 
(c)  That the report be forwarded to Council in order for the updated prudential 
indicators to be approved. 
 
REASONS - (a)  In order to comply with the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities. 
 
(b)  To inform Members of the performance of the Treasury Management function. 
 
(c)  To comply with the Local Government Act 2003. 
 

Page 7



 

 
-8- 

 

(d)  To enable further improvements to be made in the Council’s Treasury 
Management function. 
 

C87 MEMBERSHIP CHANGES - TO CONSIDER ANY MEMBERSHIP CHANGES TO 
OTHER BODIES TO WHICH CABINET APPOINTS. 
 

 There were no membership changes reported at the meeting. 
 

C88 TO CONSIDER THE EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS :- 
 

 EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC - RESOLVED - That, pursuant to Sections 100A(4) 
and (5) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting 
during the consideration of the ensuing item on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in exclusion paragraph 3 of Part I of 
Schedule 12A to the Act. 
 
 

 
DECISIONS DATED – 

FRIDAY 6 DECEMBER 2019 

Page 8



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CABINET 
07 JANUARY 2020  

 
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

 

 
Responsible Cabinet Member - Councillor Heather Scott 

Leader and all Cabinet Members 
 

Responsible Director – Chief Officers Executive 
 

 
SUMMARY REPORT 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To propose a Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for 2020/21 to 2023/24 for 

consultation including setting a budget and council tax increase for 2020/21.  
 

Summary 
 
2. The Council has faced significant challenges over the last decade following the 

economic downturn and reduction in public sector spending.  To date the Council 
has been successful in responding to these challenges but there are still financial 
pressures to be faced, particularly in respect of a growing elderly population and 
pressure in the children’s social care sector.  We therefore must continue to be 
creative and innovative in ways of working and press ahead with every effort in our 
priority of growing the economy.  

 
3. In the 2019 spending review, delivered on 4 September, the Chancellor made 

reference to a number of funding streams in respect of social care; the continuation 
of Revenue Support grant (RSG), and an Adult social care precept.  As this report 
has been prepared before the Local Government Finance Settlement (LGFS), 
which is unlikely to be received prior to Christmas, a number of assumptions in 
regard to funding have been made.  Any changes to funding levels following the 
announcement will be reported to Cabinet in February. 

 

4. The Council undertook a significant consultation exercise in 2016 following an 
in-depth and detailed review of all services which resulted in the agreement of a 
Core Offer budget which allowed for a small futures fund allocated to discretionary 
services.  Furthermore, in subsequent MTFP’s Members following consultation 
agreed to use unallocated balances of £4.7m to invest in five areas which hold 
great value to our community, they were; 
 
(a) Community Safety 
(b) Maintain an attractive street scene environment 
(c) Maintaining a vibrant town centre 
(d) Developing an attractive visitor economy 
(e) Neighbourhood renewal 

 

  

Page 9

Agenda Item 7(a)



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

5. The Core offer remains challenging with some significant pressures arising in 
Children’s social care.  Nevertheless, through innovative financial investments, 
increased income from economic growth successes and a positive pension triennial 
review, the Council can still deliver the agreed balanced plan, finance the MTFP a 
further year to 2023/24, and allocate an additional £1.8m to bolster the Futures 
Fund themes whilst retaining usable balances of £4.3m. 

 

6. In summary, the Council’s financial position is robust with a four-year balanced 
MTFP and funds available for investment which will be delegated to Cabinet. 

 
Recommendation 
 
7. It is recommended that Cabinet approve for consultation:- 

 
The Revenue MTFP as set out in Appendix 7 including the following; 
 
(a) Council tax increase of 2.00% plus the 2% adult social care precept to fund 

social care for 2020/21. 
 

(b) Schedule of charges as set out in Appendix 3. 
 

(c) The Futures Fund investment of £1.8m as set out in paragraph 60. 
 

Reasons 
 
8. The recommendations are supported by the following reasons :- 

 
(a) The Council must set a budget for the next financial year. 

 
(b) To enable the Council to continue to plan services and finances over the 

medium term. 
 

(c) To ensure decisions can be made in a timely manner. 
  
 

Chief Officers Executive 
 
Background Papers 
 
No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
Elizabeth Davison: Extension 5830 
 
 

 
 

Page 10



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

S17 Crime and Disorder The report contains proposals to continue to 
allocate resources in support of the Council’s 
Crime and Disorder responsibilities 

Health and Well Being The report contains proposals to continue to 
allocate resources in support of the Council’s 
Health and Well Being responsibilities 

Carbon Impact and Climate 
Change  

The proposals in the report seek to continue to 
support the Council’s responsibilities and 
ambitions to reduce carbon impact in the 
Council and the Borough. 

Diversity There are no specific proposals that impact on 
diversity issues. 

Wards Affected All wards are affected 

Groups Affected All groups are affected by the Council Tax 
increase.  

Budget and Policy Framework  The MTFP, Budget and Council Tax must all 
be decided by full Council 

Key Decision This is a key decision because following 
consultation agreement to the 
recommendations will result in the Local 
Authority incurring expenditure which is 
significant.   

Urgent Decision This is not an urgent decision for Cabinet, as 
the approval of Council in February 2020 will 
be required 

One Darlington: Perfectly 
Placed 

Within the constraints of available resources it 
is necessary for the Council to make decisions 
involving prioritisation. The proposals 
contained in this report are designed to support 
delivery of the Sustainable Community 
Strategy, and the Council Plan within those 
constraints. 

Efficiency Efficiency savings which do not affect service 
levels have been included in the MTFP. 

Impact on Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers 

Children’s social care continues to be 
resourced to provide good outcomes for 
Looked after Children or Care Leavers. 

 
MAIN REPORT 

 
Background and context 
 
9. The Council has faced significant financial challenges as the Government 

responded to the worldwide economic downtown by introducing public sector 
spending reductions.  This was exacerbated by a growing demand for services, 
particularly in relation to social care, both Adults and Children’s services.   In the 
case of Darlington Borough Council, a fundamental review of service provision was 
required and in 2016 following a need to reduce the budget by a further £12m the 
Council, following an in-depth and detailed review of all services, undertook a 
significant consultation exercise with the public during 2016.  This resulted in the 
agreement of a Core Offer budget which reduced expenditure and services to a risk 

Page 11



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

based minimum level with a small investment fund (The Futures Fund) of £2.5m 
per annum for services which the Council does not have to provide but which add 
great value to Darlington and its residents.   

10. Subsequently following good progress made on achieving savings, strong cost 
management and innovative treasury initiatives the council was in a position to add 
to the futures fund and Members after listening to feedback agreed to use 
unallocated balances of £4.7m to invest in five areas which hold great value to our 
community.  

 

11. The Council’s Corporate Plan priorities and long-term goals, were used in setting 
the criteria for the Futures Fund investments with emphasis on maximising growth 
in the Darlington economy and ensuring everyone is able to share in the 
subsequent wealth creation within community. 

 
12. As a consequence of looking to these long term goals the following five themes 

which are wholly consistent with the Council’s corporate plan priorities were 
agreed:- 
 

(i) Community Safety 
(ii) Maintain an attractive street scene environment 
(iii) Maintaining a vibrant town centre 
(iv) Developing an attractive visitor economy 
(v) Neighbourhood renewal 

 
13. The funds are being utilised as expected to make positive change, the progress of 

which is detailed later in the report.  
 

14. The core offer budget plus the futures fund as noted above is the starting position 
for this year’s MTFP. 

 
Financial Analysis 
 
Projected Expenditure 

 
15. Estimates attached at Appendix 1 have been prepared based on current service 

levels and include known pressures and efficiencies which are summarised below 
and detailed in Appendix 2 along with the assumption that additional Futures 
Funding is agreed and allocated as noted in Paragraph 60.  The most significant 
pressures and efficiencies are however discussed in the following paragraphs.  
Assumptions used when preparing the estimates are set out at Appendix 4. 

  

Page 12



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

 
16. Efficiencies/Savings – the largest saving comes from the reduction in pension 

scheme contributions.  A triennial review of the Durham Pension Fund has 
concluded the Darlington scheme is 98.6% funded which subsequently means 
there is less past service deficit repayments to be made in the next three years 
than anticipated.  Furthermore, the future contribution rate will remain static and 
won’t rise as anticipated over the next three years.  The reasons given are better 
fund returns, a reduction in the life expectancy age and also an increase in 
employees joining the pension scheme following auto enrolment.  
 

17. The transformation work in adult services to ensure people receive the right level of 
care and are able to stay in their own homes, has both improved the quality of 
people’s lives as well as reducing the cost of provision with subsequent savings 
made in this area.  

 
18. Service demand – the most significant pressure in this category is the increase in 

children coming into the local authorities care and the subsequent pressure on both 
Residential placement and Independent Fostering placement budgets.  This 
pressure is being felt across the country with most Council’s reporting overspends.   
The Council has been awarded a £1.2m grant from the DfE to assist in 
transforming social care practice within Darlington and the team is working in 
partnership with Leeds City Council who have already been through this process.  
The ultimate aim is to improve outcomes for children, focus on prevention and 
reducing the number of children who need to come into care and ultimately reduce 
the budget pressure.  
 

19. The increase in children services costs noted above also has an impact on staffing 
levels required in that area along with legal fees, both of which are presenting 
pressures over the MTFP.  

 

20. Concessionary fares are likely to increase following a review and subsequent 
redistribution of cost between the Tees Valley Authorities. 
 

21. Inflation – due to increases in the living wage and general inflation, above the 
1.5% provided for in the expenditure budgets, additional funding is required for our 
social care providers and direct payment clients. 

 

Summary of Pressures 
Estimate 

20/21 
Estimate 

21/22 
Estimate 

22/23 
Estimate 

23/24 

 £m £m £m £m 

          
Efficiencies/Savings offsetting 
pressures (4.098) (4.117) (4.167) (4.199) 

Service Demand 4.003  4.014  4.043  3.984  

Price Inflation 0.293  0.404  0.516  0.856  

Reduced Income 0.147  0.130  0.130  0.130  

Other 0.978  0.683  0.780  2.588  

Current Savings Shortfalls 0.417  0.595  0.589  0.585  

          

  1.740  1.709  1.891  3.945  

Page 13



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

22. Reduced Income – Income received from parking fines has reduced over the last 
couple of years as enforcement officers tackle other pressing needs of the services 
but also due to different parking offers, e.g. the multi-storey car park which is pay 
on exit.  The Parking offer is currently under review. 

 

23. Other – the Council is required to auto enrol staff members into the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and every three years the Council must 
carry out re-enrolment of any staff who have left the scheme.  Following this year’s 
enrolment over 70 employees have decided to remain in the scheme.  Whilst this is 
good for the employee it costs the Council 18.4% of the basic wage hence the 
pressure.  There is however a tentative link to the reduction in overall pension rates 
and back funding deficit as the more employees paying future contributions helps 
fund the scheme.   

 

24. There is also a one-year pressure against the council tax collection fund of 
£0.400m due to less properties being built than anticipated and higher exemptions 
and discounts being awarded for instance single person discount.   

 

25. Current Savings Shortfalls – Members will recall the Council allowed for a risk 
contingency in the 2019/20 budget, this was to cover 60% of five specific pressures 
which we were not certain if, or when, they would come to fruition. As reported in 
revenue budget monitoring the Children’s services and Schools transport pressures 
have presented fully and therefore the contingency has been fully utilised and the 
40% not provided for is now showing as a pressure in future years.  
 

26. There is also a pressure of £0.180m for the library service where the full amount of 
planned savings has not been achieved following extended consultation on the 
library provision. 

 
27. Income at Eastbourne Complex has increased however the service have been 

unable to generate enough to fully cover the cost of provision. 
 

 
Total Expenditure 
 
28. Taking all the above savings and pressures into account the projected expenditure 

is shown in the table below:- 
 

  
2020/21 

£m 
2021/22 

£m 
2022/23 

£m 
2023/24 

£m 

          

Children and Adult Services 57.719  60.074  62.021  63.250  
Economic Growth & 
Neighbourhood Services 20.867  22.173  22.969  23.671  

Resources  10.229  10.412  10.707  10.882  

Financing costs 0.895  1.096  1.419  3.196  

Investment Returns (1.028) (0.812) (0.517) (0.494) 

Council Wide Pressures/(savings) 0.405 0.004 0.008  0.004  

Council Wide Contingencies * 0.522  0.525  0.525  1.512  

Total Expenditure 
 

 89.609  93.472  97.132  102.021 

Page 14



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

* Includes apprentice levy and previously agreed risk contingency for provision ordinary 
residency costs in Adult services. 
 
Projected Income 
 
Spending Round 2019. 
 
29. On the 4 September 2019 the Chancellor made a number of announcements in 

regard to Local Government funding.   A technical consultation followed which has 
now closed, however, due to the elections, we are unlikely to receive a draft 
settlement for Darlington until after Christmas.  

 
30. In order to present a draft budget for consultation a number of assumptions have 

therefore been made based on the announcement, subsequent conversations with 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) and using 
previous percentage allocations received.  All assumption are summarised in 
Appendix 4 and detailed in the relevant sections below.  

 
Core Grant funding to Local Government 
 
31. Revenue Support Grant (RSG) has become a reducing element of the Council 

core funding over recent years and we were anticipating a further reduction in 
2020/21.  In the spending round however, assurances were given that RSG would 
remain at 2019/20 levels plus Consumer Price Index (CPI) and this has been built 
into the estimates. 
 

32. New Homes Bonus (NHB) is included in core Government funding as it is top 
sliced from RSG.  However, in the 2017/18 Local Government Finance Settlement, 
changes to the formula were announced and there was a national baseline of 0.4% 
with no NHB paid until the increase in numbers is above this limit, which for 
Darlington is 164.  In 2018/19 the NHB payment for each property of 6 years was 
reduced to 4 years and in the 2020/21 Spending round, whilst it was confirmed 
legacy payments for NHB will be paid, the consultation suggests there will be no 
new payments going forward. We have used this position in the estimates.   
 

33. As part of the Economic Growth Strategy, the Council is working towards 
increasing housing numbers to meet the needs of our population particularly as the 
economy is growing well and new jobs being created with a subsequent inward 
migration and increased demand for housing. The current financial incentives in 
terms of NHB are £1,671 per band D equivalent property with an additional £350 
for affordable housing.  Whilst it is disappointing NHB is unlikely to be received in 
the future the Council also receives additional Council Tax for each property so 
clearly housing growth is key to sustaining the Councils MTFP. 

 

34. Members will recall that previous year changes to the NHB scheme along with the 
reduction in RSG funded the Additional Better Care Fund (BCF) which was 
separate to the funding stream allocated direct to the NHS. This was in recognition 
that Councils were under significant pressure in regard to social care funding, 
confirmation has been received that this will continue in 2020/21 with inflation.  For 
estimate purposes it has been assumed this funding will continue given it is part of 
the core funding settlement. 

 
  

Page 15



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Additional Funding announced in the Spending Review 
 

35. Social Care funding - In recognition of the significant pressures being faced by 
Council in social care due to the growing elderly population and increases in 
children looked after, the Chancellor announced an extra £1.5 billion for social care.  
£1billion through grant and £500 million through the adult social care precept.  
Whilst the individual settlement figures haven’t been received, given previous 
percentage allocation it is anticipated this could be £2m for Darlington with an 
additional £1m from the Adult Social Care precept.  Furthermore, it has been 
indicated the grant funding (not the precept) will continue into future years.   
 

 
36. Social Care Grant and Winter Pressures funding – confirmation was received 

these grants will continue in 2020/21 with inflation.   With regard to the winter 
pressures money £0.200m has been allocated to the social care budget with the 
remaining £0.300m set aside for anticipated increased demand over the period.   
 

Council Tax Income 
 
37. Due to reduction and reliance on Government funding over the last ten years, 

Council Tax is now by far the largest single funding stream and will increase further 
as a percentage over the coming years as it represents 60% of all income 
anticipated.  The on-going increases reflect the Cabinet’s view that income from 
Council Tax must increase to protect key services.  Members will recall that a 1% 
increase in Council Tax equates to an annual revenue of £0.502m.   
 

38. In 2018/19 and 2019/20 Local Authorities were given more flexibility by increasing 
the Council Tax referendum limit to not more than 3%, in the spending review 
announcement this year the level has been reduced down to not more than 2% 
which will reduce the council tax revenue previously estimated. The estimates have 
assumed an ongoing 2% increase in Council Tax. 

 

39. However as previously noted the Chancellor announced extra social care funding 
of which £500 million was through the adult social care precept at 2%.  Adult social 
care has the largest overall budget and the precept is required to help in funding 
the on-going sustainability of the services.  The precept is on top of the 2.00% 
council tax increase noted in the preceding paragraph.  The assumption is the 
precept is for one year only so going forward has not been included in the 
estimates. 

 
40. Planning estimates anticipate growth levels to be an average of 433 band D 

equivalent properties over the period of this plan which is a growth on the tax base 
of 1.38% and lower than anticipated in the current MTFP.  This is a consequence of 
the slowdown in the market.  These figures have been used to prepare the 
estimates; clearly should this be any different income levels will differ.  The 
collection rate is anticipated to remain at 99% in 2020/21.   

  

Page 16



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

41. Taking the above into account Council Tax income over the period of this plan is 
estimated as follows :- 
 

  
2020/21 

£m 
2021/22 

£m 
2022/23 

£m 
2023/24 

£m 

          
Total Council Tax 
anticipated 52.184 53.961 55.713 57.472 

 
National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) 

 
42. The Council retains 49% of NNDR collected and can gain or lose depending on 

whether the net tax collected increases or decreases.  The Government via the 
valuation office sets rateable values and the rate paid in the pound is increased 
each year in line with the CPI.  The business tax-base is far more volatile than the 
council tax base and requires very close monitoring.  In addition to the potential to 
“lose” income due to business closures the Council also carries the risk of losing 
appeals by businesses against valuations. 

 
43. Members will recall one of the three conditions identified to help the Council tackle 

the reduction of government grant and increasing service demand was to grow the 
economy. The Council’s Economic Strategy gives priority to increasing business 
within the borough and significant effort has been put into achieving growth.  This 
has been rewarded with a positive net increase in current and projected NNDR 
collected over the MTFP.  Sites such as the Symmetry Park, Feethams House and 
the Horizon centre are all contributing to the growth.  Notwithstanding these major 
developments, attracting businesses into the Town by their very nature take time 
and upfront investment so this is an area which needs continued prioritisation pump 
prime funding so growth can continue.  It needs to be remembered that net growth 
in NNDR collected relies on growth outstripping revaluations and reductions which 
can be challenging in the current economy. 
 

44. The in-year collection rate target for NNDR is 98.0% and as at the end of October 
2019 the actual collection figure is 64.2% with five months to go and so is on track 
to achieve the target. 
 

45. Taking the above into account the projections of NNDR are shown below 
 

  
2020/21 

£m 
2021/22 

£m 
2022/23 

£m 
2023/24 

£m 

          
Business Rates retained 
locally 18.901 19.257 19.620 19.991 

 
Collection fund 
 
46. The Collection Fund account reflects the statutory requirements for the Council to 

maintain a separate Fund in relation to the operation of Council Tax and Business 
Rates Retention Scheme (BRRS). The Fund records all of the transactions for 
billing in respect of Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) and Council Tax, exemptions and 
discounts granted, provision for bad debts and appeals and payments made to the 

Page 17



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Council’s General Fund, the Police and Fire and Rescue precept authorities and 
Central Government.  There is a £0.400m pressure in 2019/20 relating to the 
Council Tax fund which has been taken into account in revenue budget 
management.  The NNDR fund is balanced.  
  

Other Grants 
 
47. Set out below are the estimated specific grants which as the title suggests are for 

specific areas of expenditure as dictated by the government and cannot be used for 
other areas.  These grants are included in service estimates at Appendix 1.   

 

  2020/21 

  £m 

    

Public Health Grant 8.236 

PFI Grant 3.200 

Troubled Families Grant 0.326 

Discretionary Housing Payments 0.200 

Youth Justice Board 0.223 

Local Reform & Community Voices 0.057 

Adult & Community Learning 1.316 

Staying Put 0.050 

Bikeability 0.029 

Heritage Access Zone 0.045 

Heritage Lottery Fund 0.047 

Skerningham & Burtree Garden Village 0.150 

    

  13.879 

    

 
  

Page 18



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Total Income 
 
48. The table below summaries the Council’s estimated income for the period of this 

plan which thanks to the increase in social care funding, continued economic 
growth and house building activity and the subsequent increases in council tax and 
NNDR, confirms a much-needed increase in income given our expenditure 
pressures.     

 

Resources - Projected and 
assumed 

2020/21 
£m 

2021/22 
£m 

2022/23 
£m 

2023/24 
£m 

          

Council Tax 52.184  53.961  55.713  57.472  

Business rates retained 
locally 

18.901  19.257  19.620  19.991  

Top Up Grant 7.329  7.475  7.625  7.777  

RSG 3.620  3.620  3.620  3.620  

New Homes Bonus 1.275  0.717  0.433  (0.000) 

Better Care Fund 3.855  3.855  3.855  3.855  

Adult Social Care Support 
Grant 

0.952  0.952  0.952  0.952  

Additional Social Care Grant 2.000  2.000  2.000  2.000  

          

Total Resources 90.116  91.837  93.818  95.667  

 
 
Projected MTFP 
 
49. Set out in the table below are the projections based on the income and expenditure 

analysis discussed in the previous sections of this report along with the required 
use of balances over the period. The projections assume additional futures funding 
is agreed and allocated as described in paragraph 60. 

 
  

  
2020/21 

£m 
2021/22 

£m 
2022/23 

£m 
2023/24 

£m 

          

Estimated Expenditure 87.869  91.763  95.241  98.076  

Add Pressures / Additional savings 1.740  1.709  1.891  3.945  

  89.609  93.472  97.132  102.021  

          

Projected Total Resources (90.116) (91.837) (93.818) (95.667) 

          

Projected budget (surplus)/deficit (0.506) 1.635  3.314  6.354  

          

Utilisation of balances 0.506  (1.635) (3.314) (6.354) 

          

Total 0.000  0.000  0.000  0.000  

Page 19



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Futures Fund 
 
50. As noted earlier in 2018/19 the Council allocated £4.7m over the life of the MTFP 

(2018/19 to 2021/22) to the futures fund.  £1.6m for the four-year ongoing funding 
for Community Safety and Maintaining an Attractive Street Scene Environment.  
The remaining £3.1m was allocated between five themes. 
 

51. To date £2.081m has been committed to the themes with a balance of £1.019m 
remaining.  A summary of commitments is noted below. 

 
Futures Fund - Theme 1 - Community Safety (£0.600m) 

 
52. £0.552m of the fund has been committed, £0.517m on staffing across the four 

years.  This is to improve resilience and robustness in the team particularly as 
community safety is a key priority for the Council. £0.035m was for the purchase of 
a mobile CCTV camera.  

 
Futures Fund - Theme 2 – Maintaining an Attractive Street Environment (£0.500m) 
 
53. £0.108m has been allocated to employ an Arboricultural team leader to help 

address the increasing workload in regard to trees.  The remaining funding has not 
been committed yet.  The core funding allocation of £0.300m per annum has made 
a significant impact on the street environment. Grass cutting returned to a 12-15 
day cycle which improved the look of the borough over the summer period and 
more frequent cleanses and litter picks have made a noticeable difference. Floral 
displays helped in achieving the Northumbria in bloom awards accolades. 

 
Futures Fund - Theme 3 – Maintaining a Vibrant Town Centre (£1m) 
 
54. The Town Centre faces a number of challenges as do many towns across the 

country due to the increase in on-line shopping and out of town retailing. £0.921m 
of the funding has been committed across a number of areas including a one of 
grant to the House of Fraser to facilitate the store remaining open following the 
financial difficulties they face and the announcement of store closures across the 
country.  The fund is also supporting the extension to the two-hour free car parking 
initiative along with the free on Sunday trial until May 2020.  We have also invested 
in a Town Centre partnership officer position and also committed to a full events 
programme to target more footfall. 

 
Futures Fund - Theme 4 – Developing an Attractive Visitor Economy (0.500m) 

 
55. Only a small amount of funds £0.080m has been committed against this theme for 

Heritage Action zone funding at present as it was to be mainly focused on the 
Experience Darlington Strategy or the 2025 200th Anniversary of the opening of the 
Stockton and Darlington Railway to pump prime investment and match fund 
initiatives on these and other culture opportunities.  
 

Futures Fund - Theme 5 – Neighbourhood Renewal (0.500m) 
 
56. One of the Council priorities is to work with communities to maximise their potential 

and enjoy a good quality of life. The funding in this theme is aimed at assisting with 
this priority and £0.420m has been allocated to various initiatives including 
£0.050m to the Darlington Credit Union to enable them to continue work in 

Page 20



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

addressing financial hardship and across households in Darlington; £0.090m for a 
skills and employability officer to understand what skills are required in the borough 
and take action to promote employment; £0.150m to run initiatives and part fund a 
programme officer for the Northgate project which is a multi-agency programme 
providing a range of interventions from support and advice to enforcement activities 
where required in order to improve outcomes for local residents; and £0.020m for 
the pilot In2 Programme which introduces children who wouldn’t usually have 
access to arts and cultural  experiences. There has also been an allocation of 
£0.016m for a holiday hunger scheme through the school holidays and £0.035m to 
support work to embed community wealth building across the Council and partners. 

 
Revenue Balances  

 
57. Taking into account the projected revenue out turn for 2019/20 detailed at 

Appendix 5, along with the assessment of required risk balances as set out in 
Appendix 6 and the utilisation of balances to fund the projected budget deficit over 
the four year period, leaves a projected general fund balance of £6.075m by 
2023/24 which is a significant improvement on the current MTFP. 
 

58. However, the unallocated balances rely on building around 433 houses per year, 
no significant overspending, assumptions of additional income in the spending 
review materialising, a Council Tax increase of 2.00% and an adult social care 
precept of 2.00% giving an overall increased to Council tax of 4.00%. We therefore 
need to be cautious particularly in light of future years estimated income, but we 
understand the need to invest into our services as much as possible to stimulate 
growth and tackle inequality. 
 

59. As balancing the MTFP requires the use of reserves it is sensible that any 
unallocated balances should be used to:- 
 

(d) To minimise on-going committed annual spending to assist and work 
towards eradicating future years funding gaps. 
 

(e) Invest into the Futures Fund to stimulate growth and invest in our 
communities over the four years of the MTFP. 

 
Use of balances 

 
60. Given the pressure on budgets and the limited funds for discretionary services it is 

recommended that £1.800m of the unallocated balances is utilised for the Futures 
Fund to replenish priority funding and support the Councils ongoing priorities for a 
further two years to 2023/24.  £0.800m for the ongoing commitments in Street 
Scene and Community Safety at £0.600m and £0.200m respectively.  £0.350m to 
bolster the one-off Community Safety theme to allow the continuation of the 
additional staffing; £0.500m to maintaining a vibrant Town Centre given the 
significant pressures all town centres are facing and the great work the current 
futures fund has enabled. And finally, £0.150m for neighbourhood renewal to 
replenish the fund which is being utilised on a key priority as noted above.  
 

61. If the additional £1.8m for the Futures Fund is agreed the revised revenue reserve 
closing balance position at the end of 2023/24 would be £4.275m as shown below 
which it is a welcomed position.  However, given the uncertainties in regard to 

Page 21



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

future funding and expenditure pressures it is recommended the balance remains 
unallocated to assist in future pressures or mitigation of the year 5 gap.  

 

Revenue Balances 
2020/21 

£m 
2021/22 

£m 
2022/23 

£m 
2023/24 

£m 

          

Opening balance 19.374  14.578  13.943  10.629  

Less Rev bud Man Qtr 2 (0.809)       

Risk Reserve (4.350)       

Futures Fund Reserve balance (1.143)    

Contribution to/(from) balances 0.506 (1.635) (3.314) (6.354) 

Contribution from Collection Fund 1.000  1.000  0.000  0.000  

          

Closing balance 14.578  13.943  10.629  4.275  

 
Consultation 
 
62.  This report will be consulted upon from publication to 31 January 2020. 
 
Conclusion 
 
63. The MTFP as agreed by Council remains deliverable but as previously 

acknowledged it is not without risk and challenges.  Some risks previously identified 
have occurred and the recommendations within this report address the associated 
financial implications.  The proposed MTFP includes the retention of the Risk 
Reserve to offset further unforeseen risks and the provision of a risk contingency to 
cover significant value risks which are already known. 
 

64. The Council still has the financial capacity to deliver a four-year balanced MTFP 
which puts it in a much stronger position than many Councils, however this is 
based on a core offer service level with limited discretionary services. To add to this 
offer, available revenue balances have been utilised to create five Future Fund 
Investments themes which are helping to stimulate growth and assist with a key 
priority of growing the economy. As balances have improved it is proposed a further 
£1.8m is used to supplement the futures fund themes.  Despite significant 
pressures faced in Children’s Services, the proactive stance taken in growing the 
economy is working and assisting in minimising on-going committed annual 
spending to assist and work towards eradicating the unfunded budget gap in 
2024/25. 
 

65. Planning beyond the current MTFP is extremely difficult given the uncertainty 
around the new Local Government financial system now planned for 2021 and 
issues such as the impact of Brexit on the country’s finances.  Given the four-year 
balanced position the proposed plan will allow members time, post the fair funding 
review to assess the impacts of the changing landscape and make its decision on 
how it will address the future financial position it faces.  Current planning suggests 
there will be a budget deficit of approximately £6.4m for the Council to address 
(assuming ongoing Futures Fund commitments are continued) however for the 
reason above, this will almost certainly change but at this stage it is not possible to 
know whether this will be a positive or negative position. 
 

Page 22



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

66. In summary, the Council continues to face significant financial challenges however 
the MTFP remains deliverable on the basis of what we know now and based on the 
following conditions – economic growth, house building, no further pressures, fair 
funding review and a fair settlement, if this changes plans will need to be adjusted. 
 

67. As the Council’s Statutory Chief Financial Officer, the Assistant Director Resources, 
must advise the Council on the robustness of the budget and adequacy of 
reserves.  The budget presented to Members in this report has been based on the 
most accurate information available known at this point in time, therefore the 
Assistant Director is confident that they are an accurate reflection of the Council’s 
financial position. General Fund Reserves are adequate however the Council is 
carrying a financial risk over the lifetime of the plan which is difficult to forecast at 
present, in particular the implications and impacts of Brexit and the uncertainty 
around the fair funding review.  It is essential that growing pressures in children’s 
services are addressed through transformation and implemented as the Council will 
be operating with minimum levels of balances to fund any future cost pressures.  
 

 
APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 
 

Detailed Estimates 

Appendix 2 
 

Budget Pressures / Savings 

Appendix 3 
 

Fees and Income Proposals 

Appendix 4  
 

Assumptions used to prepare estimates 

Appendix 5 
 

Projected Revenue Outturn 2019/20  

Appendix 6 
 

Assessment of Risk Balances 

Appendix 7 
 

Proposed MTFP 2020 to 2024 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

REVENUE ESTIMATES 2020/21 - Summary              Appendix 1

2019/20

Net Budget Gross Budget Income Grants Net Budget 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Children and Adults 57,152 111,347 (15,281) (38,347) 57,719 

Economic Growth & Neighbourhood Services 21,193 91,281 (44,704) (25,710) 20,867 

Resources 10,240 12,497 (2,268) 0 10,229 

Group Totals 88,585 215,125 (62,253) (64,057) 88,815 

Financing Costs 510 895 0 0 895 

Investment Returns - Joint Ventures (1,212) (1,028) 0 0 (1,028)

Council Wide Pressures / Savings 382 405 0 0 405 

Contingencies (2,093) 522 0 0 522 

Grand Total 86,172 215,919 (62,253) (64,057) 89,609 

Revenue Estimates 2020/21  

CHILDREN & ADULT SERVICES
2019/20

Net Budget Gross Budget Income Grants Net Budget 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Director of Adults & Children's Services 186 160 0 0 160 

Children & Adult Services

   Transformation & Performance 568 663 (68) (37) 558 

   Business Support 1,277 1,327 0 0 1,327 

Children's Services

   Children's Services Management & Other Services 523 537 0 0 537 

   Assessment Care Planning & LAC 2,938 3,487 0 0 3,487 

   First Response & Early Help 2,264 2,765 0 (289) 2,476 

   Adoption & Placements 12,394 13,883 (93) (50) 13,740 

   Youth Offending / ASB 268 598 (127) (223) 248 

   Quality Assurance & Practice Improvement 442 546 (127) 0 419 

Development & Commissioning

Commissioning 2,252 2,256 (96) 0 2,160 

Workforce Development 260 205 0 0 205 

Voluntary Sector 417 339 0 (57) 282 

Education

Education 954 21,673 (1,142) (19,475) 1,056 

Schools 0 9,432 0 (9,432) 0 

Transport Unit 1,438 2,231 0 (548) 1,683 

Public Health & Community Safety

Public Health 100 8,246 0 (8,236) 10 

Healthy New Towns 59 0 0 0 0 

Adult Social Care & Health

External Purchase of Care 24,764 34,708 (11,565) 0 23,143 

Intake & Enablement 636 2,034 (1,444) 0 590 

On-going Long Term Care - Older People 1,387 1,514 (129) 0 1,385 

On-going Long Term Care - Physical Disability 4 57 (52) 0 5 

On-going Long Term Care - Learning Disability 1,648 1,723 (36) 0 1,687 

On-going Long Term Care - Mental Health 998 1,525 (402) 0 1,123 

On-going Long Term Care - Disabled Children's 460 473 0 0 473 

Service Development & Integration 915 965 0 0 965 

Total Adults & Children's Services 57,152 111,347 (15,281) (38,347) 57,719

2020/21

2020/21

Page 25



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Revenue Estimates 2020/21

Economic Growth & Neighbourhood Services
2019/20

Net Budget Gross Budget Income Grants Net Budget 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Director of Economic Growth & Neighbourhood Services 170 167 0 0 167 

Planning, Economic Initiatives & Asset Management

AD - Economic Growth 133 127 0 0 127 

Bidra 0 0 0 0 0 

Building Control 145 296 (158) 0 138 

Development Management (68) 576 (648) 0 (73)

Economy 247 196 0 0 196 

Environmental Health 295 309 (17) 0 292 

Place Strategy 562 807 (30) (195) 582 

Property Management and Estates (580) 532 (1,135) 0 (603)

Capital Projects, Trtansport & Highways Planning

AD - Transport & Capital Projects 127 124 0 0 124 

Building Design Services 41 512 (493) 0 19 

Capital Projects 349 550 (248) 0 302 

Car Parking R&M 554 566 0 0 566 

Concessionary Fares 3,292 3,793 0 0 3,793 

Flood and Water Act 84 86 0 0 86 

Highways 2,578 3,048 (606) (29) 2,413 

Highways - DLO (450) 8,114 (8,612) 0 (498)

Investment and Funding 421 175 (184) 0 (9)

Sustainable Transport 195 318 (55) 0 263 

Community Services

AD - Community Services 127 124 0 0 124 

Allotments 11 21 (11) 0 11 

Building Cleaning - DLO 146 717 (591) 0 125 

Cemeteries and Crematorium (830) 648 (1,518) 0 (870)

Community Services - Other DLO 0 0 0 0 0 

Dolphin Centre 590 3,333 (2,785) 0 548 

Eastbourne Complex (52) 112 (128) 0 (16)

Emergency Planning 95 97 0 0 97 

Head of Steam 252 310 (61) 0 249 

Hippodrome 95 4,801 (4,765) (33) 2 

Indoor Bowling Centre 11 20 (6) 0 14 

Libraries 681 833 (42) 0 790 

Move More 2 163 (134) 0 29 

Outdoor Events 374 414 (22) 0 392 

School Meals - DLO 38 677 (618) 0 59 

Strategic Arts 125 110 0 0 110 

Street Scene 5,022 7,044 (2,046) (14) 4,984 

Transport Unit - Fleet Management (16) 54 (70) 0 (16)

Waste Management 2,827 2,936 0 0 2,936 

Winter Maintenance 421 430 (2) 0 428 

Community Safety

CCTV 218 573 (385) 0 188 

Community Safety 524 590 (17) 0 573 

General Licensing 0 151 (151) 0 0 

Parking (2,055) 196 (2,276) 0 (2,081)

Parking Enforcement 57 247 (177) 0 69 

Private Sector Housing 77 82 (10) 0 72 

Stray Dogs 44 44 (1) 0 43 

Taxi Licensing 0 198 (198) 0 0 

Trading Standards 226 230 (6) 0 224 

2020/21

Page 26



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Economic Growth & Neighbourhood Services (continued)
2019/20

Net Budget Gross Budget Income Grants Net Budget 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Building Services

Construction - DLO (397) 11,160 (11,627) 0 (467)

Maintenance - DLO (409) 3,360 (3,818) 0 (458)

Other - DLO 49 0 0 0 0 

Corporate Landlord 3,069 3,366 (207) 0 3,159 

General Support Services

Works Property & Other 107 109 0 0 109 

Joint Levies & Boards

Environment Agency Levy 109 112 0 0 112 

Outside Contributions 53 (0) 0 0 (0)

Housing

Local Taxation 468 888 (284) (144) 460 

Rent Rebates / Rent Allowances / Council Tax (132) 24,614 (132) (24,614) (132)

Housing Benefits Administration 203 902 0 (681) 221 

Customer Call Centre 279 449 (178) 0 271 

Homelessness 313 394 (97) 0 297 

Service, Strategy & Regulation and General Services 189 332 (154) 0 178 

Total Economic Growth & Neighbourhood Services 21,193 91,281 (44,704) (25,710) 20,867

Revenue Estimates 2020/21

Resources
2019/20

Net Budget Gross Budget Income Grants Net Budget 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Managing Director 196 257 (94) 0 163 

Darlington Partnership 18 121 (84) 0 37 

AD Resources

Financial Services & Governance 1,409 1,704 (297) 0 1,407 

Financial Assessments & Protection 233 301 (40) 0 261 

Communications & Engagement 921 917 (123) 0 794 

Systems 741 760 (7) 0 753 

Xentrall Services (D&S Partnership) 1,621 2,341 (648) 0 1,693 

Human Resources 586 824 (242) 0 582 

Health & Safety 134 188 (52) 0 136 

AD Law & Governance

Complaints & Freedom of Information 191 190 (4) 0 186 

Democratic Support 1,345 1,224 (24) 0 1,200 

Registrars of births, deaths and marriages (11) 225 (254) 0 (29)

Administration 706 787 (90) 0 697 

Legal & Procurement 1,177 1,694 (297) 0 1,397 

Coroners 200 215 0 0 215 

AD ICT 773 749 (12) 0 737 

Total Resources 10,240 12,497 (2,268) 0 10,229 

2020/21

2020/21

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL #

Pressures / Savings
Estimate 

20/21

Estimate 

21/22

Estimate 

22/23

Estimate 

23/24

£m £m £m £m

Savings

Morton Park car parking (0.050) (0.050) (0.050) (0.050)

Childrens Safeguarding Board reduction (0.042) (0.068) (0.073) (0.075)

Adults Packages (0.749) (0.745) (0.741) (0.682)

Adults other supplies and services and ICT (0.367) (0.365) (0.364) (0.333)

Pension savings following trienial review (1.874) (1.905) (1.984) (2.110)

TVCA - contribution saving (0.050) (0.050) (0.050) (0.050)

(3.132) (3.183) (3.262) (3.300)

Increased Demand

Concessionary Fares - potential change to apportionments 0.406 0.412 0.419 0.425 

Sustainable Transport - previous years Government funding 

available, awaiting clarity on possibility of future bids 0.073 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Street Scene - Additional refuse round anticipated as new houses 

are built 0.000 0.182 0.235 0.287 

Waste Disposal - Increase based on new homes 0.024 0.048 0.072 0.096 

Climate change officer - to sustain Green agenda 0.050 0.052 0.055 0.056 

Childrens complaints 0.030 0.030 0.030 0.030 

Childrens Placements 1.373 1.610 1.622 1.610 

Childrens - additional staffing 0.591 0.637 0.535 0.405 

Childrens - increase in legal fees 0.150 0.150 0.150 0.150 

Additional cost of Improvement Grants 0.015 0.015 0.015 0.015 

Homeless Trailblazer contract extended to March 21 0.064 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Transport - additional costs for new routes 0.120 0.123 0.126 0.129 

Resources additional staffing 0.019 (0.014) 0.034 0.033 

Legal new software requirements 0.030 0.020 0.020 0.020 

Coroners increase in service 0.011 0.012 0.013 0.014 

Adults MCA assessors 0.122 0.000 0.000 0.000 

3.078 3.277 3.326 3.270 

Current Savings shortfall

Library service 0.180 0.180 0.180 0.180 

Eastbourne complex 0.100 0.100 0.100 0.100 

Transport - Home to school 0.105 0.126 0.126 0.126 

Childrens & Adults Business Support 0.032 0.035 0.035 0.035 

0.417 0.441 0.441 0.441 

Price Inflation

Utilities/Waste Disposal etc 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.141 

Adults Domiciliary / Direct Payments 0.293 0.404 0.516 0.715 

0.293 0.404 0.516 0.856 

Reduced Income

St Teresa's RC School Meals - service to be reviewed post 20/21 0.017 0.000 0.000 0.000

Parking enforcement 0.130 0.130 0.130 0.130

0.147 0.130 0.130 0.130 

Other

Childrens staffing and expenses 0.053 0.054 0.060 0.062 

Adults Staffing  - Social Worker career grades and retention 0.158 0.233 0.311 0.311 

CT collection Fund deficit 0.400 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Financing Costs MRP 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.800 

Resources supplies and services 0.005 0.027 0.042 0.041 

Council wide auto-enrolment into pension scheme 0.321 0.326 0.327 0.333 

0.937 0.640 0.740 2.547 

Total net pressures / (Savings) 1.740 1.709 1.891 3.945 

     APPENDIX 2

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

APPENDIX 3

SCHEDULE OF CHARGES 2020/21

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

LEARNING SKILLS - LEARNING FOR LIFE

Fees Policy: August 2019 to July 2020 (Next Review July 2020)

Full Fees (including enrolment and tuition fees) per hour L 3.00 3.00 NIL

Accredited Learning

Full accreditation fee (if applicable) - if the course has a qualification there will be additional fees to pay for registration and 

certification.

No fees will be charged for publicly subsidised courses where:

2. Learners are aged 19-24 (on 31 August 2019) with a learning difficulty and/or disability as evidenced through an Education, Health and 

Care (EHC) Plan

a. They receive Job Seeker’s Allowance (JSA) - this includes those receiving National Insurance credits only, or 

4. Learners are aged 19-23 (on their first day of study) and are studying their first ‘full’ level 2 or first ‘full’ level 3, excludes English for 

speakers of Other Languages (ESOL)

1. Learners are aged 16-18 (on 31 August 2019)

3. Learners are aged 19 or older where the learning aim is up to and including level 2, and the learner is studying English or Maths

5. Learners are aged 19 or older where the learning aim is up to and including level 2 (including ESOL), the skills training will help them 

into work, and the learner is classed as unemployed and one or more of the following apply:

b. They receive Employment and Support Allowance (ESA), or

c. They receive Universal Credit and their earned income from employment (disregarding benefits) is less than £338 a month 

(learner is sole adult in their benefit claim) or £541 a month (learner has a joint benefit claim with their partner)

d. They are released on temporary licence, studying outside a prison environment, and not funded by the Ministry of Justice

6. Learners are aged 19 or older where the learning aim is up to and including level 2 (including ESOL), they are employed and eligible fr 

co-funding but earn less than £16,009.50 gross salary, based on the assumption of a 37.5 hour contract with paid statutory holiday 

entitlement.

Courses with no public subsidy

For learners aged 19 or above and where the learning aim is level 3 or above (except for exclusion above), learners will need to take out 

an Advanced Learning Loan, subject to funding availability.  Further details can be found at: www.gov.uk/advanced-learning-loans

Asylum Seekers – individuals will be assessed for eligibility in conjunction with SFA

Special Fees – some courses have special fees, cost on application

FE course – NVQ etc price on application

The following courses are free:

Family Learning, Functional Skills, Study Programmes and courses which are funded through external projects

Additional Learning Support (ALS) is intended to enable disadvantaged learners to achieve their learning goal by providing funding, on 

top of programme funds, to help them overcome their barriers to learning. The funding is intended to be flexible and to help support 

learners who have a range of learning difficulties and/or disabilities

Evidence required: A wage slip within 3 months of the learning start date, or a current employment contract which states gross monthly / 

annual wages

7. Learners aged 19-24 who are unemployed and on a Traineeship

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

Page 31

http://www.gov.uk/advanced-learning-loans
http://www.gov.uk/advanced-learning-loans
http://www.gov.uk/advanced-learning-loans


This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS, MARRIAGES AND CIVIL 

The following fees do not incur VAT

Marriages

Entering a Notice of Marriage or Civil Partnership N

For a Registrar to attend a Marriage at the Register Office N

Civil Partnership Registration N

Incumbents for every Entry Contained in Quarterly Certified N

Copies of Entries of Marriage N

Registrars fee for attending a marriage at a registered building or for the 

housebound or detained
N

Superintendents Registrar fee for attesting a notice of marriage away from his office 

for housebound or detained
N

Superintendents Registrar fee for attending the marriage of the housebound or 

detained
N

Certification for Worship and Registration for Marriages

Place of Meeting for Religious Worship N

Registration of Building for Solemnisation of Marriage N

Certificates issued from Local Offices

Standard Certificate (SR) N

Standard Certificate (RBD) (at time of Registration) N

Standard Certificate (RBD) (after Registration) N

Short Certificate of Birth (SR) N

Short Certificate of Birth (RBD) N

Certificates of Civil Partnership (at time of Ceremony) N

Certificates of Civil Partnership (at later date) N

General Search fee N

Each Verification N

Civil Partnership Ceremony N 46.00 46.00 

Certificates

Walk in Certificates N 20.00 20.00 

European Passport return service checking N 40.00 40.00 

All Ceremonies – Approved Premises

Application Fee (3 years) N 1,700.00 1,700.00 

Fee for Attendance Monday to Saturday L 533.00 533.00 

Fee for Attendance Sunday L 533.00 533.00 

Fee for Attendance Bank Holidays L 533.00 533.00 

All Ceremonies – Town Hall

Monday to Saturday L 283.00 283.00 

REGISTER OF ELECTORS, OPEN REGISTER AND MONTHLY UPDATES - SALE

The following fees do not incur VAT.

     Register – Printed Form N 10.00 10.00 

     Per 1,000 Names – Printed N 5.00 5.00 

     Register – Data Form N 20.00 20.00 

     Per 1,000 Names – Data N 1.50 1.50 

LIST OF OVERSEAS ELECTORS – SALE

The following fees do not incur VAT.

     List – Printed Form N 10.00 10.00 

     Per 1,000 Names – Printed N 5.00 5.00 

     List – Data Form N 20.00 20.00 

     Per 1,000 Names – Data N 1.50 1.50 

These charges 

set nationally 

by Statute and 

will be charged 

at the advised 

rate for 

2020/21

These charges 

set nationally 

by Statute and 

will be charged 

at the advised 

rate for 

2019/20

Page 32



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

MARKED COPY OF THE REGISTER OF ELECTORS AND MARKED ABSENT 

VOTERS LIST - SALE

The following fees do not incur VAT

     Register – Printed Form N 10.00 10.00 

     Per 1,000 Names – Printed N 2.00 2.00 

     Register – Data Form N 10.00 10.00 

     Per 1,000 Names – Data N 1.00 1.00 

TOWN HALL

Hire of Committee Rooms – all charges shown exclusive of VAT. Charges will be 

made plus the appropriate VAT rate.

All rooms are to be charged by the hour, rather than by session

Committee Rooms per hour L 31.00 31.00 

NIL

LAND CHARGES

The following fees are inclusive of VAT

Search Fees

     Standard Search -  Residential Property (post or DX) L 91.80 91.80 

     Standard Search – Residential Property (electronic) L 89.80 89.80 

     Standard Search – Commercial Property (post or DX) L 139.80 139.80 

     Standard Search – Commercial Property (electronic) L 137.80 137.80 

Con 29 Required

Residential Property

     One Parcel of Land L 76.80 76.80 

     Several Parcels of Land – Each Additional Parcel L 24.00 24.00 

Commercial Property

     One Parcel of Land L 124.80 124.80 

     Several Parcels of Land – Each Additional Parcel L 24.00 24.00 

Con 29 Optional

     Each Printed Enquiry L 6.00 6.00 

     Own Questions L 6.00 6.00 

     Official Search – LLCI L 15.00 15.00 

     Official Search – NLIS (National Land Information Service) or email L 13.00 13.00 

     Expedited Search (Residential) L 165.00 165.00 

     Expedited search (Commercial) L 225.00 225.00 

     Personal Search L No charge No charge

NIL

Page 33



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

FINANCIAL PROTECTION SERVICES

Category

I. Work up to and including the date upon which the court makes an order 

appointing a deputy for property and affairs
N 745.00 745.00 

II. Annual management fee where the court appoints a local authority deputy for 

property and affairs, payable on the anniversary of the court order:

 - for the first year N 775.00 775.00 

 - for the second and subsequent years N 650.00 650.00 

where the net assets are below £16,000, the local authority deputy for property and 

affairs will take an annual management fee not exceeding  3% of the net assets on 

the anniversary of the court order appointing the local authority as deputy 

Where the court appoints a local authority deputy for health and welfare, the local 

authority will take an annual management fee not exceeding 2.5% of the net assets 

on the anniversary of the court order appointing the local authority as deputy for 

health and welfare up to a maximum of £500. 
III. Annual property management fee to include work involved in preparing property 

for sale, instructing agents, conveyancers, etc or the ongoing maintenance of 

property including management and letting of a rental property

N 300.00 300.00 

IV. Preparation and lodgement of an annual report or account to the Public Guardian N 216.00 216.00 

V. Conveyancing Costs

Where a deputy or other person authorised by the court is selling or purchasing a 

property on behalf of P, the following fixed rates will apply except where the sale or 

purchase is by trustees in which case, the costs should be agreed with the trustees:

A value element of 0.15% of the consideration with a minimum sum of £350 and a 

maximum sum of £1,500, plus disbursements 

Travel Rates are allowed at a fixed rate per hour for travel costs N 40.00 40.00 

Please note that these rates are set by The Office of Public Guardian and are the 

rates as of 1st April 2017, these may be amended during 2020/21

Adminstration fee for arranging the care and support needs for those with capital in 

excess of the upper capital limit or those who have chosen not to disclose their 

financial information.

L 100.00 105.00 

Minimal

DEFERRED PAYMENT FEES

Administration cost for setting up a Deferred Payment Agreement L 300.00 315.00 

plus cost of valuation (this will be dependant on property type) L
Actual cost of 

valuation

Actual cost of 

valuation

Minimal

See 

Description

See 

Description
N

Page 34



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

LIBRARIES

Fines On Overdue Items

     Adults – per day L 0.15 0.15 

     Maximum charge per book L 5.10 5.10 

     Senior Citizens – per day L 0.10 0.10 

     Maximum charge per book L 3.10 3.10 

     Children – per day  L No charge No charge

Loan Charges for Audio Materials (1 week)

     CD’s L 1.00 1.00 

     DVD’s L 1.50 1.50 

Reservation Fees for books and Audio Materials

     Adults L 0.50 0.50 

     Senior Citizens L 0.25 0.25 

     Children/Unemployed L 0.25 0.25 

Reservation Fees for Books Obtained from Outside the Authority

    Single charge for all books obtained from other libraries L 6.00 6.00 

Repeat Fee for Renewal of Books from Outside the Authority

    Single Charge for all books obtained from other local authorities L 6.00 6.00 

Replacement Tickets

     Adults L 1.20 1.20 

     Senior Citizens L 1.20 1.20 

     Children/Unemployed L 0.60 0.60 

Spoken Word

     Cassettes & CDs (3 Week Loan) L

     Adults (who are not exempt) each L 1.50 1.50 

     Children each L No charge No charge

     

Language Courses (per element) 

Subscription for whole course to be paid in  advance L 1.35 1.35 

Local History Research

     Standard charge L 5.00 5.00 

     Specialist Research – per hour L 30.00 30.00 

Photocopies

     A4 B&W L 0.15 0.15 

     A3 B&W L 0.30 0.30 

Printing

     Text Printouts

          A4 B&W L 0.15 0.15 

          A3 B&W L 0.30 0.30 

     Image Printouts

          A4 B&W L 0.80 0.80 

          A4 colour L 1.60 1.60 

Reproduction of Images from Stock

     Digital copies for Private/Study purposes – per photo L 5.50 5.50 

     Digital copies for small local commercial use –  per photo L
5.50 + 2 copies 

of publications

5.50 + 2 copies 

of publications

     Digital copies for local commercial use - per  photo L
10.50 +  2 

copies of book

10.50 +  2 

copies of book

     Digital copies for national/international commercial L 110.00 110.00 

Page 35



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

Scan and e-mail Service

     First sheet L 1.00 1.00 

     Each subsequent sheet L 0.50 0.50 

Hire of Locker L 0.50 0.50 

Internet Use

Library members First 30 minutes FREE , Members & Non Members £1.00 per 30 

minutes hereafter  
L 1.00 1.00 

Lost & Damaged Items L

Full current 

Replacement 

Cost (non-

refundable)

Full current 

Replacement 

Cost (non-

refundable)

Fax

     Outgoing Transmission

          United Kingdom – per sheet L 1.45 1.45 

          Europe – per sheet L 2.30 2.30 

          USA/Canada – per sheet L 2.80 2.80 

          Rest of the World – per sheet L 3.80 3.80 

     Incoming Transmission – per sheet L 0.45 0.45 

Fax by Satellite

     Atlantic Ocean/Indian Ocean/Pacific Ocean – per sheet L 12.50 12.50 

Room Hire

    Not for profit organisations per hour L 10.00 10.00 

    Commercial organisations per hour L 15.00 15.00 

NIL

PLANNING FEES

Planning fees are set nationally

PLANNING – PRE APPLICATION ADVICE

All charges include VAT at 20%

Large Major Development (200+) for a written response, including up to 2 meetings L 1,200.00 1,200.00 

Small Major Development (10-199) for a written response, including up to 2 

meetings
L 600.00 600.00 

Minor Development for a written response to include a meeting if necessary L 400.00 400.00 

Other Developments

Minerals Processing L
Based on 

areas above

Based on 

areas above

Change of use for a written response to include a meeting if necessary L 50.00 50.00 

Householder developments L 36.00 36.00 

Advertisements L 25.00 25.00 

Listed Building consents (to alter/extend/demolish) L Free Free

Conservation area consents L Free Free

Certificates of lawful development L

Application 

advice not 

appropriate

Application 

advice not 

appropriate

Telecommunications Notifications L 126.00 126.00 

Other Charges

Pre-Application meeting involving Planning Committee Members L 1,000.00 1,000.00 

Page 36



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

PLANNING – SUPPLEMENTARY ITEMS

Items inclusive of VAT at 20%

     A4 Photocopy (ex plans) – first page L 1.10 1.10 

     Subsequent pages L 0.10 0.10 

     A3 Photocopy (ex plans) – first page L 1.20 1.20 

     Subsequent pages L 0.20 0.20 

     A2 Photocopy (ex plans) – first page  L 1.50 1.50 

     A1 Photocopy (ex plans) L 2.00 2.00 

     A0 Photocopy (ex plans) L 3.00 3.00 

Items outside the scope of VAT

     Local plan L 18.00 18.00 

     Local plan – postage L 4.00 4.00 

     Local plan – alterations L 2.00 2.00 

     Invoicing L 9.00 9.00 

NIL

LICENSING The following fees do not incur VAT

Prosecution Costs

     Hourly rate for Preparation of Case Reports L 46.00 47.00 

General Licensing

     Pavement Café Licence, per person

          1-10 L 200.00 200.00 

          11-25 L 240.00 240.00 

          26-40 L 280.00 280.00 

          41-60 L 320.00 320.00 

          61-80 L 360.00 360.00 

          81-99 L 400.00 400.00 

          100 or over L 450.00 450.00 

          Duplicate licence fee L 50.00 50.00 

          Transfer of licence L 50.00 50.00 

          Change of detail L 30.00 30.00 

          Variation of Covers L 100.00 100.00 

     Pavement Display Licence L 155.00 155.00 

     Sex Shop Grant of application L 1,200.00 1,200.00 

     Sex Shop Renewal L 1,200.00 1,200.00 

     Sex Shop transfer L 1,200.00 1,200.00 

     Sexual Entertainment Venue (SEV) Grant L 1,200.00 1,200.00 

     SEV Variation L 1,200.00 1,200.00 

     SEV Renewal L 1,200.00 1,200.00 

     SEV Grant / Variation / Renewal – Club Premises Certificates L 750.00 750.00 

     Skin Piercing (Premises) Grant L 280.00 280.00 

     Skin Piercing (Personal) Grant/Variation L 65.00 65.00 

Scrap Metal Dealers

     Collectors Licence (3 years) - application L 150.00 150.00 

     Collectors Licence (3 years) – renewal L 150.00 150.00 

     Major Variation L 50.00 50.00 

     Minor Variation L 15.00 15.00 

     Site Licence (3 years) Grant L 350.00 350.00 

     Additional Sites (per site per year of licence) L 195.00 195.00 

     Site licence (3 years) – renewal L 270.00 270.00 

     Additional sites (per site per year of licence) L 195.00 195.00 

     Minor Variation Site L 15.00 15.00      

     Major Variation Site L

50.00 + 65.00 

per additional 

site per year

50.00 + 65.00 

per additional 

site per year

Page 37



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

Caravan Sites

New Application for a permanent residential site licence; L

     1-5 pitches L 200.00 200.00 

     6-20 pitches L 225.00 225.00 

     21-50 pitches L 240.00 240.00 

     Greater than 50 pitches L 260.00 260.00 

Annual Fees associated with administration and monitoring of site licences;

     1-5 pitches L No charge No charge

     6-50 pitches L 220.00 220.00 

     Greater than 50 pitches L 260.00 260.00 

Cost of Laying Site Rules L 25.00 25.00 

Cost of Variation/Transfer L 100.00 100.00 

Zoo Licensing Act

New Application (4 years) or renewal (6 years) for a Zoo Licence (excluding the 

inspection costs of appointed inspector)
L 450.00 450.00 

Animal Welfare

Breeding of Dogs - Grant of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 245.00 245.00 

     2 Year Licence L 290.00 290.00 

     3 Year Licence L 335.00 335.00 

Breeding of Dogs - Renewal of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 215.00 215.00 

     2 Year Licence L 260.00 260.00 

     3 Year Licence L 305.00 305.00 

Pet Vending Commercial - Grant of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 252.00 252.00 

     2 Year Licence L 297.00 297.00 

     3 Year Licence L 342.00 342.00 

Pet Vending Commercial - Renewal of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 222.00 222.00 

     2 Year Licence L 267.00 267.00 

     3 Year Licence L 312.00 312.00 

Pet Vending Home - Grant of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 245.00 245.00 

     2 Year Licence L 290.00 290.00 

     3 Year Licence L 335.00 335.00 

Pet Vending Home - Renewal of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 215.00 215.00 

     2 Year Licence L 260.00 260.00 

     3 Year Licence L 305.00 305.00 

Keeping or Training Animals for Exhibition - Grant of Licence

     3 Year Licence L 235.00 235.00 

Keeping or Training Animals for Exhibition - Renewal of Licence

     3 Year Licence L 215.00 215.00 

Hiring Out of Horses - Grant of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 265.00 265.00 

     2 Year Licence L 310.00 310.00 

     3 Year Licence L 355.00 355.00 

Hiring Out of Horses - Renewal of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 235.00 235.00 

     2 Year Licence L 280.00 280.00 

     3 Year Licence L 325.00 325.00 

Boarding of Dogs and Cats Commercial - Grant of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 305.00 305.00 

     2 Year Licence L 350.00 350.00 

     3 Year Licence L 395.00 395.00 

Boarding of Dogs and Cats Commercial - Renewal of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 275.00 275.00 

     2 Year Licence L 320.00 320.00 

     3 Year Licence L 365.00 365.00 

Boarding of Dogs and Cats Home - Grant of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 245.00 245.00 

     2 Year Licence L 290.00 290.00 

     3 Year Licence L 335.00 335.00 

Page 38



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

Boarding of Dogs and Cats Home - Renewal of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 215.00 215.00 

     2 Year Licence L 260.00 260.00 

     3 Year Licence L 305.00 305.00 

Boarding of Dogs Day Care Up to 7 Dogs - Grant of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 245.00 245.00 

     2 Year Licence L 290.00 290.00 

     3 Year Licence L 335.00 335.00 

Boarding of Dogs Day Care Up to 7 Dogs - Renewal of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 215.00 215.00 

     2 Year Licence L 260.00 260.00 

     3 Year Licence L 305.00 305.00 

Boarding of Dogs Day Care 8+ Dogs - Grant of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 305.00 305.00 

     2 Year Licence L 350.00 350.00 

     3 Year Licence L 395.00 395.00 

Boarding of Dogs Day Care 8+ Dogs - Renewal of Licence

     1 Year Licence L 275.00 275.00 

     2 Year Licence L 320.00 320.00 

     3 Year Licence L 365.00 365.00 

Dog Boarding Franchise in Darlington - Grant of Licence L

130.00 + 10.00 

per host + 

65.00 per host 

inspection fee 

+ 45.00 annual 

enforcement 

fee per year

130.00 + 10.00 

per host + 

65.00 per host 

inspection fee 

+ 45.00 annual 

enforcement 

fee per year

Dog Boarding Franchise in Darlington - Renewal of Licence L

100.00 + 10.00 

per host + 

60.00 per host 

inspection fee 

+ 45.00 annual 

enforcement 

fee per year

100.00 + 10.00 

per host + 

60.00 per host 

inspection fee 

+ 45.00 annual 

enforcement 

fee per year

Dog Boarding Franchise out of Darlington - Grant of Licence L
60.00 + 65.00 

per host

60.00 + 65.00 

per host

Dog Boarding Franchise out of Darlington - Renewal of Licence L
55.00 + 60.00 

per host

55.00 + 60.00 

per host

Additional Fees

     Cost per additional licensable activity - Grant and Renewal (each) L 65.00 65.00 

     Mandatory mid licence inspection fee - Grant and Renewal (each) L 30.00 30.00 

     Variation of licence where no inspection is required (each) L 35.00 35.00 

     Variation of licence where inspection is required (each) L 90.00 90.00 

     Application for Re-Rating (each) L 70.00 70.00 

     Copy Licence L 15.00 15.00 

     Administration Fee L 35.00 35.00 

Page 39



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

Street Trading

November / December  - Full Calendar Month L 975.00 975.00 

                                       - Week L 385.00 385.00 

                                       - Day L 85.00 85.00 

January / October  - Full Calendar Month L 660.00 660.00 

                               - Week L 270.00 270.00 

                               - Day L 60.00 60.00 

Note- The above to apply to Itinerant traders. For regular all year round traders - 

fees as follows

     Annual Consent L 7,000.00 7,000.00 

     If Paying Monthly L 620.00 620.00 

     If Paying Weekly L 170.00 170.00 

Buskers selling CD’s – Half Day L 25.00 25.00 

Full Day L 45.00 45.00 

Mobile vehicles (moving or lay-by) L 260.00 260.00 

New Vendor Permits L 35.00 35.00 

Duplicate licenses L 15.00 15.00 

Skip Hire Licence

     More than 3 days’ notice L 15.00 15.00 

     Less than 3 days’ notice L 30.00 30.00 

Hoarding/Scaffold Licence L 50.00 50.00 

Administration Charge (per hour or part thereof) L 35.00 35.00 

Statutory Fees

Petroleum Licences

     Less than 2,500 litres L 41.00 41.00 

     2,500 – 50,000 litres L 57.00 57.00 

     More than 50,000 litres L 118.00 118.00 

     Transfer/variation L 8.00 8.00 

Gambling Act

Statutory Fees- The following gambling fees are set within statutory bands and 

will be revised as changed nationally.

Adult Gaming Centres – Annual Fee N 600.00 600.00 

     New Application N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Variation N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Transfer N 1,200.00 1,200.00 

     Provisional Statement N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Licence Reinstatement N 1,200.00 1,200.00 

Betting Shops - Annual Fee N 550.00 550.00 

     New Application N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Variation N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Transfer N 1,200.00 1,200.00 

     Provisional Statement N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Licence Reinstatement N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

Bingo Halls - Annual Fee N 600.00 600.00 

     New Application N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Variation N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Transfer N 1,200.00 1,200.00 

     Provisional Statement N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Licence Reinstatement N 1,200.00 1,200.00 

Family Entertainment Centres – Annual Fee N 550.00 550.00 

     New Application N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Variation N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Transfer N 950.00 950.00 

     Provisional Statement N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Licence Reinstatement N 950.00 950.00 

Betting (tracks) – Annual Fee N 550.00 550.00 

     New Application N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Variation N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Transfer N 950.00 950.00 

     Provisional Statement N 1,300.00 1,300.00 

     Licence Reinstatement N 950.00 950.00 

Page 40



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

Permit Type – The following fees are set by statute and will be revised as changed 

nationally

     Small Society Lottery Registration N 40.00 40.00 

     Small Society Annual Fee N 20.00 20.00 

     FEC gaming machine – Renewal fee N 300.00 300.00 

     FEC gaming machine – Change of name N 25.00 25.00 

     Prize gaming – Application fee N 300.00 300.00 

     Prize gaming – Renewal fee N 300.00 300.00 

     Prize gaming – Change of name N 25.00 25.00 

     Prize gaming – Copy permit N 15.00 15.00 

     Gaming machines (3 or more) - application Fee N 100.00 100.00 

     Gaming machines (3 or more) - variation Fee N 100.00 100.00 

     Gaming machines (3 or more) - transfer Fee N 25.00 25.00 

     Gaming machines (3 or more) - annual Fee N 50.00 50.00 

     Change of name N 25.00 25.00 

     Copy Permit N 15.00 15.00 

     Notice of intent 2 or less gaming machines available N 50.00 50.00 

     Club Premises cert (S 72f Licencing Act 2003)  application fee N 100.00 100.00 

     Club Premises cert (S 72f Licencing Act 2003)  renewal fee N 100.00 100.00 

     Other applicants - application fee N 200.00 200.00 

     Other applicants - renewal fee N 200.00 200.00 

     Variation fee N 100.00 100.00 

     Annual fee N 50.00 50.00 

     Copy permit N 15.00 15.00 

     Initial fee N 40.00 40.00 

     Annual fee N 20.00 20.00 

     Temporary use notice N 500.00 500.00 

     Copy/replacement/endorsed copy of notice N 25.00 25.00 

Licensing Act Fees

Statutory Fees- The following gambling fees are set within statutory bands and 

will be revised as changed nationally.

Premises Licences

     Band A (RV £0 - £4,300)  - Initial fee N 100.00 100.00 

                                              - Annual fee N 70.00 70.00 

     Band B (RV £4,301 - £33,000)  - Initial fee N 190.00 190.00 

                                                       - Annual fee N 180.00 180.00 

     Band C (RV £33,001 - £87,000)  - Initial fee N 315.00 315.00 

                                                          - Annual fee N 295.00 295.00 

     Band D (RV £87,001 - £125,000) - Initial fee N 450.00 450.00 

                                                           - Annual fee N 320.00 320.00 

     Band E (RV > £125,001)  - Initial fee N 635.00 635.00 

                                              - Annual fee N 350.00 350.00 

     Band D with Multiplier - Initial fee N 900.00 900.00 

                                        - Annual fee N 640.00 640.00 

     Band E with Multiplier - Initial fee N 1,905.00 1,905.00 

                                        - Annual fee N 1,050.00 1,050.00 

Club Premises Certificates

     Band A (RV £0 - £4,300)  - Initial fee N 100.00 100.00 

                                              - Annual fee N 70.00 70.00 

     Band B (RV £4,301 - £33,000)  - Initial fee N 190.00 190.00 

                                                       - Annual fee N 180.00 180.00 

     Band C (RV £33,001 - £87,000)  - Initial fee N 315.00 315.00 

                                                         - Annual fee N 295.00 295.00 

     Band D (RV £87,001 - £125,000) - Initial fee N 450.00 450.00 

                                                           - Annual fee N 320.00 320.00 

     Band E (RV > £125,001)  - Initial fee N 635.00 635.00 

                                              - Annual fee N 350.00 350.00 

Page 41



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

Large Scale Events

     5,000 to 9,999  - Initial fee N 1,000.00 1,000.00 

                              - Annual fee N 500.00 500.00 

     10,000 to 14,999  - Initial fee N 2,000.00 2,000.00 

                                  - Annual fee N 1,000.00 1,000.00 

     15,000 to 19,999  - Initial fee N 4,000.00 4,000.00 

                                  - Annual fee N 2,000.00 2,000.00 

     20,000 to 29,999  - Initial fee N 8,000.00 8,000.00 

                                  - Annual fee N 4,000.00 4,000.00 

     30,000 to 39,999  - Initial fee N 16,000.00 16,000.00 

                                  - Annual fee N 8,000.00 8,000.00 

     40,000 to 49,999  - Initial fee N 24,000.00 24,000.00 

                                  - Annual fee N 12,000.00 12,000.00 

     50,000 to 59,999  - Initial fee N 32,000.00 32,000.00 

                                 - Annual fee N 16,000.00 16,000.00 

     60,000 to 69,999  - Initial fee N 40,000.00 40,000.00 

                                   - Annual fee N 20,000.00 20,000.00 

     70,000 to 79,999  - Initial fee N 48,000.00 48,000.00 

                                  - Annual fee N 24,000.00 24,000.00 

     80,000 to 89,999 - Initial fee N 56,000.00 56,000.00 

                                  - Annual fee N 28,000.00 28,000.00 

     > 90,000  -  Initial fee N 64,000.00 64,000.00 

                     - Annual fee N 32,000.00 32,000.00 

Other Licensing Act 2003 Fees & Charges

     Minor Variations N 89.00 89.00 

     Personal Licence N 37.00 37.00 

     Provisional Statement N 315.00 315.00 

     Temporary Event Notice (TEN) N 21.00 21.00 

     Theft / Loss of Licence / Notice N 10.50 10.50 

     Variation of DPS N 23.00 23.00 

     Transfer of Premises Licence N 23.00 23.00 

     Change of Name / Address N 10.50 10.50 

     Notification of Interest N 21.00 21.00 

     Notification of Alteration of Club Rules N 10.50 10.50 

     Interim Authority Notice N 23.00 23.00 

     Explosives Act/Fireworks Annual Registration N 52.00 52.00 

NIL

Page 42



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

HACKNEY CARRIAGES 

Taxi Licencing

Taxi licensing fees are agreed annually by licensing committee normally in March 

and will be published separately as part of this process. Existing licence holders will 

be notified accordingly.

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH

Pest Treatment Charges – All charges shown exclusive of VAT. Charges will be 

made plus the appropriate VAT rate

  Insects – per Treatment L 58.50 58.50 

  Rodents in Private Premises L 8.33 8.33 

Re-rating Food Hygiene Inspections L 150.00 150.00 

Prosecution Costs

Hourly Rate for preparation of case reports and carrying out works in default of legal 

notices
L 46.00 47.00 

Environmental Searches

Environmental search 1 or 2 report includes environmental information held by the 

Council on a site
L 65.00 65.00 

(additional charges apply for sites larger than 10,000m2 and distance buffer greater 

than 250m radius)

Additional photocopying for example copies of site investigation reports;

  A4 B&W L 0.10 0.10 

  A3 B&W L 0.20 0.20 

  A4 Colour L 1.00 1.00 

  A3 Colour L 2.00 2.00 

  Scanned Copy L Free Free

LAPPC and LAIPPC Permits

Charges are annually set by Defra in March and are subject to change. Current 

charges as known are;

LAPPC Charges

Application Fee;

  Standard process (includes solvent emission activities) N 1,650.00 1,650.00 

  Additional fee for operating without a permit N 1,188.00 1,188.00 

  PVRI, SWOBs and Dry Cleaners N 155.00 155.00 

  PVR I & II combined N 257.00 257.00 

  VRs and other Reduced Fee Activities N 362.00 362.00 

  Reduced fee activities: additional fee for operating N 71.00 71.00 

  without a permit

  Mobile plant** N 1,650.00 1,650.00 

  for the third to seventh applications N 985.00 985.00 

  for the eighth and subsequent applications N 498.00 498.00 

Where an application for any of the above is for a combined Part B and waste 

application add an extra to the above amounts
N 310.00 310.00 

Annual Subsistence Charge;

  Standard process Low* N
772.00  

(+104.00)

772.00  

(+104.00)

Page 43



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

  Standard process Medium* N
1,161.00 

(+156.00)

1,161.00 

(+156.00)

  Standard process High* N
1,747.00 

(+207.00)

1,747.00 

(+207.00)

*the additional amounts must be charged where a permit is for a combined Part B 

and waste installation

  PVRI, SWOBs and Dry Cleaners Low N 79.00 79.00 

  PVRI, SWOBs and Dry Cleaners Medium N 158.00 158.00 

  PVRI, SWOBs and Dry Cleaners High N 237.00 237.00 

  PVR I & II combined Low N 113.00 113.00 

  PVR I & II combined Medium N 226.00 226.00 

  PVR I & II combined High N 341.00 341.00 

  VRs and other Reduced Fees Low N 228.00 228.00 

  VRs and other Reduced Fees Medium N 365.00 365.00 

  VRs and other Reduced Fees High N 548.00 548.00 

  Mobile plant, for the first and second permits Low** N 626.00 626.00 

  for the third to seventh permits Low N 385.00 385.00 

  eighth and subsequent permits Low N 198.00 198.00 

  Mobile plant, for the first and second permits Medium** N 1,034.00 1,034.00 

  for the third to seventh permits Medium N 617.00 617.00 

  eighth and subsequent permits Medium N 316.00 316.00 

  Mobile plant, for the first and second permits High** N 1,551.00 1,551.00 

  for the third to seventh permits High N 924.00 924.00 

  eighth and subsequent permits High N 473.00 473.00 

  Late payment fee N 52.00 52.00 

Where a Part B installation is subject to reporting under the E-PRTR Regulation add 

an extra to the above amounts
N 104.00 104.00 

Transfer and Surrender;

  Standard process transfer N 169.00 169.00 

  Standard process partial transfer N 497.00 497.00 

  New operator at low risk reduced fee activity N 78.00 78.00 

  Surrender: all Part b activities N 0.00 0.00 

  Reduced fee activities: transfer N 0.00 0.00 

  Reduced fee activities: partial transfer N 47.00 47.00 

Temporary transfer for mobiles;

  First transfer N 53.00 53.00 

  Repeat following enforcement or warning N 53.00 53.00 

Substantial change;

  Standard process N 1,050.00 1,050.00 

  Standard process where the substantial change results in a new PPC activity N 1,650.00 1,650.00 

  Reduced fee activities N 102.00 102.00 

**Not using simplified permits

LAPPC mobile plant charges (not using simplified permits)

Number of permits 1 to 2;

  Application fee N 1,650.00 1,650.00 

  Subsistence fee Low N 646.00 646.00 

  Subsistence fee Medium N 1,034.00 1,034.00 

  Subsistence fee High N 1,506.00 1,506.00 

Number of permits 3 to 7;

  Application fee N 985.00 985.00 

  Subsistence fee Low N 385.00 385.00 

  Subsistence fee Medium N 617.00 617.00 

  Subsistence fee High N 924.00 924.00 

Number of permits 8 and over;

  Application fee N 498.00 498.00 

  Subsistence fee Low N 198.00 198.00 

  Subsistence fee Medium N 316.00 316.00 

  Subsistence fee High N 473.00 473.00 

Page 44



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

LA-IPPC charges

Every subsistence charge below includes the additional £104 charge to cover LA 

extra costs in dealing with reporting under the E-PRTR Regulation

  Application N 3,363.00 3,363.00 

  Additional fee for operating without a permit N 1,188.00 1,188.00 

  Annual Subsistence Low N 1,447.00 1,447.00 

  Annual Subsistence Medium N 1,611.00 1,611.00 

  Annual Subsistence High N 2,334.00 2,334.00 

  Late Payment Fee N 52.00 52.00 

  Variation N 1,368.00 1,368.00 

  Transfer N 235.00 235.00 

  Partial Transfer N 698.00 698.00 

  Surrender N 698.00 698.00 

Subsistence charges can be paid in four equal quarterly instalments paid on 1st 

April, 1st July, 1st October and 1st January. Where paid quarterly the total amount 

payable to the local authority will be increased by £38.00

Newspaper adverts may be required under EPR at the discretion of the LA as part of 

the consultation process when considering an application. This will be undertaken 

and paid for by the LA and the charging scheme contains a provision for the LA to 

recoup its costs

Minimal

TRADING STANDARDS

Please note that VAT may be added to some charges. Check with the service before 

the work is agreed.

Prosecution Costs

     Hourly rate for Preparation of Case Reports L 46.00 47.00 

Measures

     Linear measures not exceeding 3m each scale L 14.00 14.50 

     Not exceeding 15kg L 39.00 40.00 

     Exceeding 15kg but not exceeding 100kg L 59.50 60.50 

     Exceeding 100kg but not exceeding 250kg L 82.00 83.50 

     Exceeding 250kg but not exceeding 1 tonne L 142.50 145.50 

     Exceeding 1 tonne but not exceeding 10 tonnes L 228.50 233.00 

     Exceeding 10 tonnes but not exceeding 30 tonnes L 479.00 488.50 

     Exceeding 30 tonnes but not exceeding 60 tonnes L 712.00 726.00 

     Charge to cover any additional costs involved in testing incorporating remote 

display or printing facilities based on the above fee plus a charge per hour 

(minimum charge of 2 hours)

L 62.52 per hour 63.77 per hour

Measuring Instruments for Intoxicating Liquor

     Not exceeding 150ml L 22.50 23.00 

     Other L 26.00 26.50 

Page 45



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

Measuring Instruments for Liquid Fuels and Lubricants

Container Type (un-subdivided)

     Multi-grade (with price computing device): L 98.50 100.50 

     Single Outlets L 135.50 138.00 

     Solely Price Adjustment L 247.50 252.50 

     Otherwise

Other Types – Single Outlets

     Solely Price Adjustment L 108.50 110.50 

     Otherwise L 147.50 150.50 

Other Types – Multi Outlets:

     1 Meter Tested L 158.00 161.00 

     2 Meters Tested L 259.00 264.00 

     3 Meters Tested L 353.50 360.50 

     4 Meters Tested L 450.50 459.50 

     5 Meters Tested L 545.00 556.00 

     6 Meters Tested L 639.50 652.50 

     7 Meters Tested L 722.50 737.00 

     8 Meters Tested L 835.50 852.00 

Charge to cover any additional costs involved in testing ancillary equipment such as 

payment acceptors based on the above fee plus a charge per hour (minimum of 2 

hours)

L 62.52 per hour 63.77 per hour

Special Weighing and Measuring Equipment

For all specialist work undertaken by the service which is not included above a 

charge per hour on site (minimum charge of 2 hours) plus cost of provision of testing 

equipment applies

L 62.52 per hour 63.77 per hour

Discounts

Fees from Measures to Certification Calibration will be discounted as follows :-
a)   Where more than a single item is submitted on one occasion the second and 

subsequent fees will be reduced by 20%
b)   Where tests are undertaken using appropriately certified weights and equipment 

not supplied by the Borough Council the fees will be reduced by 20%
c)   Special rates can be negotiated for multiple submissions or where assistance 

with equipment or labour is provided
NB – Where different fees are involved the highest fee will be charged in full and 

any discounts calculated from the remaining lesser fees

Licensing – VAT not applicable

Explosives and Fireworks Licences (Statutory Fee)

     Licence for the storage of explosives N **See Note **See Note

     Licence for the sale of fireworks all year round N **See Note **See Note

**These are statutory rates that are set centrally in April

Minimal

Page 46



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

PARKING – all off-street charges are inclusive of VAT at 20%

The below pricing reflects the parking offers approved by Cabinet in October

2019 and apply until 1 May 2020 when they will be reviewed and as

such charges may be subject to change

Car Parks (Short Stay) – per hour

Abbotts Yard L 1.00 1.00 

Commercial Street East & West L 1.00 1.00 

Feethams Multi Storey Car Park L 1.00 1.00 

Winston Street North & South L 1.00 1.00 

Car Parks – Mixed Charges

Archer Street, Garden Street, Kendrew Street East & West, Hird Street, St Hilda’s & 

Park Place East & West

     First 2 hours L Free Free

     3 hours L 1.00 1.00 

     Per day L 4.00 4.00 

     Per week L 16.00 16.00 

East Street

     Per hour L 1.00 1.00 

     Per day L 2.00 2.00 

Car Parks – Long Stay

Chestnut Street

     Cars first 2 hours L Free Free

     Cars 3 hours L 1.00 1.00 

     Cars per day L 2.00 2.00 

     Cars per week L 8.00 8.00 

     HGV/coach per day L Free Free

     HGV/coach per night (6pm-8am) L 4.00 4.00 

Park Lane

     Per day L 5.00 5.00 

Central House

     Saturday all day L 4.00 4.00 

     Bank Holiday all day L 4.00 4.00 

All Car Parks

     Sunday all day L Free Free

On Street Parking (up to 2 hours no return within 1 hour EXCEPT for Grange 

Road & Northumberland Street up to 3 hours no return within 1 hour and East 

Row 30 minutes maximum no return within 1 hour)
   Per 30 mins L 0.50 0.50 

   Sunday all day L Free Free

Page 47



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

Car Parks – Contract Parking – all charges are inclusive of VAT at 20%

Parking locations as determined by the Director of Economic Growth and 

Neighbourhood Services.

     Per year one space L 950.00 950.00 

     Per year two spaces L 900.00 900.00 

     Per year three spaces L 860.00 860.00 

     Per year four spaces L 830.00 830.00 

     Per year five to nine spaces L 800.00 800.00 

     Per year ten or more spaces L 700.00 700.00 

Four Riggs

     Per calendar month L 64.00 64.00 

Winston Street West

     Per space per year L 1,100.00 1,100.00 

Car Parks – Staff & Members per year L 173.04 173.04 

Residents Parking Permits

     3 month temporary permit L 12.00 12.00 

     6 month permit L 24.00 24.00 

     12 month permit L 40.00 40.00 

Tradesmen Parking Permits

     Daily Waiver L 5.00 5.00 

     3 month permit L 50.00 50.00 

     6 month permit L 90.00 90.00 

     12 month permit L 150.00 150.00 

NIL

BUILDING CONTROL

Items inclusive of VAT at 20%

     Letter confirming exemption L Free Free

     Letter confirming enforcement action will not be taken L Free Free

Decision/Approval Notice (Building Control)

     Responding to request for historical information from electronic databases (email 

response)
L Free Free

     Responding to request for historical information from electronic databases (letter 

response)
L 1.00 1.00 

     Responding to request for historical information from manually recorded data 

(email response)
L Free Free

     Personal searches (email response) L Free Free

The Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 Plus VAT at 20%

Work charged on individual job basis L
As agreed with 

client

As agreed with 

client

NIL

Page 48



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

DOLPHIN CENTRE

Pricing based on the introduction of a leisure card.

Swimming

    Adult swim

           Card holder L 3.75 3.85 

           Non card holder L 4.30 4.45 

     Concession L 2.85 2.95 

     Junior Swim L 2.55 2.65 

     Concession L 1.90 2.00 

     Family swim junior rate discount 

     (up to 4 children accompanying 1 adult)

            Per card holder L 1.90 2.00 

            Per non card holder L 2.20 2.30 

     Under 5 years L 1.10 1.20 

     Under 12 months L Free Free

     Lessons L 46.50 47.50 

Fitness Areas

     The Gym

          Card holder L 4.55 4.65 

          Non card holder L 5.25 5.35 

     Concession L 3.40 3.50 

     Junior Gym L 3.70 3.80 

     Concession L 2.80 2.90 

Health & Fitness Classes

     Health & Fitness Classes

          Card holder L 3.95 4.05 

          Non card holder L 4.55 4.65 

     Concession L 2.95 3.05 

Multi Activity Sessions

     Badminton Daytime Session

           Card holder L 2.60 2.80 

           Non card holder L 3.00 3.20 

Half Main Hall

     Adult

           Card holder L 43.50 43.50 

           Non card holder L 50.00 50.00 

     Junior (1 hour courts only) L 30.00 30.00 

     Weekday lunchtime

           Card holder L 38.00 38.00 

           Non card holder L 42.00 42.00 

    

Badminton

     Adult

           Card holder L 7.90 8.10 

           Non card holder L 9.10 9.30 

     Concession L 5.95 6.10 

     Junior (1 hour courts only) L 4.25 4.45 

     Concession (1 hour courts only) L 3.20 3.35 

Squash Courts

     Adult

           Card holder L 6.90 6.90 

           Non card holder L 7.95 7.95 

     Concession L 5.20 5.20 

     Junior (up to 5pm on weekdays only) L 3.55 3.55 

     Concession (up to 5pm on weekdays only) L 2.65 2.65 

Page 49



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

Equipment Hire

     Footballs L  Free  Free 

     Footballs – Deposit (FOC for card holders) L 5.00 5.00 

     Badminton L 2.00 2.00 

     Badminton – Deposit (FOC for card holders) L 5.00 5.00 

     Squash Racquets L 2.00 2.00 

     Squash Racquets – Deposit (FOC for card holders) L 5.00 5.00 

     Table Tennis Bats L 1.40 1.40 

     Table Tennis Bats – Deposit (FOC for card holders) L 5.00 5.00 

     Pram Lock L Free Free

     Pram Lock – Deposit (FOC for card holders) L 5.00 5.00 

Children's Activities

     Crèche L 3.40 3.55 

     Soft play admissions L 3.70 3.85 

     Sensory Room L 3.70 3.85 

     Parent/toddler (Soft play) L 3.70 3.85 

Other Activities

     Showers 

           Card holders     L 1.85 1.95 

           Non card holders L 2.10 2.25 

Fit 4 Life Packages

     12 month Full Membership L 299.40 299.40 

     12 month Seniors L 228.00 228.00 

     12 month Student L 180.00 180.00 

     6 Month Full L 195.00 195.00 

     12 Month Upfront L 275.00 275.00 

Swimming Pools

     Main Pool - per hour L 89.00 92.00 

     Diving Pool - per hour L 50.00 52.00 

     Teaching Pool - per hour L 50.00 52.00 

Gala - per hour

     Swimming Galas - whole complex

     Normal opening hours - per hour L 284.00 293.00 

     Outside normal opening hours - per hour L 150.00 155.00 

Swimming Galas - Schools, Junior Clubs and Organisations

     Main Pool - Peak L 200.00 206.00 

     Main Pool - Off Peak L 139.00 145.00 

     Main Pool and Teaching Pool - Peak L 167.00 172.00 

     Main Pool and Teaching Pool - Off Peak L 172.00 177.00 

     Electronic Timing L 83.00 86.00 

Dry Sports Hall

     Main Sports Hall - per hour L 94.00 97.00 

     Special Events - per hour Weekends L 309.00 318.00 

     Preparation - per hour Weekends L 161.00 166.00 

     Special Events - Schools - per hour off peak L 44.00 44.50 

     Meeting Room L 32.00 33.00 

     Seminar Room/Stephenson Suite L 32.00 33.00 

Central Hall

     All Events (except commercial, exhibitions and local societies) L 98.00 101.00 

     Exhibitions - commercial - per hour L 128.00 132.00 

     Local Societies event - per hour L 67.00 69.00 

20,000 

PARKS

     Bowls Season Ticket L 37.00 38.00 

     Concession L 28.00 29.00 

     Football - Hire of Hundens Park Pitch Seniors'  Match L 36.00 37.00 

     Juniors Match L 20.00 21.00 

Minimal

Page 50



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

EASTBOURNE SPORTS COMPLEX

3G Pitch

Non Charter Standard Pay and Play (No VAT)

     3G 1/3 per hour – Adult L 46.00 46.00 

     3G 1/3 per hour – Junior L 29.00 29.00 

     3G Full pitch per hour – Adult L 77.00 77.00 

     3G Full pitch per hour – Junior L 50.00 50.00 

Charter Standard and Partner Clubs (No VAT)

     3G 1/3 hour L 36.00 36.00 

     3G Full pitch hour L 52.00 52.00 

Partner Club Rate Fridays 3G Full pitch hour L 31.00 31.00 

Off Peak Summer Prices (May to August) Charter Standard and Partner Clubs Only

     3G 1/3 hour L 15.50 15.50 

     3G Full pitch hour L 26.00 26.00 

Grass Pitch

      Adult per match L 37.00 37.00 

      Junior per match L 19.00 19.00 

Athletics Track

Non club rate

     Adult L 3.60 3.70 

     Junior L 3.20 3.30 

     Full track per hour L 32.00 33.00 

Club rate

     Adult L 3.00 3.10 

     Junior L 3.00 3.10 

Gym

     Adult L 4.20 4.30 

     Cardiac Concession L 2.20 2.30 

     Junior L 2.00 2.10 

     Adult induction L 10.50 10.80 

     Junior Induction L 8.00 8.20 

     Personal training per hour L 20.00 20.60 

     3 months membership L 60.00 60.00 

     12 month full upfront membership L 150.00 150.00 

     12 month direct debit membership per month L 15.00 15.00 

Other

     Shower L 1.80 1.90 

     Function room and pavilion hire per hour L 20.00 20.60 

Minimal

Page 51



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

HIPPODROME & HULLABALOO

Hire & Conferencing (all pricing exclusive of VAT)

     John Wade Group Lounge - max capacity 40 (theatre style) - per hour L 40.00 44.00 

     John Wade Group Lounge - max capacity 40 (theatre style) - day hire** L 240.00 265.00 

     Living Water Tower Room - max capacity 18 - per hour L 30.00 33.00 

     Living Water Tower Room - max capacity 18 - day hire** L 200.00 220.50 

     Hippo Lounge - max capacity 70 - per hour L 40.00 44.00 

     Hippo Lounge - max capacity 70 - day hire** L 240.00 265.00 

     Hippo Education Space - max capacity 40 (workshop of approx. 25) - per hour L 40.00 44.00 

     Hippo Education Space - max capacity 40 (workshop of approx. 25) - day hire** L 240.00 265.00 

     Hullabaloo Rehearsal Space - max capacity 35 - per hour L 40.00 44.00 

     Hullabaloo Rehearsal Space - max capacity 35 - day hire** L 240.00 265.00 

     Hullabaloo Café - max capacity 70 - per hour L 40.00 44.00 

     Hullabaloo Café - max capacity 70 - day hire** L 240.00 265.00 

     Hippodrome Theatre Hire - max capacity 1,000 - w/end full day L 1,500.00 1,654.00 

     Hippodrome Theatre Hire - max capacity 1,000 - w/end half day L 750.00 827.00 

     Hippodrome Theatre Hire - max capacity 1,000 - w/day full day L 1,250.00 1,378.00 

     Hippodrome Theatre Hire - max capacity 1,000 - w/day half day L 650.00 717.00 

     Hullabaloo Theatre Hire - max capacity 150 - per hour L 60.00 66.00 

     Hullabaloo Theatre Hire - max capacity 150 - day hire** L 360.00 397.00 

**day hire - 9am to 6pm

4,000 

CATTLE MARKET

     Tolls

      Cattle L 13.30 13.30 

      Sheep, pigs, calves L 4.35 4.35 

     Levies

      Cattle L 10.64 10.64 

      Sheep, pigs, calves L 3.48 3.48 

     Rent L 4,000.00 4,000.00 

NIL

Page 52



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

HEAD OF STEAM

Admission

   Adult L 4.95 4.95 

   Concession L 3.75 3.75 

   Children (6-16 years old) L 3.00 3.00 

   Children (under 6) L  No charge  No charge 

   Single annual pass L 10.00 10.00 

   Family day pass (2 adults &  4 children) L 10.00 10.00 

   Family annual pass (2 adults & 4 children) L 15.00 15.00 

   School Visit L  No charge  No charge 

Research

Research L

 £30.00 (min 1 

hour & max 3 

hours) 

 £30.00 (min 1 

hour & max 3 

hours) 

Research by Curator L

 £30.00 (min 1 

hour & max 3 

hours)  

 £30.00 (min 1 

hour & max 3 

hours)  

Short research (up to 10 mins) L

Free except for 

£5.00 minimum 

handling fee 

for scans, 

photocopies 

and postage 

Free except for 

£5.00 minimum 

handling fee 

for scans, 

photocopies 

and postage 

Photocopying

   A4 (B&W) L 0.20 0.20 

   A3 (B&W) L 0.40 0.40 

   A4 (B&W) L 0.50 0.50 

   A3 (Colour) L 1.00 1.00 

   A0 plan copies (B&W) L 6.50 6.50 

Digital Copies (personal) per image

    Scan of document (max A3) L

Free except for 

£5.00 minimum 

handling fee 

for scans

Free except for 

£5.00 minimum 

handling fee 

for scans

    Scan of photograph (max A3) L 6.50 6.50 

    Day photo pass L 10.00 10.00 

Page 53



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

Digital Copies (commercial) per image

    Small local charitable, educational including websites L 6.50 6.50 

    Local commercial including websites L 15.00 15.00 

    Books, specialist magazines, journals & newspapers including websites L 30.00 30.00 

    Regional TV/Video/Film/DVD L 50.00 50.00 

    National/international TV/Video/Film/DVD L 100.00 100.00 

    Discount for 10 images or more L 0.10 0.10 

Postage and Packing

    Up to A4 (in UK only) L

Free except for 

5.00 minimum 

handling fee

Free except for 

5.00 minimum 

handling fee

   ‘Package’ size and/or outside UK delivery L
Dependant on 

size and weight

Dependant on 

size and weight

Filming Fees

     Student Production (during opening hours) L

 Free but 

donation 

welcome 

 Free but 

donation 

welcome 

      Small Productions (per day) L 350.00 350.00 

      Large Productions (per day) L 700.00 700.00 

Conference Facilities 

     During opening hours (per hour) L 25.00 25.00 

     Outside opening hours (per hour) L 32.50 32.50 

     Use by Museum partners (during opening hours) L Free Free

Hire of Museum Field 

     Educational Use L  No charge  No charge 

     Corporate Events L

Negotiated on 

an individual 

basis

Negotiated on 

an individual 

basis

NIL

REFUSE COLLECTION AND DISPOSAL

     Refuse sacks (per 25)  (Exclusive of VAT) L 99.35 102.35 

     Bulky Household Collection up to 6 items L 17.70 18.25 

     Garden waste sacks (Non-Vatable) L 10.60 10.90 

     

Cost of replacement (inclusive of 20% VAT)

     360L Wheeled Bin L 50.30 51.80 

     240L Wheeled Bin L 19.80 20.40 

     Caddie L 5.10 5.25 

     Glass Box L 3.25 3.35 

     55L Box L 1.60 1.65 

     Lid for recycling box L 1.35 1.40 

     Lid for 240 bin L 4.95 5.10 

2,500 

Page 54



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

CEMETERIES

Burial fees without exclusive right of burial (these fees will be tripled where the 

deceased is a non-resident of Darlington at time of death)

Individual foetal remains N   No Charge    No Charge   

Stillborn or child not exceeding 12 months N   No Charge   No Charge  

Person over 12 months up to 18 years N   No Charge   No Charge  

Person over 18 years L 825.00 900.00   

Burial fees with exclusive right of burial (these fees will be doubled where the 

deceased is a non-resident of Darlington at time of death)

Individual foetal remains N   No Charge    No Charge    

Child not exceeding 12 months N   No Charge    No Charge    

Person over 12 months up to 18 years N  No Charge  No Charge   

Person over 18 years L 825.00 900.00   

Cremated remains L 200.00 200.00   
Exclusive rights of burial (these fees will be doubled if the purchaser is a non-

resident of Darlington if not purchased at time of first interment).

Exclusive burial rights (50 years) L 900.00 900.00   

Exclusive burial rights for a bricked grave L 1,800.00 1,800.00   

Other charges

Scattering of cremated remains L 45.00 45.00 

Indemnity form (to produce duplicate grant L 45.00 45.00 

Use of Cemetery Chapel L 100.00 100.00 

After post mortem remains L 200.00 200.00 

Evergreens (including grass mats) L 65.00 65.00 

Exhumation of a body (excl. re-interment) L 2,000.00 2,000.00 

Exhumation of cremated remains (excl. re-interment) L 500.00 500.00 

Grave Maintenance (inclusive of 20% VAT)

Initial payment L 50.00 50.00 

Annual Maintenance L 36.00 36.00 

Memorials (fees will be doubled where the deceased to whom the 

memorial/inscription refers was non-resident of Darlington at time of death)

Memorial rights including first inscription (30 years) L 220.00 220.00 

Provision of kerbs – traditional sites only) L 100.00 100.00 

Vases not exceeding 300mm L 80.00 80.00 

Additional inscription L 80.00 80.00 

Total financial effect for Cemeteries 9,000 

Page 55



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

CREMATORIUM

Crematorium fees (inclusive of certificate of cremation, use of organ and scattering 

of remains in Gardens of Remembrance at an unreserved time)

Individual foetal remains N   No charge    No charge  

Hospital arrangement – foetal remains L 200.00 200.00 

Stillborn or child not exceeding 12 months N   No charge    No charge  

Person over 12 months up to 18 years N No charge No charge

Person over 18 years L 800.00 825.00 

After post mortem remains L 200.00 200.00 

Other charges

Medical Referee Fee N 20.00 20.00 

Environmental Surcharge (set by CAMEO) N 55.00 55.00 

Postal Carton L 20.00 20.00 

Metal Urn L 40.00 40.00 

Wooden Casket L 50.00 50.00 

Baby Urn L 10.00 10.00 

Crematorium Chapel L 100.00 100.00 

Scattering of remains at reserved time L 45.00 45.00 

Book of Remembrance (inclusive of 20% VAT)

Single Entry (2 lines) L 70.00 70.00 

Double Entry (3 or 4 lines) L 110.00 110.00 

Additional lines L 25.00 25.00 

Crest or floral emblem L 115.00 115.00 

Memorial Cards (inclusive of  20% VAT)

Single entry card (2 lines) L 25.00 25.00 

Double entry card (3 or 4 lines) L 30.00 30.00 

Additional lines L 5.00 5.00 

Crest of floral emblem L 70.00 70.00 

Personal photographs – set up L 50.00 50.00 

Additional photographs – after set up L 10.00 10.00 

Memorial Books (inclusive of 20% VAT)

Single entry book (2 lines) L 80.00 80.00 

Double entry card (3 or 4 lines) L 85.00 85.00 

Additional lines L 5.00 5.00 

Crest of floral emblem L 70.00 70.00 

Personal photographs – set up L 50.00 50.00 

Additional photographs – after set up L 10.00 10.00 

Triptych (inclusive of 20% VAT)

Single entry card (2 lines) L 67.00 67.00 

Double entry (3 or 4 lines L 72.00 72.00 

Additional lines L 5.00 5.00 

Crest or floral emblem L 70.00 70.00 

Personal Photographs – set up L 50.00 50.00 

Additional Photographs – after set up L 10.00 10.00 

Other Memorial Schemes

Replacement kerb vase plaque L 300.00 300.00 

Replacement flower holder L 5.00 5.00 

Wall plaques L 245.00 245.00 

Planter plaques L 365.00 365.00 

Lease of space for memorial plaques (per annum) L 25.00 25.00 

Total financial effect for Crematorium 40,000 

Page 56



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

ALLOTMENTS

Rent per year L 170.00 175.00   

Minimal

SOUTH PARK RESOURCE CENTRE

Educational Events (£/child for a full day) L 4.10 4.20 

Educational Events (£/child for half day) L 2.60 2.70 

Minimal

HIGHWAYS

       Private apparatus in the Highway (Section 50 Licence, new installations) L 350.00 550.00 

       Private Road Openings (repair existing) L 125.00 225.00 

       Vehicle Crossings – estimate fee (taken as part of payment if go ahead with the 

works)
L 25.00 25.00 

       Vehicle Crossings (plus actual construction costs) L 100.00 100.00 

       Vehicle Crossings if planning permission required on a classified road (plus 

actual construction costs)
L 150.00 150.00 

       Temporary Road Closure Notices L 130.00 130.00 

       Temporary Road Closure Orders (plus advertising) L 275.00 275.00 

       Emergency Road Closures L 125.00 130.00 

       Street Naming Royal Mail Income (per address, Nationally agreed price LGIH) L 1.00 1.00 

       Street Naming & Numbering of Properties:

                         - Per road name (developer suggests) L 165.00 165.00 

                         - Per road name (council names) L 200.00 200.00 

                         - Per plot L 15.00 15.00 

       Street Naming & Numbering of Properties:

                         - Per plot or renaming of a property L 35.00 35.00 

       Rechargeable Works                       L
Actual cost + 

10%

Actual cost + 

10%

       Temporary Traffic Light Applications L No Charge No Charge

       Section 50 Licence associated bond costs L

Individually 

priced based 

on 

requirements

Individually 

priced based 

on 

requirements

       Access protection markings     L No charge No charge

       Tourist Sign (plus actual cost of sign) L £75.00 + VAT £75.00 + VAT

       Accident Data Requests L £75.00 + VAT £75.00 + VAT

       Traffic Count Data L 75.00 75.00 

       Street Lighting Design Service L

Individually 

priced based 

on charge out 

rate

Individually 

priced based 

on charge out 

rate

       Oversailing Licence L No charge No charge

       Banner Licence L No charge No charge

       Placing Goods on the Highway L 155.00 155.00 

       Deposits upon the Highway L No charge No charge

       Temporary Development Signs – Admin Fee L 200.00 200.00 

       Temporary Development Signs – DBC undertake work on behalf of developer L Actual costs Actual costs

       Switch off / on traffic signal / pelican crossings – per visit L 150.00 150.00 

       Unauthorised marks or affixing of signs to street furniture L No charge No charge

Page 57



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

       Section 278 Highway works agreement N

6% of works + 

legal if 

delivered by 

developer

6% of works + 

legal if 

delivered by 

developer

       Section 116 Stopping Up of the Highway N Actual Costs Actual Costs

       Section 38 Road Adoption agreement N

6% of works + 

legal if 

delivered by 

developer

6% of works + 

legal if 

delivered by 

developer

       NRSWA Defect Charges N

Nationally set 

scale of 

charges

Nationally set 

scale of 

charges

       NRSWA Road Opening Inspection Charges (sample) N

Nationally set 

scale of 

charges

Nationally set 

scale of 

charges

       Section 74 – charges for overstays N

Nationally set 

scale of 

charges

Nationally set 

scale of 

charges

Minimal

PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY

Public Path Orders (HA 80 S 118 and 119, TCPA 90 s247, 257)

Actual cost based on charge out rate plus advertising and legal costs

PROW Temporary Closures – as Highways fees and charges

Landowner Rights of Way Statement and Declaration s31.6

One parcel of land, includes 2 notices L 250.00 250.00 

Additional parcel L 50.00 50.00 

Additional notice L 50.00 50.00 

Authorisation for installing a new gate or stile (HA 80 s147) L 100.00 100.00 

Path Orders under Deregulation Act

Actual cost based on charge out rate plus advertising and legal costs, to include but 

not restricted to pre-application advice, processing the application, resolving 

objections, making the order, confirmation of the order, and any subsequent Public 

Inquiry or Hearing

NIL

SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT

Charges for Concessionary Travel (ENCTS);

     Replacement pass for lost/stolen without a CRN L 10.00 10.00 

Learn to Ride per session (child) L 3.00 3.00 

Production, placement and retrieval of notices when bus stops are temporarily per 

bus stop
L 60.00 60.00 

Production and placement of bus timetable information when bus services have to 

be re-registered due to road closures – up to 6 timetables
L 84.00 84.00 

NIL

TRANSPORT SERVICES

Charges for Taxi Licensing;

     Taxi Vehicle Test L 50.00 50.00 

     Taxi Vehicle Test and MOT L 60.00 60.00 

     Failure to attend (less than 48 hours’ notice) L 50.00 50.00 

     Re-test L 25.00 25.00 

     Re-test including emissions L 35.00 35.00 

     Re-test emissions only L 10.00 10.00 

Charges for General Public;

     MOT for Motorbike Class I & II L 25.00 25.00 

     MOT for Standard Car Class IV L 35.00 35.00 

     MOT for Class V Vehicles L 40.00 40.00 

     MOT for Class VII Vehicles L 40.00 40.00 

NIL

Page 58



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING

Works in default & statutory activities per hour L 46.00 47.00 

Housing inspections & consultancy per hour (inclusive of VAT) L 55.00 56.00 

Charge for the service relevant Housing Act 2004 legal notice L 413.00 421.00 

Securing empty homes (addition of VAT by agreement) L 275.00 280.00 

Houses in Multiple Occupation Activities;

HMO licence fee per letting/let/tenancy L 183.00 187.00 

Other relevant HMO activities per hour L 46.00 47.00 

Housing Immigration Inspections;

Within 10 working days (including VAT) L 138.00 141.00 

Fast Track within 5 working days (including VAT) L 184.00 188.00 

General Enforcement Activities:

Hourly rate for preparation of case reports/prosecutions L 46.00 47.00 

Additional copies of legal notices via post L 10.00 10.00 

Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarms (England) Regulation 2015;

Fines for failing to provide a working smoke or carbon monoxide alarm. Offence by 

the same individual or organisation;

     First N 500.00 500.00 

     Second N 1,000.00 1,000.00 

     Third N 2,000.00 2,000.00 

     Fourth N 3,000.00 3,000.00 

     Fifth or more N 5,000.00 5,000.00 

The Redress Schemes for Letting Agency Work and Property Management Work 

(England) Order 2014;

Fines for failing to join an approved letting and management redress scheme;

Businesses that have been served with a notice of intent and failed to join an 

approved scheme
N 5,000.00 5,000.00 

Businesses that have joined an approved scheme following the service of the notice 

of intent
N 4,000.00 4,000.00 

Businesses that have joined an approved scheme prior to enforcement action being 

taken, after the 1st October 2014
N 3,000.00 3,000.00 

Page 59



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Description Type**
Existing 

Charge
New Charge

Financial 

Effect

£ £ £

**KEY for basis of fee and charges setting, L - Locally Agreed, N - Nationally Agreed

Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 

Penalty (less than 3 months in breach) renting a non-compliant property N

Up to 2,000.00 

and/or 

publication 

penalty

Up to 2,000.00 

and/or 

publication 

penalty

Penalty (3 months or more in breach) renting out a non-compliant property N

Up to 4,000.00 

and/or 

publication 

penalty

Up to 4,000.00 

and/or 

publication 

penalty

Providing false or misleading information on the PRS Exemptions Register N

Up to 1,000.00 

and/or 

publication 

penalty

Up to 1,000.00 

and/or 

publication 

penalty

Failing to comply with a compliance notice N

Up to 2,000.00 

and/or 

publication 

penalty

Up to 2,000.00 

and/or 

publication 

penalty

Housing and Planning Act 2016

Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (under section 30 of the Housing Act 

2004)
N

Civil penalties 

of up to 30,000 

per offence as 

an alternative 

to prosecution

Civil penalties 

of up to 30,000 

per offence as 

an alternative 

to prosecution

Failure to comply with a Prohibition Order (under section 32 of the Housing Act 

2004) 

Breach of a banning order made under section 21 of the Housing and Planning Act 

2016 (due to be enacted in November 2017); 

Using violence to secure entry to a property (under section 6 of the Criminal Law Act 

1977) 

Illegal eviction or harassment of the occupiers of a property (under section 1 of the 

Protection from Eviction Act 1977)

Minimal

COST OF REVENUE COLLECTION

Council Tax – All Charges do not incur VAT

     Issue of Summons for Liability Order L 36.00 33.50 

     Issue of Liability Order L 44.00 44.00 

     Issue of Summons for Committal Hearing L 90.00 90.00 

     Issue of Statutory Demand L 157.50 157.50 

Minimal

Business Rates (NNDR) – All Charges do not incur VAT

     Issue of Summons for Liability Order L 36.00 33.50 

     Issue of Liability Order L 44.00 44.00 

     Issue of Summons for Committal Hearing L 90.00 90.00 

     Issue of Statutory Demand L 157.50 157.50 

Minimal

Page 60



 

 

  
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 4 
 
KEY ASSUMPTIONS USED IN PROJECTED 
RESOURCES, EXPENDITURE AND INCOME 2020-24 
  

Factor 
 

Assumption 

Resources 

Council Tax base Variable depending on projected additional properties. 

Council Tax 4.0% increase in 2020/21 year (including a 2% precept for 
Adult Social Care) and then a 2.0% increase in 2021/22, 
2022/23 & 2023/24. 

Council Tax collection 99% collected 

Government Grants Government grants for 2020/21 as indicated in 2019 spending 
review and indicative figures for 2021/22 – 2023/24. 

 Increase in Business Rates Scheme Top Up Grant of 2% in 
2020/21 to 2023/24 (projected CPI). 

 Revenue Support Grant 2020/21 increased by CPI and then 
flat lined to 2023/24. 

 Continuation of Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) at 2019/20 
rates.   

 Continuation of 2019/20 Social Care Support Grant + a new 
Social Care Support Grant = £2.952m in total and assumed to 
continue to 2023/24. 

 New Homes Bonus (NHB) legacy payments will continue but 
no new ones assumed after 2020/21, any funding beyond this 
subject to 2020 Spending Review so assumed to discontinue in 
2023/24.  

Expenditure 

Pay inflation 2020-21 2% and thereafter 2% in line with national scheme. 

Price inflation Only contractual inflation on running costs 

Local Government 
Pension Scheme 

Contribution rate of 18.4% for 2020/21 – 2023/24 plus past 
service deficit contributions of £0.263m in 2020/21, £0.271m in 
2021/22, £0.280m in 2022/23 & £0.288m in 2023/24 

Financing Costs 

Interest rates payable Average rate on existing debt 2020/21 of 2.95%; 2021/22 of 
2.94%; 2022/23 of 3.02% & 2023/24 of 3.09%. 

Interest rates payable on 
new debt – 10 year rate 

2020/21 of 2.00%; 2021/22 of 2.33%; 2022/23 of 2.50% & 
2023/24 of 2.65%. 

Interest rates receivable  1.00% in 2020/21 & 2021/22; 1.50% in 2022/23 & 2023/24. 

Income 

Inflationary increases Various based on individual service considerations 
 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix  5This document was classified as: OFFICIAL #

Projected General Fund Reserve at 31st March 2020

2019-23
     MTFP 

(Feb 2019)

Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) :- £000

MTFP Planned Opening Balance 01/04/2019 18,179

Approved net contribution from balances (1,457)

Planned Closing Balance 31/03/2020 16,722

Increase in opening balance from 2018-19 results 168

Projected corporate underspends / (overspends) :-

Adult Social Care & Health based savings 511

Council Wide 258

Financing Costs 140

Joint Venture - Investment Return (173)

Release of Demand and Complexity Risk Contingency 188

17,814

 

Planned Balance at 31st March 2020 16,722

Improvement 1,092

Departmental projected year-end balances

£000

Children & Adults Services (1,303)

Economic Growth & Neighbourhood Services (82)

Resources 168 

TOTAL (1,217)

Summary Comparison with :- 

£000

Corporate Resources - increase in opening balance from 18/19 results 168

Corporate Resources - additional in-year Improvement/(Decline) 413

Quarter 1 budget claw back 511

Departmental - Improvement / (Decline) (1,217)

Improvement / (Decline) compared with MTFP (125)

Projected General Fund Reserve at 31st March 2020 16,597

2019-23 

MTFP

REVENUE BUDGET MANAGEMENT 2019/20

Projected General Fund Reserve (excluding Departmental) at 31st 

March 2020

Improvement / (decline) compared 

with 2019-23 MTFP

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 6

RISK RESERVE

Likelihood Annual Period

%
Risk     

£m
(Years)

Reduced Revenue Income – Leisure, 

Parking, Planning, Property 

£12m @ £0.120m per 1% -

assess risk of further 5%
0.600 25% 0.150 2 0.300

Failure of significant service provider 

contractors

£36m pa corporately – assess 

risk of 10% cost increase
3.600 10% 0.360 2 0.720

Energy Costs Significant 

Increases
Higher Annual Revenue Costs 0.200 20% 0.040 2 0.080

General Price Inflation Higher Annual Revenue Costs £40m – assess risk of 3% 1.200 20% 0.240 2 0.480

Slow down in housing growth
Not achieving house growth as 

anticipated

100 Band D equivalents @ 

£0.03m
0.300 20% 0.060 2 0.120

Adverse Changes in Interest 

Rates
Higher Financing costs

Net Debt £120m @ 1% = 

£1.2m
1.200 10% 0.120 1 0.120

Brexit
Increased demand and reduced 

income

£80m net revenue budget 

@1%
0.800 25% 0.200 2 0.400

Pandemic or Similar Event
Increased employee absence requiring 

cover at extra cost

£0.5M per 1% of employee 

costs
0.500 10% 0.050 1 0.050

Average £0.200m per Case – 

5 cases 
1.000 30% 0.300 4 1.200

Average £0.040m per case – 

10 cases
0.400 30% 0.120 4 0.480

Social Care Increasing Demand Higher annual Revenue Costs 0.500 20% 0.100 2 0.200

Capital Overspends
Fund from Revenue (no Capital 

Resources available)

One-off £5M funded over 10 

years
0.500 10% 0.050 2 0.100

G
E

N
E

R
A

L

Corporate Manslaughter Unlimited Fine Assess risk of £10M fine 10.000 1% 0.100 1 0.100

4.350TOTAL GENERAL FUND RESERVE REQUIREMENT

E
C

O
N

O
M

IC

Economic Downturn

S
E

R
V

IC
E

S New Children’s Care Packages Higher Costs 

Reserve 

Required   

£m

Risk Consequence Scale

Financial 

Loss           

£m

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 7This document was classified as: OFFICIAL #

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£m £m £m £m

Children and Adults Services 57.719 60.074 62.021 63.250 

Economic Growth & Neighbourhood Services 20.867 22.173 22.969 23.671 

Resources 10.229 10.412 10.707 10.882 

Financing costs 0.895 1.096 1.419 3.196 

Investment Returns - Joint Ventures (1.028) (0.812) (0.517) (0.494)

Council Wide Pressures 0.405 0.004 0.008 0.004 

Counicl Wide Contingencies 0.522 0.525 0.525 1.512 

Contribution to/(from) revenue balances 0.506 (1.635) (3.314) (6.354)

Total Net Expenditure 90.115 91.837 93.818 95.667 

Resources - Projected and assumed

Council Tax 52.184 53.961 55.713 57.472 

Business rates retained locally 18.901 19.257 19.620 19.991 

Top Up 7.329 7.475 7.625 7.777 

Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 3.620 3.620 3.620 3.620 

New Homes Bonus (NHB) 1.275 0.717 0.433 (0.000)

Better Care Fund (BCF) 3.855 3.855 3.855 3.855 

Adult Social Care Support Grant 2.000 2.000 2.000 2.000 

Additional Social Care Funding 0.952 0.952 0.952 0.952 

Total Resources 90.115 91.837 93.818 95.667 

Balances

Opening balance 18.565 14.578 13.943 10.629 

Risk Reserve (4.350) 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Futures Fund Reserve (1.143)

Contibution from Collection Fund 1.000 1.000 0.000 0.000 

Contribution to/(from) balances 0.506 (1.635) (3.314) (6.354)

Closing balance 14.578 13.943 10.629 4.275 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL TERM 2020 TO 2024

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CABINET 
7 JANUARY 2020 

 

 

 

 
DARLINGTON CAPITAL STRATEGY 

 

 
Responsible Cabinet Member – Heather Scott,  
Leader of the Council and all Cabinet Members 

 
Responsible Director – Chief Officers Executive  

 

 
SUMMARY REPORT 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. This report sets out the Council’s proposed Capital Strategy for 2020/21 which 

incorporates the capital programme priorities for approval.  
 

Summary 
 
2. The revised Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 2017 requires 

every Council to publish a Capital Strategy and review on an annual basis.  The 
Council published its first strategy in 2019/20 and attached in Appendix 1 is the 
2020/21 update.  The Strategy is an evolving document which will grow over time, 
this year the Capital Programme at Appendix 2 has been added for approval.  
 

3. The Strategy provides an overview of how capital expenditure and financing plans 
are decided upon and provides the framework for the development, management 
and monitoring of the council capital investment plans.  It focuses on core principles 
that underpin the Council’s four-year capital programme and the governance 
framework which is in place.   

 

4. The Strategy also highlights the resource streams available in terms of funding to 
the Council and the risk management approach taken.  

 

5. The Strategy maintains a strong and current link to the Council’s priorities and to its 
key strategy documents such as the Treasury Management Strategy, Medium 
Term Financial Plan and the Corporate Plan. 

 
6. The Capital programme at Appendix 2 sets out the current agreed programme and 

proposes priorities for investment along with the funding streams which are 
summarised in Annex A 

 
Recommendation 
 
7. It is recommended that Cabinet approve for consultation:- 

 
(a) The Capital Strategy for 2020/21 – 2023/24 at Appendix 1 

Page 69

Agenda Item 7(b)



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(b) The Capital Programme Appendix 2 with priorities summarised in Annex A.   
 

 
Reasons 
 
8. The recommendation is supported by the following reasons:- 

 
(a) To ensure the Council adopts the Prudential Code for Capital Finance 2017. 
(b) To enable the Council to invest in its assets. 
(c) The Strategy is approved by Council. 
 

Paul Wildsmith 
Managing Director 

 
 
Background Papers 
No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
Elizabeth Davison: extension 5830 

 

S17 Crime and Disorder This report has no implications for crime and disorder 

Health and Well Being This report has no implications for the Council’s 
Health and wellbeing Programme 

Carbon Impact and Climate 
Change  

The proposals in the report seek to continue to 
support the Council’s responsibilities and ambitions to 
reduce carbon impact in the Council and the Borough. 

Diversity There are no specific implications on the Council’s 
diversity agenda. 

Wards Affected All wards 

Groups Affected All groups 

Budget and Policy 
Framework  

This report does not affect the budget or policy 
framework. 

Key Decision This is a key decision because following consultation 
agreement to the recommendations will result in the 
Local Authority incurring expenditure which is 
significant.   

Urgent Decision This is not an urgent decision for Cabinet, as the 
approval of Council in February 2020 will be required 

One Darlington: Perfectly 
Placed 

There are no issues adversely affecting the 
Community Strategy 

Efficiency Having a clear view on Capital investments and 
financing plans ensures value for money and 
subsequent efficiencies.  

Impact on Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers 

This report has no impact on Looked After Children or 
Care Leavers 

 

 
 

Page 70



APPENDIX 1  

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

DARLINGTON BOROUGH 

COUNCIL 

CAPITAL STRATEGY 

2020/21  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 71



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Darlington Borough Council 

Capital Strategy 

 

Introduction 

1. The Capital Strategy has been developed in line with the CIPFA Prudential Code 

for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 2017.  The Capital Strategy is intended to 

give a high level overview of how capital expenditure and financing plans are 

decided upon and provides the  framework for the development, management 

and monitoring of the Council’s capital investment plans. 

  

2. The Strategy aligns with the priorities in the Corporate Plan and focuses on core 

principles that underpin the Council’s approach to capital investments; the 

governance framework required to ensure the capital programme is delivered and 

provides value for money for the residents of Darlington. 

 

3. The Strategy incorporates the Capital Programme at Appendix 2 and is 

integrated with the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), Asset Management 

Plan and Treasury Management Strategy and will be reviewed as such on an 

annual basis. 

 

The Key objective of Darlington’s Capital Strategy 

4. The Capital Programme is the Council’s plan of capital works for future years and 

includes details on the funding of schemes.  The programme includes projects 

such as the purchase of land and buildings, construction of new buildings or 

roads, and the enhancement of existing assets.  The capital strategy defines and 

outlines the approach to capital investments and is fundamental to the Council’s 

financial planning process. The key objective of the capital strategy is to deliver a 

capital programme that; 

 

(a) Ensures capital expenditure and investment decisions are used to support 

the delivery of the services according to the priorities within the corporate 

plan and supporting strategies.  

(b) Is affordable, financially prudent and sustainable  

(c) The most cost effective use is made of existing assets and new capital 

investment. 

(d) Provides Value for Money 

(e) Encourages Invest to Save initiatives to make efficiencies within the 

Council’s revenue budget. 

(f) Ensures the appraisal and prioritisation process for new schemes is robust 

and captures risks and mitigating factors. 

Page 72



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The Council’s Corporate Objectives and Priorities 

5. Capital expenditure should support the Council’s continuing commitment to the 

goals and ambitions set our within the Corporate Plan, which articulates the 

Council’s determination to work with our partners to capitalise on our assets, to 

grow and share wealth, which in turn will assist in narrowing the inequalities gap.  

All capital expenditure proposals should be considered alongside the following 

three conditions which the council is committed to in order to achieve the vision; 

 

(a) Growing the Economy to create conditions for business existing and new 

to succeed and grow creating more jobs and wealth in the borough and a 

vibrant economy. 

(b) Building Strong Communities to help our communities work together and 

maximise their potential by investing in the social infrastructure of 

Darlington. 

(c) Spending Every Pound Wisely, investing in creative and innovative 

solutions to make sure we provide value for money. 

 

6. Meeting these conditions will allow the Council to achieve the following desired 

outcomes; 

 

(a) More people healthy and independent 

(b) A safe and caring community 

(c) More businesses and more jobs 

(d) Enough support for people when needed 

(e) Children with the best start in life 

(f) More people active and involved 

(g) More people caring for our environment; and  

(h) A place designed to thrive. 

 

Governance Arrangements 

7. The Capital Programme is the Council’s plan of capital works for future years, 

including details on the funding of the schemes. 

 

8. The programme is determined by the need to incur capital expenditure, capital 

resources available; and the revenue implications flowing from the capital 

expenditure.   

 

9. The Council’s Constitution and financial regulations govern the capital 

programme process and require Full Council to agree the programme annually.  

The reports of the Chief Finance Officer will consider the compliance of the 

proposed schemes in the programme with the medium term financial plan, the 

capital resources available, the revenue implications of the proposed capital 

expenditure and any other relevant information. 

 

Page 73



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

10. All schemes are formally approved into the capital programme by following a 

process as set out in the financial regulations and approved by Council.   The 

inclusion of a scheme in the programme does not constitute authority to incur 

expenditure. Each capital scheme shall be the subject of a written report by the 

responsible Director to Cabinet and this report shall include the need for the 

proposed expenditure, its place in the Council’s strategic plans, the estimated 

capital cost analysed as appropriate, the estimated revenue implications (if 

applicable) and the methods of financing. 

 

11. Reports for all proposed schemes with a value of more than £1 million shall also 

contain whole-life-cost evaluations, setting out the cost of the proposed scheme 

over its expected life, including any cost implications at the expiry of the life of the 

proposed scheme. 

 

12. Cabinet receive regular capital monitoring reports and approve variations to the 

programme within Cabinets delegated authority limits. 

 

13. Cabinet also considers new bids that fall outside the annual budget process. 

 

14. Schemes with a final outturn level over £1m are reported to Cabinet comparing 

actual cost, timeliness and quality with the original and amended approvals. 

 

15. Scrutiny Committees can call in Cabinet reports, receive and scrutinise reports. 

 

16. All projects progressing to the capital programme follow the constitution and 

financial regulations and the capital programme is subject to internal and external 

audit. 

 

Investment evaluation and prioritisation 

17. As part of the budget planning process services are required to submit capital 

proposals for consideration to the Asset Management Group (AMG) for 

investment decisions.  The capital investment appraisal process focuses on: 

 

(a) Policy and strategic fit 

(b) Affordability and resources 

(c) VFM, cost/benefit 

(d) Options appraisal 

(e) Risk assessment and 

(f) Capability and capacity within the Council to manage and deliver the project 

 

18. Where capital expenditure requirements exceed external funding availability bids 

for internal resources are prepared and assessment by the AMG using a scoring 

model which has regard to the capital strategy, asset management plan, 

sustainable community strategy and the corporate plan.  AMG submit to Chief 

Officers Executive (COE) a list of assessed bids.  COE then develop proposals 

Page 74



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

for inclusion in the Capital Programme, Cabinet consider these proposals and 

make recommendations to Council for final approval. 

 

19. The AMG, chaired by the Managing Director and including representation from all 

departments, maintain a continuous review of capital planning, management and 

reporting, with regard to best practice, experience and opportunities for improving 

the Council’s capital and asset management. 

 

20. The AMG oversee implementation of standards and procedures and make 

recommendations by other parties (Chief Officers Executive, Cabinet, Council) as 

appropriate.  In developing their proposals, AMG shall, in addition to 

departmental capital expenditure plans, have due regard to: 

 

(a) the various funding streams available from government and other grants 

(b) developer contributions towards capital expenditure under section 106 

agreements and any other similar arrangements 

(c) internal resources available from capital receipts, non-supported borrowing 

and revenue contributions to capital expenditure. 

 

Invest to save projects 

21. Departments are encouraged to consider innovation in service provision that can 

drive efficiency and deliver cashable savings.  Invest to save bids will be 

considered on the same basis as other capital proposals, and need to 

demonstrate what savings and benefits will be achieved as a result of the 

proposed initiative. However, as the benefits of these schemes should outweigh 

the costs it is likely these bids will be prioritised. 

 

Approvals outside the normal budget setting process 

22. Any additional capital proposals required within year and outside the annual 

budget process must be submitted to the AMG for consideration.  The group will 

then appraise the scheme and it will be reported to Cabinet for approval.  

 

 

Capital or Treasury Management Investments 

 

23. Treasury Management investment activity covers those investments which arise 

from the Council’s cash flows and debt management activity, and ultimately 

represent balances which need to be invested until the cash is required for use in 

the course of business. 

 

24. For Treasury Management investments the security and liquidity of funds are 

placed ahead of the investment return. The management of associated risk is set 

out in the Treasury Management Strategy and the Annual Investment Strategy. 

Page 75



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Service and Commercial Investments 

25. These are investments for policy reasons outside of normal treasury 

management activity. This may include: 

 

 

Service Investments 

 

26. These are investments held clearly and explicitly in the course of the provision, 

and for the purposes, of operational services, including economic regeneration.  

Any potential Service Investment would be presented to Cabinet for approval 

prior to commencement.   

 

Commercial investments 

 

27. These are investments taken mainly for financial reasons and may include 

investments taken with the aim of making a financial surplus for the Council. 

 

28. Commercial investments also include fixed assets which are held primarily for 

financial benefit, such as investment properties. Any commercial Investment 

would be presented to Cabinet for approval prior to commencement.   

 

Due Diligence 

 

29. For all capital investments, the appropriate level of due diligence will be 

undertaken with the extent and depth reflecting the level of additional risk being 

considered. 

 

30. Due diligence process and procedures will include: 

 

 Effective scrutiny of proposed investments; 

 Identification of the risk to both the capital sums invested and the returns; 

 Understanding the extent and nature of any external underwriting of those 

risks; 

 The potential impact on the financial sustainability of the Council if those 

risks come to fruition; 

 Identification of the assets being held for security against debt and any 

prior charges on those assets; 

 Where necessary independent and expert advice will be sought.  

 

Loans to External Bodies or Organisations 

31. The Council’s capital programme also includes provision to provide loan facilities 

to external bodies or organisations for activities that are aligned to, and support, 

Council service objectives and/or corporate priorities. Examples may include, 

Page 76



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

supporting economic growth such as housebuilding and improving the health and 

wellbeing of local communities. 

  

32. Under statutory regulations these loans are treated as capital expenditure. 

 

33. In making such loans the Council is exposing itself to the risk of the borrower 
defaulting on loan repayments.  The Council, in making these loans must 
therefore ensure they are prudent and have fully considered the risk implications. 
The Loans for these purposes will be subject to a financial appraisal and a series 
of due diligence checks, and only be provided if the Council is fully satisfied of the 
borrower’s ability to meet their obligations. Wherever possible, the Council will 
aim to mitigate its risks and exposure to default by seeking appropriate additional 
security from the borrower. This may often be in the form of a legal charge over 
the borrower’s property or assets.  

 

34. All loans are agreed by Cabinet. All loans will be subject to close, regular 
monitoring. 
 

35. The rate of interest charged on these facilities will be dependent on the nature 

and structure of the individual loan and the assessed risks to the Council. 

However, loans would usually only be provided on the basis that there is no net 

cost to the Council.  In addition all loans will need to be State Aid compliant. 

 

Funding Sources 

36. The Council’s capital programme is funded from a mix of sources including: 

 

(a) Prudential Borrowing – The introduction of the Prudential code in 2004 

allowed the Council to undertake unsupported borrowing itself. This 

borrowing is subject to the requirements of the Prudential Code for Capital 

Expenditure for Local Authorities. The Council must ensure that 

unsupported borrowing is affordable, prudent and cost effective. This 

funding can also be used as an option to front fund development to 

stimulate growth. This has provided the Council with the flexibility to raise 

capital funding as demand and business need have dictated. This type of 

borrowing has revenue implications for the Council in the form of financing 

costs.   

 

(b) External Grants – A proportion of our capital funding comes through as 

external grant allocations from central government departments such as the 

Department for Transport and Department of Education. There is also 

external funding from the European Regional Development Fund which we 

have been successful in bidding on over the last few years. In addition direct 

funding is received from the Tees Valley Combined Authority (TVCA) under 

the new devolved arrangements.  The TVCA has an approved investment 

plan of £588.2m over a ten year period and Darlington has been successful 

securing funding for a number of growth projects including  

Page 77



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

£10m for the Town Centre and £25m for Darlington Railway Station which is 

in development. 

 

(c) A significant element of the capital investment programme is funded from 

the Housing Revenue Account. Funding towards the Council’s New Build 

programme is also received from Homes England (HE). All Housing Capital 

schemes are funded this way and are prioritised through the Housing 

Business Plan. 

 

(d) Section 106 and external contributions – elements of the capital programme 

are funded by contributions from private sector developers and partners. 

 

(e) Revenue Funding – The Council can use revenue resources to fund capital 

projects on a direct basis, however, the impact of austerity on the Council’s 

revenue budget has reduced options in this area and the preference is for 

Invest to Save projects where feasible. 

 

(f) Capital Receipts – A capital receipt is an amount of money exceeding 

£10,000, which is generated from the sale of an asset. The Council is able 

to generate capital receipts through the sale of surplus assets such as land 

and buildings. The Council seeks to maximise the level of these resources 

which will be available to support the Council’s plans. 

 

 

Capital Investment Fund 

37. At its meeting of 24 November 2016 the Council established a Capital Investment 

Fund of £10m which due to its success has subsequently been increased to 

£50m 

 

38. Council approved the principle and establishment of the Capital Investment Fund 

to be used for innovative investment opportunities beyond the traditional Treasury 

Management Strategy in order to achieve greater returns given the low returns on 

investment due to the current economic climate. 

 

39. The Council is utilising the fund to achieve greater returns by exploring more 

innovative approaches whilst at the same time being willing to take on a greater 

level of risk. Such approaches include loans to other organisations, joint venture 

house building, property investment or developing sites for sale. 

 

40. The Investment fund also provides for wider benefits which extend further than 

direct reward and assist with economic regeneration and job opportunities. 

 

41. Since the establishment of the fund and at the time of writing Cabinet have 

agreed to nine uses of the fund for schemes such as housing joint ventures, 

Page 78



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

office development, and pump priming with a commitment of £41.97m leaving a 

balance of £8.03m.  All projects are detailed and reported to Cabinet for approval. 

 

Economic Growth Investment Fund (EGIF) 

42. The EGIF was set up in 2017/18 Growing the Economy is a priority for the 

Council and the Economic Growth Investment plan sets out what needs to be 

done in order for the Borough to accelerate sustainable, managed and planned 

economic growth. It also provides the structured framework required to ensure 

that a programme of investments is created that can deliver the strategic 

ambitions and goals of the Council. 

 

43. The majority of the Plan is and will be completed in conjunction with the Tees 

Valley Combined Authority, however the Council needs to pump prime and match 

fund some of the schemes.  The EGIF of £4.232m was established in 2017/18 

and included in the capital programme.   

 

44. Any proceeds from sites which subsequently become operational and sold will be 

reinvested in the fund for future developments. 

 

45. Specific scheme approvals will be subject to detailed reports to Cabinet to 

release each scheme as and when they are required. 

 

46. At the time of writing the fund has a balance of 0.904m uncommitted.  

 

Risk Management 

47. Risk is the threat that an event or action will adversely affect the Council’s ability 

to achieve its objectives and to execute its strategies successfully. 

 

48. Risk management is the process of identifying risks, evaluating their potential 

consequences and determining the most effective methods of managing them 

and responding to them. It is both a means of minimising the costs and disruption 

to the Council caused by undesired events and of ensuring that staff understand 

and appreciate the element of risk in all of their activities. 

 

49. The aim is to reduce the frequency of adverse risk events occurring, minimise the 

severity of their consequences if they do occur, or to consider whether risk can 

be transferred to other parties. 

 

50. To manage risk effectively, an assessment of risk should be taken on every 

capital project, mitigated where possible and monitored. 

 

51. It is important to identify the appetite for risk by each scheme and for the capital 

programme as a whole, especially when investing in capital assets held primarily 

Page 79



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

for financial returns. Under the CIPFA Prudential Code these are defined as 

investments and so the key principle of control of risk and optimising returns 

consistent with the level of risk applies. 

 

Knowledge and skills  

52. The Council has professionally qualified staff across a range of disciplines 

including finance, legal and property that follow continuous professional 

development (CPD) and attend courses on an ongoing basis to keep abreast of 

new developments and skills. 

 

53. The Council establishes project teams from all the professional disciplines from 

across the council as and when required. External professional advice is taken 

where required and will always be sought in consideration of any major 

commercial property investment decision. 

 

54. Internal and external training is offered to Members to ensure they have up to 

date knowledge and expertise to understand and challenge capital and treasury 

decisions taken by the Assistant Director Resources. 

 

  

Page 80



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 2 

 

Darlington Borough Council 

Capital Programme 

 

1. The Council has an extensive capital programme with significant resources 

invested to purchase, improve, protect and maintain our assets, to enable the 

council to deliver its priorities for example purchasing land to enable road 

improvements or investing in modernising school buildings and housing.  The 

Council continues to deliver a significant capital investment programme in the 

main funded from the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and grant or other 

external funding which is targeted at specific schemes and programmes such as 

Transport and Schools. Furthermore investment from the Tees Valley Combined 

Authority (TVCA) along with European and other external funding sources are 

being used for economic growth initiatives. 

 

2. The Council can also supplement these funding sources with its own resources 

such as capital receipts or prudential borrowing where there is a need, however 

as capital receipts are limited and prudential borrowing comes with future 

revenue implications there must be a strong business case for doing so.   

 

3. In recent year there has been significant investment in economic growth either 

funded or pump primed by the Council, schemes such as Central Park including 

the National Biologics Centre and Business Central along with the Development 

of Feethams House which is Grade A Office accommodation, and recent Town 

Centre purchases are helping to make Darlington a more vibrant place to be.  

The Council’s Investment Fund and Economic Growth Investment Fund are both 

being utilised to invest in these areas which ultimately increases business rates 

and the finances of the Council helping vital services to be funded.  

 

4. The current capital programme stands at £225m as summarised in Table 1 

below.  The programme is monitored on a monthly basis and reported to Cabinet 

quarterly, the latest available monitoring report for the 2019/20 – 2020/23 was 

presented to Cabinet on 5 November 2019 and noted the programme was within 

budget with the majority of schemes on target. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Table 1 

 

 

5. In additional to the current agreed programme the Council looks ahead to future 

capital requirements based on the principles of the capital strategy.  A four year 

timeframe has been adopted to fall in line with the revenue Medium Term 

Financial Plan.   Attached at Annex A are the priority proposals for addition to the 

plan along with the funding methods. The majority of schemes are focused on 

Housing and Transport, funded via the HRA and grants respectively, there are 

however a number of Council funded corporate schemes to be approved. 

 

6. The following paragraphs describe the major elements of the capital programme 

priorities for approval. Specific scheme funding release will be subject to detailed 

reports to Cabinet. 

 

Corporate schemes – funding required 

 

7. A number of the Council Office buildings in particular the Town Hall and Central 

house are ageing and are requiring more and more maintenance each year.  A 

full refurbishment is cost prohibitive and would also be extremely disruptive for 

operations. A phased approach is therefore taken and each year the Corporate 

Landlord team review the buildings and recommend priority works for 

consideration.  This year, two recommendations have been put forward for 

approval, The Town Hall alarm system and zoned heating control. 

 

8. £0.200m is required for the Town Hall fire alarm system which is in need of 

replacement as the existing detectors are obsolete product so replacements are 

dependent on shelf stock.  The original system is supplemented with an 

additional fire alarm panel ran in series which supports current detectors, this is 

not ideal as all interactions with the fire alarm system should be accessible from 

one panel.  This is a health and safety priority. 

 

9.  £0.200m has been requested for the replacement of the existing redundant 

heating controls to re-establish the flexibility of local office temperature controls.  

Live 

Schemes 75k 

& Over

Annualised 

Schemes

Completed 

Schemes 

awaiting 

review

Live 

Schemes 

under 75k

Non 

construction

Capital 

investment 

fund

Housing 

New Build - 

not yet 

programme

d Total

Area £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Housing 18.453 5.575 20.113 0.292 0.670 0.000 14.704 59.807

Economic Growth 35.261 0.000 26.747 0.556 6.178 41.969 0.000 110.712

Highways/Transport 6.059 16.876 1.921 0.910 0.883 0.000 0.000 26.648

Leisure & Culture 17.368 0.000 0.645 0.134 0.360 0.000 0.000 18.508

Education 3.434 0.089 2.298 0.156 0.280 0.000 0.000 6.258

Adult Social Care 0.000 0.000 0.138 0.000 0.993 0.000 0.000 1.131

Other 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.881 0.000 0.000 1.881

Total 80.576 22.541 51.862 2.048 11.245 41.969 14.704 224.945

Construction

Page 82



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The existing heating system can no longer regulate the temperatures in different 

parts of the building and compensate for the solar gain in throughout the day.  

Addressing this issue will improve comfort levels experienced by staff and will 

also help our carbon commitment by reducing energy consumption. 

 

10. Crown Street Library - £2.9m.  Funding for the refurbishment and restoration of 

Crown Street Library following consultation alongside structural works to include 

roof replacement and mechanical and electrical works.  The refurbishment work 

will be sympathetic to reflect the historic nature of the building and a full report to 

Cabinet will detail all works before funds are released.   

 

11. Capitalised repairs – £0.250m is required for repairs on the council building stock 

to ensure it is fit for purpose.  This is a rolling programme and details on specific 

areas of spend will be brought to Cabinet for consideration. 

 

12. Advanced design fees - £0.150m per annum is requested to ensure that 

resources are available to work up any new schemes brought forward in relation 

to economic growth including site investigations on development sites, industrial 

and housing land.  This funding has been invaluable in the past in enabling the 

Council to be site ready. 

 

Corporate Schemes – funding secured 

13. Allington Way Office Extension, £0.150m – Due to the growth in construction and 

project works there is a need to extend the existing accommodation as it is at 

maximum capacity for office based staff.  An extension which would 

accommodate approximately  20 additional staff will future proof the building and 

enable the services to expand and respond to future business growth 

opportunities.  The borrowing costs for this scheme will be funding from additional 

profits following increased turnover.  

 

14. Cattle Market – funding of £0.350m is required to prepare for the Council taking 

possession of the Cattle Market site.  This will include surveys, permissions, 

demolition and accommodation works to make the site safe for any temporary 

use and permanent development.  This will be funded initially from the Economic 

Growth Investment Fund to be repaid when the site is developed.  

 

15. Railway Heritage quarter – Funding of £20m has been secured from the Tees 

Valley Combined Authority for the Head of Steam site.  A master plan has been 

developed for the Site, the vision being a Rail Heritage Quarter, which will turn 

the site into a world class attraction, working closely with on-site partners and 

others ahead of the 2025 celebrations. The work will include the refurbishment 

and restoration of the existing buildings and will also have the potential for new 

build.  The project will be delivered in phases with phase 1 happening before 

2025.     

 

Page 83



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Government Funding 

 

16. Set out below are details of the levels of Government funding available for 
investment by the Council in 2020/21 and an outline of the proposed use of these 
funds.  

 

 2020/21 
£m 

Children’s Services  

School Condition Allocation 0.142 

  

Transport  

Local Transport Plan 2.575 

Pothole Action fund 0.095 

  

Other  

Disabled Facilities Grant 0.947 

  

Total Capital Grant Available 3.757 

 
 
School Condition Allocations 

 

17. The Local Authority now only receives school condition funding for Community 
Maintained Schools.  Maintenance funding for Academies is available through 
other routes.  This funding received by the Local Authority will be spent in line 
with key priorities identified with each maintained school through the locally 
agreed asset management planning (LAMPA) process, carried out each January.  
There are no strict spend deadlines for these small scale condition related 
projects which are prioritised and completed as funding becomes available. 

 

 
Transport and Highways 
 
18. A new Local Transport Plan for the Tees Valley has been consulted upon and it is 

the intention that this will be endorsed by the Tees Valley Cabinet early in 2020. 
This will help set the spending plans for the funding allocations from the 
Department for Transport and from the Devolution deal. The Integrated Transport 
Programme(ITP) of TVCAs Investment plan identifies £256.7m of investment 
over the next 10 years. There will be projects and initiatives delivered in 
Darlington from this fund. However, these will be subject to separate business 
cases and approval processes as they are developed. 

 

19. The new Tees Valley Local Transport Plan has a number of accompanying 
documents that set the strategy and vision for different modes of transport. Each 
Local Authority is required to produce a Local Improvement Plan, which will 
effectively replace the local authority Local Transport Plan. These plans will cover 
local priorities and maintenance requirements. The Department for Transport 
(DfT) releases capital funding to the Tees Valley Combined Authority (TVCA) to 

Page 84



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

implement these plans based on a needs formula and this is transferred annually 
to the Local Authority. In 2020/21 the indicative amounts for Darlington are 
£0.886m allocated for the Integrated Block and £1.689m for the Highways 
Maintenance Block (comprising £1.398m maintenance and £0.291m incentive 
funding, which is performance related payments, Darlington receive the 
maximum amount of funding based on assessments of our process and asset 
management ).  

 

20. The Local Improvement Plan for Darlington is being progressed and a 
programme of works for 2020/21 based the allocations above is being developed 
and scheduled for consideration by Cabinet in March 2020.  

 

21. In addition to the above there is opportunistic funding announcements from the 
Department for Transport. For example in recent years Local Authorities have 
been allocated additional funding to deal with road repairs from the Pothole 
Action fund. Whilst, not confirmed it is anticipated a further amount could be 
received.  

 

22. The Council has also submitted a bid into the Department for Transports Highway 
Maintenance Challenge Fund for £2.260m for additional road maintenance on the 
A68 and an announcement on whether this has been successful is expected by 
the end of the calendar year. The Council are also developing an expression of 
interest for a bid in the Department for Transports Pinch Point Programme that 
has to be submitted by the end of January 2020.  

 

23. Pothole Action Fund – The Pothole Action Fund was announced in April 2016 by 
the government and gave local authorities in England £50 million a year, for 5 
years, to help them tackle more than 4 million potholes. Funding is calculated 
according to the size of the local road network in the area. The Council’s current 
allocation is circa £95k per year and this is expected to continue beyond the initial 
5 year period. 

 

 
Disabled Facility Grants 
 
24. These grants are available if you are disabled and need to make changes to your 

home with examples being: 
 

- Widen doors and install ramps, 
- Improve access to rooms and facilities – e.g. stair lifts or a downstairs 

bathroom, 
- Provide a heating system suitable for your needs, and  
- Adapt heating or lighting controls to make them easier to use.   

 
Housing 
 
25. All Housing Capital schemes are funded fully from the Housing Revenue 

Account. The priorities identified through the Housing Business Plan to be funded 
from the estimated capital resources for 2020/21 include:- 

Page 85



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
(a) Adaptations and lifts – £0.150m budget is to deliver adaptations within the 

Council’s housing stock to enable tenants with a disability to remain in their 
own home and live independently across the Borough and to complete any 
unplanned major works to passenger lifts within sheltered and extra care 
schemes. 
 

(b) Heating Replacement - £1.335m to fund new condensing boiler and central 
heating upgrades.  This work will predominantly be completed in the 
Haughton and Bank Top areas. There will also be some miscellaneous 
properties which will be included in the programme and we will be running a 
“just in time” programme of replacement for those boilers that fail before 
their due replacement date within the financial year. 

 
(c) Structural Repairs - £0.500m has been set aside to address any structural 

issues that may be identified within the year. 
 

(d) Lifeline Services - £0.050m is set aside to continue to provide upgrades to 
Lifeline equipment.   

 
(e) Repairs before Painting - £0.100m will be invested in joinery repair works in 

anticipation of the cyclical external painting programme. This will cover 
around 1,200 properties at various locations within the Borough. 

 
(f) Roofing – £0.500m for the replacement of roofs, fascia’s, soffits and 

rainwater goods alongside the top-up of loft insulation where appropriate. 
The programme will primarily be in the Haughton area. 

 

(g) Garages - £0.050m will be invested in improvements to the Council’s garage 
blocks which will predominantly be in the Lascelles Park area.   

 

(h) External Works - £0.300m will be used to provide new rear dividing fences 
and new footpaths to Council properties in various locations based on 
condition. 

 

(i) Smoke Detectors - £0.025m is required to replace existing hard wired 
smoke and heat detectors where systems are now 10 years old and 
reaching the end of their recommended lifespan.    

 

(j) Pavement Crossings - £0.032m has been identified to fund pavement 
crossings across the Borough. 

 

(k) Replacement Door Programme - £0.350m will be used to replace external 
doors with energy efficient composite doors in the Lascelles Park area. 

 

(l) Window Replacement - £0.500m has been identified to replace windows 
across the Borough with double glazed UPVC. These areas will be 
determined based on those in the poorest condition, but we will be working 
predominantly in the Haughton and Springfield areas. 

 

Page 86



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(m) Internal planned maintenance – £1.595m for the replacement of kitchens 
and bathrooms, rewiring of electrical systems and heating system upgrades 
where required. This work will predominantly be completed in the Lascelles 
Park area. There will also be some miscellaneous properties which will be 
included in the programme.  

 

(n) Communal Works - £0.100m is required to replace communal doors and 
screens in the North Road area. 

 

(o) New Build/Property acquisitions - £17.989m will be spent predominantly on 
the new build programme. 

 

  

Page 87



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

SPENDING PRIORITIES

Children, Families & Learning

School Condition Allocations 142 142 142 142 568              

142            142           142           142           568              

Housing

Adaptations / Lifts 150            150           150           150           600              

Heating replacement programme 1,335         1,335        1,335        1,335        5,340           

Structural works 500            500           500           500           2,000           

Lifeline Services 50               50             50             50             200              

Repairs before painting 100            100           100           100           400              

Roofing 500            500           500           500           2,000           

Garages 50               50             50             50             200              

External Works (footpaths, fencing, etc.) 300            300           300           300           1,200           

Smoke detection 25               25             25             25             100              

Pavement Crossing 32               32             32             32             128              

Replacement Door Programme 350            350           350           350           1,400           

Window Replacement 500            500           500           500           2,000           

IPM works 1,595         1,595        1,595        1,595        6,380           

Comunal Works 100            100           100           100           400              

New build (net of HE grant)/regeneration 17,989       17,632      15,082      15,082      65,785        

Fees 267            267           267           267           1,068           

23,843       23,486      20,936      20,936      89,201        

Transport  

Highway Maintenance 1,689         1,689       1,689       1,689       6,756           

Integrated Transport 886            886          886          886          3,544           

Pothole Action fund 95              95            95            95            380              

2,670         2,670        2,670        2,670        10,680        

Other Capital Programmes

Disabled Facility Grants 947            947          947          947          3,788           

947            947           947           947           3,788           

Council Schemes  - funding required

Town Hall - Fire Alarm Renewal 200            -                -                -                200              

Town Hall - Zoned Heating Control 200            -                -                -                200              

Crown Street Library 2,900         -                -                -                2,900           

Capitalised Repairs 250            250           250           250           1,000           

Advanced Design Fees 150            150           150           150           600              

 3,700         400           400           400           4,900           

Council schemes - funding secured.

Allington Way - Office Extension 150            -                -                -                150              

Cattle Market - site works 350            -                -                350              

Railway Heritage Quarter -                  -                10,000      10,000      20,000        

 500            -                10,000      10,000      20,500        

TOTAL SPENDING PLANS 31,802       27,645      35,095      35,095      129,637      

FUNDED BY;

 

Capital Grants 3,759         3,759        3,759        3,759        15,036        

HRA Revenue Contributions 5,551         5,551        5,551        5,551        22,204        

HRA Investment Fund 8,722         4,982        4,982        4,982        23,668        

HRA Capital Receipts 303            303           303           303           1,212           

HRA Borrowing 9,267         12,650      10,100      10,100      42,117        

Corporate Resources (borrowing or capital receipts) 3,700         400           400           400           4,900           

Self Financing 500            -                10,000      10,000      20,500        

TOTAL RESOURCES 31,802       27,645      35,095      35,095      129,637      

Figures shown in italics are estimates, awaiting confirmation of funding streams.

ANNEX A

Capital Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2023/24

Page 88



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CABINET 
7 JANUARY 2020 
 

 

 
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT – MTFP 2020/21 TO 2023/24 

 

 
Responsible Cabinet Member - Councillor Lorraine Tostevin, 

Health and Housing Portfolio 
 

Responsible Director – Ian Williams 
Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services 

 

 
SUMMARY REPORT 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To consider proposals for the revenue budget, rent levels and service charges for 

the Council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA) for the financial year 2020/21 in the 
context of the HRA Medium Term Financial Plan to 2023/24 and the 30-year 
Business Plan.   
 

Summary 
 
2. The key decision regarding the HRA is the balance between rent and service 

charge levels and investment in the housing stock.  For the first time since 2016/17 
Local Authorities have once again been given the discretion to inflate rents by CPI 
plus 1%, which means an average £2.02 increase in weekly rents.  Having had four 
years of compulsory reductions of rent minus 1% for four consecutive years it is 
recommended that we increase all rents to the maximum allowed. Similarly, it is 
recommended that where appropriate service charges also have an inflationary 
increase.  However, members may opt for continued rent reductions or a rent 
increase of a lesser amount than CPI plus 1% if they wish.  Clearly the less income 
we receive the less we are able to invest in the management and maintenance of 
our tenant’s homes and the number of new properties we are able to provide would 
also be reduced.  It is worth noting that 68% of tenants will have their rent and most 
service charges covered by benefit payments.  Our rent and service charges also 
tend to be much lower than other Social Landlords operating in Darlington due to 
historical differences in government guidance on what Housing Associations and 
Local Authorities could charge. 
 

3. As Central Government has now lifted the borrowing cap on the HRA we are using 
this additional capacity to invest in building much needed new homes. In 2020/21 
we can borrow an extra £9m to fund our housing capital programme.  This can be 
supplemented with Homes England grant and we plan to build 100 affordable 
homes per annum over the next 10 years. We also have over 50% of households 
with one or more person with a disability and we are therefore committed to 
providing good quality homes with generous space standards and lifetime homes 
principles to support people to live independently and have a good quality of life.  
All properties are designed to meet a good standard of thermal efficiency. Over 220 
households have already benefitted from our current new build programme which 
has taken place at various locations around the town and demand continues to be 

Page 89

Agenda Item 7(c)



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

exceptionally high. 
 

Recommendations 
 
4. It is proposed that the following recommendations are agreed for wider 

consultation:- 
 
(a) An average weekly rent increase of 2.7% for 2020/21 be implemented giving 

an average social rent of £71.30 and affordable rent of £82.55 
 

(b) Garage rents and service charges are increased as shown in Table 3. 
 

(c) The budget at Appendix 1 is approved. 
 

(d) The Housing Business Plan Appendix 2 is agreed. 
 

(e) That the Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services be given 
delegated powers to proceed with new build schemes for affordable rent using 
the funding as identified at paragraph 16. 

 
(f) That the Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services be given 

delegated powers to acquire dwellings in the private sector as opportunities 
arise, particularly as part of regeneration initiatives as discussed at 
paragraph17 of this report. 

 

Reason 
 
5. To enable the Council to deliver an appropriate level of service to tenants to meet 

housing need and to support the economic growth of the Borough through housing 
development. 
 

Ian Williams 
Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services 

 
 
Background Papers 
MHCLG Rent Guidance 
 
Pauline Mitchell: Ext 5831 
 
  

Page 90



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

S17 Crime and Disorder The contents of this report have been considered in 
the context of the requirements placed on the 
Council by Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder 
Act 1998, namely, the duty on the Council to 
exercise its functions with due regard to the likely 
effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the 
need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, 
crime and disorder in its area.  It is not considered 
that the contents of this report have any such 
effect. 

Health and Well Being By ensuring our housing stock is in good condition 
we are making a positive contribution to the Health 
and well- being of our Council tenants  

Carbon Impact  There are a range of energy efficiency measures 
included in the business plan which will have a 
positive carbon impact 

Diversity There are no diversity issues 

Wards Affected This will have an effect on all Wards in the Borough 
with Council Housing. 

Groups Affected All Council Tenants and Lifeline Service Users 

Budget and Policy Framework  The issues contained within this report require 
Council approval and the report will be presented to 
Council in February 2019. 

Key Decision This is a key decision because agreement to the 
recommendations will result in the Local Authority 
incurring expenditure which is significant.  There 
will also be a significant effect on the communities 
living or working in an area comprising two or more 
wards within the area of the local authority. 

Urgent Decision This is not an urgent decision for Cabinet, as the 
approval of Council on February 2019 will be 
required. 

One Darlington: Perfectly 
Placed 

Improving the existing housing stock and external 
environment, as well as, the new build programme 
will all contribute towards the sustainability agenda. 

Efficiency As the HRA is a ring-fenced budget every effort is 
made to maximise income and identify savings in 
order to maintain a high quality service. 

Impact on Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers 

No impact 

 
 
  

Page 91



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
MAIN REPORT 

 
Setting the MTFP for the HRA 
 
6. Councils now have the flexibility to decide the balance between the levels of 

service provided to tenants and the levels of rent charged provided they are no 
higher than the maximum level determined by the DWP.  This is known as the limit 
rent.  In Darlington for 2020/21 the maximum average increase allowed will be 
2.7%.  This is particularly welcome as for a four-year period from 2016/17 all social 
and affordable rents had to be reduced by 1% per annum which significantly 
impacted on our overall business plan.  It is recommended therefore that we 
increase all rents to the maximum allowed.  Similarly, it is recommended that where 
appropriate service charges also have an inflationary increase.  However, members 
may opt for continued rent reductions or a rent increase of a lesser amount than the 
government guidance of CPI plus 1% if they wish.  Clearly the less income we 
receive the less we are able to invest in the management and maintenance of our 
tenant’s homes and the number of new properties we are able to provide would 
also be reduced. It is worth noting that 68% of tenants will have their rent and most 
service charges covered by benefit payments.  Our rent and service charges also 
tend to be much lower than other Social Landlords operating in Darlington due to 
historical differences in government guidance on what Housing Associations and 
Local Authorities could charge. 
 

7. As Central Government has now lifted the borrowing cap on the HRA we are using 
this additional capacity to invest in building much needed new homes. In 2020/21 
we can borrow an extra £9m to fund our housing capital programme.  This can be 
supplemented with Homes England grant and we plan to build 100 affordable 
homes per annum over the next 10 years. This can be supplemented with Homes 
England grant to provide more than 1000 much needed new Council homes at 
affordable rents over the next 10 years.  Around 220 households have already 
benefitted from our current new build programme which has taken place across the 
Borough with sites at Branksome, Red Hall, Skerne Park, Lingfield and Lascelles 
Park.  Overall demand has been exceptionally high. 
 

8. Analysis of Expenditure within the HRA 
 
(a) Management £2.804m 

This includes all staffing costs associated with the provision of a housing 
management service, central support service and other associated support 
costs such as ICT and insurance. 
 

(b) Service Charges and other contributions to expenditure £3.010m 
This covers services charges to tenants such as grounds maintenance and 
Lifeline Services charges to a range of clients. All service charges are fully 
recoverable. It also includes recharges that will be recovered through additional 
income including court costs. 
 

  

Page 92



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) Maintenance - Revenue Repairs - £4.075m 
This covers the on-going general repairs to the Council’s 5,293 properties at a 
rate of approximately £606 per property per year.  This level represents an 
average spend and reflects the overall good condition of the stock due to 
sustained capital investment.  The continued investment in a good repairs 
service is essential to maintaining our stock at a good level for current and 
future tenants. 
 

(d) Capital Financing Costs - £3.211m 
This is the cost of paying for borrowing undertaken to fund capital expenditure. 
 

(e) Bad Debts Provision - £0.350m 
This is a provision to cover rents that are deemed unrecoverable. 
 

(f) Revenue Contributions to Capital Programme - £14.273m 
This represents the amount by which the HRA is able to fund major capital 
works.  In addition to this the Council continues to be successful in bidding for 
grant funding from Homes England towards the building of new houses. 
 

Borrowing 
 
9. The HRA borrowing cap has now been abolished.  We are now able to prudentially 

borrow and have included additional borrowing of £9m in 2020/21 to build new 
affordable houses. 
 

10. Members will appreciate that expenditure items (a) to (d) are relatively fixed and the 
main variable is the type and location of capital investment.  The proposed 
Business Plan is discussed in the following section and this explains where future 
capital investment is planned. 
 

Housing Business Plan 
 
11. All Housing Capital schemes are funded fully from the Housing Revenue Account.  

This includes the proposal to spend £17.989m on new build activity or the 
acquisition of private properties if appropriate.  The other priorities identified 
through the Housing Business Plan to be funded from the estimated capital 
resources for 2020/21 include:- 
 
(a) Adaptations and lifts – £0.150m budget is to deliver adaptations within the 

Council’s housing stock to enable tenants with a disability to remain in their 
own home and live independently across the Borough and to complete any 
major works to passenger lifts within sheltered and extra care schemes. 
 

(b) Heating Replacement - £1.335m to fund new energy efficient condensing 
boilers and central heating upgrades.  This work will predominantly be 
completed in the Haughton and Bank Top areas.  There will also be some 
miscellaneous properties which will be included in the programme and we will 
be running a “just in time” programme of replacement for those boilers that fail 
before their due replacement date within the financial year. 
 

(c) Structural Repairs - £0.500m has been set aside to address any structural 
issues that may be identified within the year, including brickwork repointing 
alongside the roofing programme. 
 

Page 93



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(d) Lifeline Services - £0.050m is set aside to continue to provide upgrades to 
Lifeline equipment. 
 

(e) Repairs before Painting - £0.100m will be invested in joinery repair works in 
anticipation of the cyclical external painting programme.  This will cover around 
1200 properties at various locations. 
 

(f) Roofing – £0.500m for the replacement of roofs, fascia’s, soffits and rainwater 
goods together with the top-up of loft insulation where appropriate.  The 
programme will primarily be in the Haughton area. 
 

(g) Garages - £0.050m will be invested in improvements to the Council’s garage 
blocks which will predominantly be in the Lascelles Park area. 
 

(h) External Works - £0.300m will be used to provide new rear dividing fences and 
new footpaths to Council properties in various locations based on condition. 
 

(i) Smoke Detectors - £0.025m is required to replace existing hard-wired smoke 
and heat detectors where systems are now 10 years old and reaching the end 
of their recommended lifespan. 
 

(j) Pavement Crossings - £0.032m has been identified to fund pavement 
crossings and hard-standings across the Borough. 
 

(k) Replacement Door Programme - £0.350m will be used to replace external 
doors with energy efficient composite doors in the Lascelles Park area. 
 

(l) Window Replacement - £0.500m has been identified to replace windows 
across the Borough with double glazed UPVC.  These areas will be determined 
based on those in the poorest condition, but we will be working predominantly 
in the Haughton and Springfield areas. 
 

(m) Internal planned maintenance – £1.595m for the replacement of kitchens and 
bathrooms, rewiring of electrical systems and heating system upgrades where 
required.  This work will predominantly be completed in the Lascelles Park 
area. There will also be some miscellaneous properties which will be included 
in the programme. 
 

(n) Communal Works - £0.100m is required to replace communal doors in the 
North Road area. 
 

(o) New Build/Property acquisitions - £17.989m will be spent predominantly on the 
new build programme. 
 

12. The purpose of the Housing Business Plan is to ensure that the Housing Service 
has a financial plan which is sustainable and focuses investment towards strategic 
priorities.  During the development of the Business Plan it has become clear that 
there are a number of strategic investment priorities that are particularly pressing 
and have significant financial implications for both the Housing Revenue Account 
and the Council’s General Fund. 
 

13. The following proposals will outline these strategic priorities, the resources 
available to deliver on these priorities (subject to final decisions on rent levels) and 
how resources will be aligned against the priorities. 
 

Page 94



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

New Build 
 
14. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment completed for Darlington in 2015 

identified that there is a need for 160 affordable dwellings for rent across the 
Borough of Darlington each year and housing associations provide relatively low 
numbers of affordable housing units on average. 
 

15. Not only is there a need to build affordable dwellings to meet local need, it is also a 
business need for the Housing Service.  The Business Plan is underpinned by the 
rents received from Council properties and the loss of rents as a result of previous 
regeneration works and ongoing right to buy sales would significantly reduce 
income for the Housing Service if these properties were not replaced.  Similarly, the 
impact for New Homes Bonus of overall reductions in property numbers needs to 
be taken into account. 
 

16. Now that the HRA borrowing cap has been abolished we are able to prudentially 
borrow an additional £9m in the current year to build new affordable houses.  This 
is in addition to £9m available from revenue contributions to capital giving us a total 
of £18m available for the development of new Council homes for rent or other 
property acquisitions. We have also assumed that we will be successful in grant 
applications to the Homes England’s Affordable Housing Programme.  It is difficult 
to predict grant funding levels as funding is now available on the basis of a rolling 
programme, but we have received up to 40% of the overall costs for recent 
schemes. A number of new build sites have been identified and are currently being 
worked up in more detail to enable planning permission to be sought. Meanwhile 
delegated powers are being requested for the Director of Economic Growth and 
Neighbourhood Services to enable new build schemes to be progressed in a timely 
manner subject to planning permission.  Appendix 3 shows we are anticipating 
spending around £81m on new build in total going forward and with projected 
Homes England grant of £27m.  
  

17. There may also be a strategic need in the future to acquire a small number of 
properties in the private sector to either address a specific housing need or as part 
of the regeneration of an area of older housing.  Included in the Council’s refreshed 
Corporate Plan there is a commitment to addressing poor quality private housing 
and bringing empty homes back into use.  This will include buying up empty 
properties where appropriate. Delegated powers are therefore being requested for 
the Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services to purchase private 
sector properties where appropriate. 
  

Housing for Vulnerable People  
 
18. Each year Housing Services complete a range of minor and major adaptions to 

individual Council properties where a need has been identified by an Occupational 
Therapist.  Works range from the provision of lever taps and grab rails to semi-
permanent ramps, stair lifts, hoists and ground floor extensions. 
 

  

Page 95



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

19. The HRA adaptations budget reflects the fundamental role adaptations play in 
supporting households to continue to live independently, reduce the need for 
expensive care packages and prevent a premature move into a more supported 
form of accommodation.  These high levels of need have therefore been taken into 
account in developing our new build housing programme.  The properties provided 
as part of our ongoing new build programme have been built in accordance with 
Lifetime Homes standards.  Inexpensive features include flush door entrances at 
front and rear for wheelchair access, and raised sockets, as well as, low level 
window sills and openings.  Increased space standards allow for hallways wide 
enough for 360º wheelchair turning circles, wider doors, and ground floor toilets.  
Occupational Therapists and Housing Officers also work closely with individuals to 
meet their particular needs where appropriate, providing bespoke lowered kitchens, 
specific bathing requirements etc. before they move in wherever possible. 
 

20. This approach has significantly reduced the demands on the adaptations budget. 
However, going forward we will need to balance the additional costs of providing 
properties to this standard with anticipated future increased Building Regulation 
requirements in response to the Climate Change agenda. 
 

Existing Stock Investment and Responsive Repairs 
 
21. In accordance with good practice, the housing stock is surveyed by an independent 

specialist organisation every five years and detailed analysis of the data takes 
place to help inform our priorities.  Overall our properties have been assessed as 
being in good condition, reflecting our significant annual investment as part of a 
structured programme for both on-going capital improvements and maintenance 
resulting in:- 
 
(a) All stock meeting the Decent Homes Standard by 2006. 

 
(b) A proactive approach to capital improvement work ensuring all stock is 

maintained to a standard above the Decent Homes Standard, locally known as 
the Darlington Standard. 
 

(c) An average SAP rating of over 70 across the Council housing stock indicating 
an above average level of thermal comfort.  This can be largely attributed to a 
central heating programme providing A-rated combi-boilers and a planned 
maintenance programme which ensures all properties suitable benefit from 
cavity wall insulation and 300mm of loft insulation.  A significant number of 
properties with previously poor SAP ratings have also been targeted in recent 
years for a more comprehensive package of energy efficiency measures 
including double glazed UPVC windows, composite doors and in some cases 
external cladding. 
 

22. The Business Plan identifies a capital works budget of around £110m over the next 
five years and £255m budget for capital works over the next 30 years, including the 
New Build Programme.  This budget will ensure all works identified within the stock 
condition survey can be completed alongside additional works to maintain 
properties to the Darlington Standard. 
 

23. The Business Plan anticipates responsive repairs will remain at historical levels and 
so allocates a budget of £28m for responsive and cyclical repairs within the five-
year investment plan and £186m within the 30-year investment plan. 
 

Page 96



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Rent Level Options 
 
24. The main objective of the Government’s policy on rent restructuring is that rents 

should be fair and affordable for tenants in the social rented sector.  The policy sets 
out a common basis on which all rents in the social sector should be set.  This 
means that the rent for a house or flat (known as the formula rent) is linked to its 
capital value, size, location, condition and local earnings so that tenants can make 
a proper choice between how much they pay and the size and quality of the 
property they live in. As set out in paragraph 6 of this report Councils now have the 
flexibility to decide the balance between the levels of rent charged, provided they 
are no higher than the maximum level determined by the DWP.  Examples of 
weekly rent increases based on an increase of CPI plus 1% are provided at 
Appendix 4. 
 

25. As part of the Affordable Housing Programme 2015/18 the Council was given 
approval to convert social housing rents to affordable rents as properties became 
available to let and this was approved by Council in February 2016. We have 
continued with our new build programme and assumed this arrangement could 
continue. However we have now been advised by Homes England that the rules 
have changed and conversions are only now possible where specialist 
accommodation is being provided. Retrospective approval is not possible. Officers 
are currently working closely with Homes England to determine which future new 
build schemes may qualify as specialist housing. Meanwhile we have ceased 
converting properties on re-let. We have identified around 400 tenancies which are 
affected where we will need to refund the additional rent we have incorrectly 
charged and this equates to £125K. 
 

Garage Rents and Service Charges 
 
26. The budget at Appendix 1 includes the financial effect of the proposed increases.  

The proposed service charges shown below at Table 3 provide for achieving full 
recovery of costs from those tenants who directly benefit from the services 
provided.  In most instances this means a small inflationary increase is necessary 
but in some instances no increase is needed to maintain current levels of service. 
 

27. Any additional costs will be covered by Housing Benefit or Universal Credit for the 
68% of tenants who are eligible.  The HRA funds a Money Advice Service and 
Income Management Team to address the financial challenges facing a number of 
Council tenants and referrals are also made to CAB for independent financial 
advice as well as to food banks and furniture recycling schemes.  Those tenants, 
particularly first- time tenants who require more sustained intensive support will be 
referred to the Housing Plus Team. 
 

  

  

Page 97



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Table 3: Garage Rents and Service Charges 

Description Current 
Weekly 
Charge 
(19/20) 

Proposed 
Weekly 
Charge 
(20/21) 

 £ £ 

Garage Rents 7.88  8.01 

Building Cleaning – Flats 1.82 1.85 

Building Cleaning – Sheltered Schemes 3.70 3.81 

Building Cleaning – Extra Care 11.78 12.02 

Grounds Maintenance – General Housing 1.74 1.76 

Grounds Maintenance – Blocks of Flats 1.74 1.76 

Heating – Comprehensive schemes 11.46 11.46 

Heating – Blocks of flats 1.48 1.50 

Administration – Leaseholders 1.71 1.74 

Furnishings and Fittings – Comprehensive Schemes 1.98 2.01 

Furnishings and Fittings – Good Neighbour Schemes 0.89 0.92 

Lifeline Response 5.52 5.78 

Lifeline – Sheltered and Extra Care Housing 17.77 17.92 

Pavement Crossings and Hard standings 4.25 4.32 

Mid-day Meal – Extra Care (Residents only) 34.21 34.21 

Mid-day Meal – Extra Care (Non-Residents only) 41.11 41.11 

Guest Rooms in Sheltered Schemes  84.17 85.60 

Door Entry Systems  0.68 0.72 

TV Aerials 0.19 0.19 

Housing Plus Service 18.43 19.01 

 
Consultation 
 
28. The Annual Review of the HRA Business Plan is developed in consultation with 

Council tenants through their Customer Panel and associated sub-groups, 
supplemented with surveys and focus groups. The specific proposals have not yet 
been considered by the Customer Panel. 
 

Financial Implications 
 
29. The estimates included in this report represent a fair view of ongoing plans and 

commitments although Members will appreciate some budgets are subject to 
volatility and will continue to be monitored closely. 
 

30. The level of revenue balances projected in this report represent an adequate level 
given the level of risk. 

 
 

Page 98



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL #

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT Appendix 1

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Income

Rents Of Dwellings (Gross) (20,555) (21,110) (22,014) (22,475) (22,711)

Sundry Rents (Including Garages & Shops) (429) (436) (443) (450) (421)

Charges For Services & Facilities (3,049) (3,083) (3,093) (3,109) (3,124)

Contribution towards expenditure (265) (270) (275) (281) (286)

Interest Receivable (6) (6) (6) (6) (6)

Total Income (24,304) (24,905) (25,831) (26,320) (26,547)

Expenditure

Management 5,814 5,890 6,075 6,166 6,247

Capital Financing Costs 3,211 3,840 4,201 4,634 5,122

Increase in Bad Debt Provision 350 350 350 350 350

HRA Revenue Repairs 4,075 4,157 4,240 4,325 4,411

Revenue Contribution to Capital (R.C.C.O.) 14,273 10,533 10,533 10,533 10,533

Contribution to/(from) balance (3,419) 135 432 312 (116)

Total Expenditure 24,304 24,904 25,830 26,320 26,547

(Surplus) / Deficit 0 0 0 0 0

Opening balance 15,326 11,907 12,042 12,474 12,786

Contribution to/(from) balance (3,419) 135 432 312 (116)

Closing balance 11,907 12,042 12,474 12,786 12,670

of which:    Capital Investment Fund 8,722 4,982 4,982 4,982 4,982

                     HRA Working Balance 3,185 7,060 7,492 7,804 7,688

 

Estimated closing dwelling numbers 5,423 5,585 5,722 5,849 5,976

Closing balance per dwelling £2,195.59 £2,156.14 £2,180.06 £2,186.14 £2,120.29

Page 99



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

THIRTY YEAR INVESTMENT FORECAST    2020/21 - 2049/50 Appendix 2

Years 1-10 

(£000)

Years 11-20 

(£000)

Years 21-30 

(£000)

Total Spend 

(£000)

Adaptations / Lifts 1,500 1,500 1,500 4,500

Communal Works 1,000 1,000 1,000 3,000

Decoration following IPM 390 391 391 1,172

External works (footpaths, fencing, etc.) 3,000 3,000 3,000 9,000

Garage Improvements 500 500 500 1,500

Heating Replacements 13,401 12,932 12,251 38,584

Internal Planned Maintenance 20,592 22,799 21,598 64,989

Repairs before painting 1,000 1,000 1,000 3,000

Roof work 5,000 5,000 5,000 15,000

Structural Repairs 5,000 5,000 5,000 15,000

Warden Link & Sheltered Housing 500 500 500 1,500

Energy Efficiency 8,500 8,500 8,500 25,500

Professional Fees 2,670 2,670 2,670 8,010

Smoke / Fire Alarms 250 250 250 750

Pavement Crossing 320 320 320 960

New build and regeneration capital investment 65,785 0 0 65,785

Total expenditure 129,408 65,362 63,480 258,250

P
age 100



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

HRA Business Plan – Draft 5 Year Investment Plan Appendix 3

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Scheme / Project

Adaptations / Lifts 150 150 150 150 150

Heating replacement programme 1,335 1,335 1,335 1,335 1,335

Structural works 500 500 500 500 500

Lifeline Services* 50 50 50 50 50

Repairs before painting 100 100 100 100 100

Roofing 500 500 500 500 500

Garages 50 50 50 50 50

External Works (footpaths, fencing, fabric etc.) 300 300 300 300 300

Smoke detection 25 25 25 25 25

Pavement Crossing 32 32 32 32 32

Replacement Door Programme 350 350 350 350 350

Window Replacement 500 500 500 500 500

IPM works 1,595 1,595 1,595 1,595 1,595

Communal Works 100 100 100 100 100

New build (net of HE grant)/regeneration 17,989 17,632 15,082 15,082 15,082

Fees 267 267 267 267 267

Total spend 23,843 23,486 20,936 20,936 20,936

Resourced by:     

Capital Receipts 303 303 303 303 303

RCCO 5,551 5,551 5,551 5,551 5,551

Additional Borrowing 9,267 12,650 10,100 10,100 10,100

Investment Fund 8,722 4,982 4,982 4,982 4,982

P
age 101



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Examples of Weekly Rent Changes for 2020/21 Appendix 4

Area Property Type
Approved Rent 

2019/20

Proposed Rent 

2020/21

Increase 

between  

19/20 & 20/21

Increase 

between  

19/20 & 20/21

£ %

Middleton St George

Mount Pleasant Close 1 Bedroom Bungalow 79.43 81.57 2.14 2.7% *

Pounteys Close 2 Bedroom House 74.67 76.68 2.01 2.7%

2 Thorntree Gardens 3 Bedroom house 85.17 87.47 2.30 2.7%

Cockerton

Newton Court 1 Bedroom Flat 61.66 63.33 1.67 2.7%

Elvet Place 2 Bedroom House 72.21 74.16 1.95 2.7%

Minors Crescent 3 Bedroom House 77.79 79.90 2.11 2.7%

Haughton

Ted Fletcher Court 1 Bedroom Flat 62.18 63.86 1.68 2.7%

Lyonette Road 2 Bedroom Flat 70.43 72.33 1.90 2.7%

Nightingale Avenue 1 Bedroom Bungalow 74.83 76.85 2.02 2.7% *

Rockwell Avenue 2 Bedroom House 74.10 76.10 2.00 2.7%

Dunelm Walk 3 Bedroom House 82.84 85.08 2.24 2.7%

Branksome

Branksome Hall 1 Bedroom Flat 61.76 63.42 1.66 2.7% *

Whitby Way 1 Bedroom Bungalow 68.31 70.15 1.84 2.7% *

Malvern Crescent 2 Bedroom House 70.83 72.75 1.91 2.7%

Rosedale Crescent 3 Bedroom House 80.53 82.70 2.17 2.7%

Sherborne Clsoe 2 Bedfroom Flat 85.34 87.64 2.30 2.7% *

Lascelles   

Coxwold House 1 Bedroom Flat 61.04 62.69 1.65 2.7%

Gilling Crescent 2 Bedroom Flat 68.07 69.91 1.84 2.7%

Aldbrough Walk 2 Bedroom House 80.14 82.30 2.16 2.7% *

Caldwell Green 3 Bedroom House 77.34 79.43 2.09 2.7%

P
age 102



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Area Property Type
Approved Rent 

2019/20

Proposed Rent 

2020/21

Increase 

between  

19/20 & 20/21

Increase 

between  

19/20 & 20/21

Fenby Avenue 3 Bedroom House 96.48 99.08 2.60 2.7% *

Bank Top

Graham Court 1 Bedroom Flat 62.15 63.83 1.68 2.7%

Graham Court 3 Bedroom House 88.49 90.88 2.39 2.7% *

Redhall

Bramall House 1 Bedroom Flat 74.23 76.23 2.00 2.7% *

Aviemore Court 2 Bedroom Flat 65.57 67.34 1.77 2.7%

Murrayfield Way 1 Bedroom Bungalow 63.22 64.93 1.71 2.7%

Aintree Court 2 Bedroom House 67.02 68.83 1.81 2.7%

Aintree Court 3 Bedroom House 88.05 90.43 2.38 2.7% *

Eastbourne

West Moor Road 1 Bedroom Flat 58.57 60.15 1.58 2.7%

Tansley Gardens 2 Bedroom Flat 65.23 66.99 1.76 2.7%

Firthmoor Crescent 2 Bedroom House 67.93 69.77 1.83 2.7%

Brignall Moor Crescent 3 Bedroom House 73.53 75.52 1.99 2.7%

Skerne Park

Trent Place 2 Bed House 68.69 70.54 1.85 2.7% *

Humber Place 3 Bed House 74.23 76.23 2.00 2.7%

Parkside

Wordsworth Road 1 Bedroom Flat 62.23 63.91 1.68 2.7%

Shakespeare Road 2 Bedroom House 77.85 79.95 2.10 2.7% *

Ruskin Road 3 Bedroom House 81.30 83.49 2.19 2.7% *

* Affordable rent properties - these rents include applicable service charges.

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
  

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CABINET 
7 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

 
THE COUNCIL PLAN 2020-2023 

 

 
Responsible Cabinet Member - Councillor Heather Scott 

Leader and all Cabinet Members 
  

Responsible Director - Chief Officers Executive 
 

 
SUMMARY REPORT 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To approve the Council Plan 2020-2023 for consultation. 

 
Summary 
 
2. The Council Plan sets out a proposed vision for the Council and key actions the 

Council would take to achieve that vision. 
 

3. The Plan is subject to consultation and will ultimately be subject to approval at 
Council in March 2020. 
  
 

Recommendation 
 
4. Cabinet recommended to :- 

 
(a) Approve the Council Plan for Consultation. 

 
(b) Receive feedback from consultation at its meeting in March.  

 
 
Reasons 
 
5. The recommendations are supported in order to approve a plan for consultation.- 

 
Chief Officers Executive 

 
Background Papers 
 
No background papers were used in the preparation of this report  
 
Paul Wildsmith : Extension 5828 
TAB 

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 7(d)



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

S17 Crime and 
Disorder 

The Council Plan outlines the council’s priorities and objectives 
in respect of community safety. The performance monitoring 
framework further includes indicators to measure progress 
towards this outcome, both from the council and across the 
borough. 

Health and Well 
Being 

The Council Plan outlines the council’s priorities and objectives 
in respect of improving the health and wellbeing of residents. 
The performance monitoring framework further includes 
indicators to measure progress towards this outcome, both 
from the council and across the borough 

Carbon Impact 
and Climate 
Change  

The Council Plan outlines the council’s priorities and objectives 
in respect of improving the local environment, including carbon 
emissions. The performance monitoring framework further 
includes indicators to measure progress towards this outcome, 
both from the council and across the borough. 

Diversity The Council Plan outlines the council’s priorities and objectives 
in respect of building stronger communities and reducing 
inequalities across the borough. The performance monitoring 
framework further includes indicators to measure progress 
towards this outcome, both from the council and across the 
borough. 

Wards Affected All 

Groups Affected Whole population 

Budget and Policy 
Framework  

The Council Plan will form part of the council’s policy 
framework 
 

Key Decision This is a key decision because following consultation, 
agreement to the recommendations will result in the Local 
Authority adopting a plan which will have an effect on the 
communities living or working in an area comprising two or 
more wards within the area of the local authority. 

Urgent Decision This is not an urgent decision for Cabinet as it will require 
adoption by full Council.  

One Darlington: 
Perfectly Placed 

The Council Plan is directly aligned to the One Darlington 
Perfectly Placed priorities and outcomes. 

Efficiency The Council Plan outlines the council’s organisational 
objectives, including improving efficiency. The performance 
monitoring framework further includes indicators to measure 
the council’s progress towards this outcome. 

Impact on Looked 
After Children and 
Care Leavers 

The Council Plan outlines the council’s commitment to ensuring 
the best outcomes for Looked After Children, and contains a 
number of objectives, planned actions, and performance 
measures relating to this target. 

 
 

  

Page 106



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MAIN REPORT 
 

Information and Analysis 
 
6. It is good practice for a Council to have a plan setting out its vision and priorities 

and the Council’s Corporate Plan 2017-2021 currently does that.  It is also 
appropriate that a new administration would review the plan and establish its own 
vision and priorities, the Council Plan is the product of the review. 
 

7. The new plan continues to support the key aims of the Community Strategy – One 
Darlington Perfectly Placed and builds on the work undertaken in previous years. 
 

8. It is proposed that there will be 6 monthly reporting to Cabinet and Scrutiny 
Committees on progress against the plan and wider performance indicators relating 
to priority outcomes and Council service delivery. 
 

9. The Council Plan is attached at Appendix 1. 
 

Consultation 
 
10. Subject to Cabinet approval, there will be a public consultation on the proposed 

plan starting 8 January 2020 and ending on 7 February 2020.  All scrutiny 
committees have special meetings arranged between 9 January and 14 January 
which will allow the plan to be considered by all committees during the consultation 
period. Furthermore, the plan along with a feedback form will be available on the 
corporate website for the duration of the consultation, with paper copies of the 
feedback form available where required.  
 

11. To help raise public awareness of the plan and consultation, the Council will use a 
number of communications channels including, but not limited to social media, local 
media, the One Darlington magazine and internal staff communications.  
Councillors are encouraged to help raise awareness of the consultation through 
their ward newsletters, ward surgeries, and any other suitable channels they have 
at their disposal.  
 

12. The outcome of the consultation will be reported to Cabinet in March.  
 
 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



Darlington Borough Council
Delivering success for Darlington

Council Plan 2020-2023

Page 109



Page 110



Foreword by the Leader of the Council  
Councillor Heather Scott OBE
Welcome to the Council Plan which sets out our vision for the period between 
now and May 2023.  The council’s focus over this time will be:

DELIVERING SUCCESS FOR DARLINGTON

And our vision for the borough is:

Darlington is a place where people want to live and businesses want to 
locate, where the economy continues to grow, where people are happy and proud of the borough and where 
everyone has the opportunity to maximise their potential. 

Darlington is a borough of opportunity with much to celebrate and to be proud of.  As a borough we outperform 
many of our North East neighbours, but we want more for Darlington and its residents.  We know we cannot rest on 
our laurels and we must strive for continuous improvement, otherwise we will go backwards.  Darlington’s economy 
performs well in terms of attracting private sector investment and delivering economic growth and whilst town centres 
are facing many challenges Darlington is seen as the third major retail centre in the region after Newcastle and the 
Metro Centre, according to the North East Chamber of Commerce. 

Economic growth is the key lever we have at our disposal to be able to deliver our long-term vision for the borough, and 
therefore growing Darlington’s economy is our top priority.  

Duncan Selbie, the Chief Executive of Public Health England, on a visit to Darlington stated “the best 
thing to improve people’s health and wellbeing is a good job and a good home.”

By growing the economy we are striving to provide the opportunity for everyone to access a good job and a good 
home, so they can maximise their potential and play their part in Darlington’s success.

You will see from our plan on a page that whilst growing the economy is crucial to delivering our vision, that other  
key priorities are included; we want to maximise people’s potential and support those who need our help.

To DELIVER SUCCESS FOR DARLINGTON, the council will create the conditions and opportunities for growth, 
but it is the private sector from which much of the investment required to deliver growth will come.  Our key partner in 
growing the economy is the Tees Valley Combined Authority, from which much of the funding required to deliver growth 
will come and be invested in Darlington and the Tees Valley.  A thriving Tees Valley economy is important for Darlington’s 
success and so we will continue to work with and support our neighbouring Tees Valley councils.

The plan on a page shows our vision and top priorities with the following pages detailing actions we intend to take 
between now and May 2023 to deliver our vision and priorities.  The plan will be reviewed annually alongside the 
council’s Medium Term Financial Plan, to take account of changing circumstances and to ensure our plans are affordable.  
The progress against the plan will be reviewed twice a year, along with other key performance indicators by Cabinet and 
the various scrutiny committees. 

The borough’s biggest asset is its residents, they make the place what it is and I hope everyone will get behind our plans 
to make it an even better place.  We should all be proud and emphasise the positive benefits of living and working in a 
great borough. 

Councillor Heather Scott OBE 
Leader of Darlington Borough Council

3

Council Plan 2020-2023

Page 111



Delivering Success for Darlington
THE VISION - Darlington is a place where people want to live and businesses want to locate, where the economy 
continues to grow, where people are happy and proud of the borough and where everyone has the opportunity to 
maximise their potential.

OUR PRIORITIES

Darlington Borough Council

MAXIMISE THE POTENTIAL  
OF OUR YOUNG PEOPLE BY:
• Working with partners 

to maximise educational 
acheivement

• Working to remove barriers 
to young people reaching their 
potential

• Working at a Tees Valley level 
to match jobs with skills and 
training.

SUPPORTING THE  
MOST VULNERABLE  
IN THE BOROUGH BY:
• Providing care and support 

when needed
• Working with people to 

build on their strengths to 
maximise their potential

• Working with partners.

WORKING WITH 
COMMUNITIES TO 
MAXIMISE THEIR 
POTENTIAL BY:
• Maximising the benefits of 

a growing economy for all 
communities

• Targeting services where they 
are most needed

• Working with partners
• Working with communities.

4

Growing Darlington’s 
Economy

By delivering:
• More sustainable 

well-paid jobs
• More businesses
• More homes

Whilst
• Valuing our heritage and culture

• Clean
• Safe
• Healthy

• Sustainable
• Well-planned
• On the move

And we will support economic growth by  
keeping the borough:

SUPPORTED BY: A dedicated workforce who are proud to serve the borough 
and an accessible, effective and engaged council.

Page 112



5

Council Plan 2020-2023

Key Actions Lead Director Lead Officer

Deliver a balanced Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and a 
positive Value for Money (VFM) outcome

Managing Director Assistant Director - 
Resources

Oversee the successful completion of existing house building joint 
venture companies

Managing Director Assistant Director - 
Resources

Maximise the council’s income from the council’s Investment Fund, 
including further joint venture housing companies

Managing Director Assistant Director - 
Resources

Maximise council tax and business rate income income through 
robust income collection processes

Managing Director Assistant Director - 
Housing & Building 
Services

Adopt a local wealth building approach to council procurement and 
work with the wider public sector in Darlington to do the same

Managing Director Director of Darlington 
Partnership/ Head 
of Procurement and 
Principal Lawyer

Increasing the availability of council services online Managing Director Head of Strategy, 
Performance and 
Communications

Review and refresh the council’s workforce strategy Managing Director Assistant Director - 
Resources

Resources Portfolio - 
Councillor Charles Johnson
This portfolio focuses on ensuring the 
council is running efficiently, effectively, 
and is well governed in order to ensure a 
balanced budget. It has oversight of activities 
that generate income for the council which 
in turn is used to enhance the services 
available to residents. It also encourages 
local public and private organisations to 
spend locally to enhance the local economy. 

“I have a vision for a council that is financially stable 
and delivering much needed services and support for 
the borough.”

Page 113



“My vision is a borough where the fear of 
crime and crime is reducing, and where 
community resilience increases.”

Darlington Borough Council

6

Stronger Communities Portfolio - 
Councillor Jonathan Dulston

Key Actions Lead Director Lead Officer

Produce, deliver and appraise a pilot for a local neighbourhood 
renewal scheme including reviewing the approach to private 
sector landlord operations to ensure residents are best 
supported and protected 

Director of Economic 
Growth

Director of Darlington 
Partnership

Utilise the skills and resources of businesses to increase 
volunteering and corporate social responsibility primarily 
through Darlington Cares

Managing Director Director of Darlington 
Partnership

Work with partners to address food instability Managing Director Director of Darlington 
Partnership

Embed the new Community Safety service and review its 
effectiveness and priorities

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Community Services

Work with Durham Constabulary and other key partners 
to improve our collective response to dealing with drug and 
alcohol issues

Managing Director Director of Public Health

Support the development of the town centre economy by 
putting appropriate measures in place and demonstrating it is a 
safe place to visit

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Community Services

Review our approach to the use of CCTV in supporting 
community safety and work with partners to enhance the 
service further

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Community Services

Oversee the implementation of the council’s equality policy Managing Director Head of Strategy, 
Performance and 
Communications

Work with partners to assess flood risk for Darlington and 
develop solutions

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Transport and Capital 
Projects

This portfolio focuses on creating the conditions for safe and 
strong communities, often working in partnership with residents 
and other agencies to identify and address localised and  
borough-wide issues. The portfolio holder has responsibility for 
ensuring the council meets its equality and diversity obligations and 
is the cabinet champion for tackling inequalities in the borough. 

Page 114



7

Council Plan 2020-2023

Children and Young People Portfolio - 
Councillor Paul Crudass

Key Actions Lead Director Lead Officer

Provide excellent services for children and young people with 
special educational needs and disability (SEND) - implement 
a new SEND strategy, increase the number of SEND places 
in schools and work to raise SEND funding levels from 
central government

Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Head of Education and 
Inclusion

Continue to increase the number of in-house foster carers to 
reduce the need for independent placements

Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Assistant Director - Children’s 
Services

Review in-house residential care and consider the council’s 
place in providing services

Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Assistant Director - 
Commissioning Performance 
and Transformation/Assistant 
Director - Children’s Services

Reduce the need for looked after children placements 
through effective implementation of the Darlington 
Strengthening Families programme

Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Assistant Director - Children’s 
Services

Improve employment opportunities for looked after children 
and care leavers

Chief Officers Executive/
Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Chief Officers Board

Work with partners to reduce youth and long-term 
unemployment, by increasing the opportunity for retraining 
and apprenticeships leading to gainful employment

Director of Children and 
Adult Services/Director of 
Economic Growth

Head of Education and 
Inclusion/Assistant Director - 
Children’s Services/Assistant 
Director - Economic Growth

Work with schools and the Regional Schools Commissioner 
to increase educational achievement across the borough and, 
in particular, for young people from deprived backgrounds 

Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Head of Education and 
Inclusion

Deliver and review the In2 Project to support disadvantaged 
children to participate in Arts, Leisure and Culture to 
maximise their potential

Director of Economic 
Growth/ 
Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Assistant Director - 
Community Services/ 
Assistant Director - Children’s 
Services/ 
Head of Education and 
Inclusion

Implement as far as possible, within limited resources, after 
school homework clubs and holiday enrichment activities

Managing Director Director of Darlington 
Partnership

This portfolio focuses on ensuring that every child in Darlington has the best start in life so that our children and young 
people can grow and flourish. There are some groups of children who require enhanced and targeted support to 
achieve their full potential. 

“My vision is a borough where young 
people get the best start in life, can 
maximise their potential and are safe.”

Page 115



Darlington Borough Council

8

Key Actions Lead Director Lead Officer

Develop key economic sites to be investor ready 
at Central Park, Ingenium Park and Faverdale, and 
complete Feethams House

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Economic Growth/ 
Assistant Director - 
Transport and Capital 
Projects

Maximise employment opportunities for Darlington 
residents at the Symmetry Park development

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Economic Growth

Work with indigenous companies to identify and 
attract further job creating investment

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Economic Growth

Deliver the Town Centre Strategy leading to a 
diversified and successful town centre

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Economic Growth

Work with Market Asset Management to deliver 
a refurbished and vibrant covered market and 
successful outdoor market

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Economic Growth

Successful adoption of the Local Plan Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Economic Growth

Create the conditions to deliver hundreds of new 
homes each year, ensuring sufficiency of  
affordable homes

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Economic Growth

Develop the council’s response to the agreed 
Climate Change Emergency and begin delivery of the 
agreed plan

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Economic Growth

Develop the Darlington Station project and 
regeneration opportunities for the surrounding 
areas including Victoria Road, the cattle market and 
Neasham Road areas

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Transport and Capital 
Projects

Economy Portfolio - 
Councillor Alan Marshall

This portfolio focuses on growing the local economy 
and the implementation of a long term plan (known as 
the Local Plan) for the development of the borough. 
There is a focus on creating the conditions to attract 
new businesses and to help our indigenous businesses 
grow in order to maximise employment opportunities 
for Darlington residents.

“My vision is a borough where economic 
growth is high and the benefits are enjoyed by 
all residents.”

Page 116



9

Council Plan 2020-2023

Local Services Portfolio - 
Councillor Heather Scott

Key Actions Lead Director Lead Officer

Finalise plans for the Rail Heritage Quarter and 
initiate implementation of the plans together with 
partners

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Community Services

With the Tees Valley Combined Authority (TVCA), 
plan the 2025 celebrations for the Stockton and 
Darlington Passenger Railway

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Community Services

Deliver the refurbishment and modernisation of the 
Crown Street Library service

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Community Services

Ensure the town centre is clean, animated, and 
vibrant with an extensive range of events and festivals

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Community Services

Review and deliver a revised car parking strategy Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Transport and Capital 
Projects

Work with TVCA to deliver improved transport links 
within Darlington and the Tees Valley

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Transport and Capital 
Projects

Modernise Darlington’s crematorium service Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Community Services

Work with TVCA to develop a sustainable Teesside 
International Airport

Director of Economic 
Growth/ 
Managing Director

Assistant Director - 
Economic Growth

This portfolio focuses on ensuring we have the right 
balance of high quality services and events to meet the 
needs and expectations of a wide range of local people. 
This involves modernising a number of our key public 
buildings, creating the conditions for a thriving and vibrant 
town centre, planning and celebrating our rail heritage, 
regeneration of Darlington station and the surrounding 
area, and working with partners improve transport links.

“My vision is a borough that is attractive, green and clean, 
with a wide variety of activities to be enjoyed and a transport 
offer that facilitates efficient movement and develops options 
to reduce carbon emissions in the borough.”

Page 117



Darlington Borough Council

10

Key Actions Lead Director Lead Officer

Review the vacant space within the Dolphin Centre to 
improve the leisure offer and so maximise income 

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Community Services

Review proposals presented by Mowden Park Rugby 
Club to deliver in partnership with the Council, a  
sports village 

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Economic Growth

Continue to build new council houses each year and 
ensure the existing council housing stock is maintained 
to a high standard

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Housing and Building 
Services

Maximise rental and service charge income from 
council tenants to ensure we are able to provide them 
with a comprehensive range of good quality housing 
management and support services

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Housing and Building 
Services

Continue to implement the Darlington Preventing 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Housing and Building 
Services

Maintain oversight and offer challenge to health and 
care services that support individuals to achieve good 
mental, physical and emotional health as identified in a 
wide range of partnership plans such as Best Start in 
life, autism awareness, alcohol plan, suicide prevention, 
healthy workforce, and ageing well

Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Director of Public Health

Implement the Darlington Child Healthy Weight Plan 
with partners

Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Director of Public Health

Implement the Darlington Oral Health Plan 2017-2022 
with partners

Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Director of Public Health

Continue the reduction in smoking to achieve a smoke 
free Darlington (i.e. just 5% of total population smoking) 
by 2030

Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Director of Public Health

Health and Housing Portfolio - 
Councillor Lorraine Tostevin

This portfolio focuses on helping people across the 
borough to live long and healthy lives.  It looks at the 
facilities available to help people keep fit and healthy, 
services that help people to be physically and mentally 
well, the provision of high quality council housing and 
the prevention of homelessness.

“My vision is a borough where people enjoy 
productive, healthy lives. They will have access 
to excellent leisure facilities and recognising the 
importance of having a home, there will be access 
to quality social housing.”

Page 118



11

Council Plan 2020-2023

Adults Portfolio - 
Councillor Rachel Mills

Key Actions Lead Director Lead Officer

Continue to deliver modern transformed Adult Social 
Care that results in positive outcomes

Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Assistant Director - 
Adult Social Care/ 
Assistant Director 
- Commissioning 
Performance and 
Transformation

Work with individuals to maximise independence and 
reduce demand on services

Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Assistant Director - 
Adult Social Care

Continue to implement initiatives that tackle social 
isolation

Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Assistant Director 
- Commissioning 
Performance and 
Transformation

Continue to deliver the Lifeline services and increase 
promotion and take up

Director of Economic 
Growth

Assistant Director - 
Housing and Building 
Services

 Promote and increase the use of assistive technology Director of Children and 
Adult Services

Assistant Director - 
Housing and Building 
Services

This portfolio focuses on supporting the most 
vulnerable adults in our society and helping them remain 
in their own homes by maximising their independence. 
Adult services will continue find creative and innovative 
ways to deliver good outcomes for our most vulnerable 
residents. 

“My vision is a borough where vulnerable adults can be 
helped and supported to maximise their independence and 
enjoy life to the full, and where care services are available to 
those in need.”

Page 119



Page 120



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CABINET 
7 JANUARY 2020 

 
CAPITAL WORKS REQUIRED AT CROWN STREET LIBRARY 

 

 
Responsible Cabinet Member – Councillor Heather Scott, 

Leader and Local Services Portfolio 
 

Responsible Director -  
Ian Williams, Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services 

 

 
SUMMARY REPORT 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To seek approval for Members to release the capital allocation included in the 

Capital Plan 2020/21 to 2023/24 for the refurbishment of Crown Street Library and 
to consider the proposal to increase revenue for the Library service subject to the 
outcome of the MTFP.     
 

Summary 
 
2. There has been a significant amount of consultation and a number of reports 

presented to Cabinet in recent years with regard to Crown Street Library and the 
wider Library service.  This report presents a proposal to refurbish Crown Street 
Library alongside replacing the roof, mechanical and electrical installations and the 
required structural repairs, and highlights the additional revenue resources 
required.   
 

3. The proposals take on board comments received from previous consultations and 
the latest conversation held in February/March 2019.  The new refurbishment work 
will be carried out sympathetically to reflect the historic nature of the building.   
 

4. In addition, there is a proposal within the MTFP 2020/21 to 2023/24 to increase the 
revenue allocation by £180,000 per annum to maintain adequate staff and to 
restore the book fund to previous levels.   
 

Recommendation 
 
5. It is recommended that; 

 
(a) Subject to Council confirming the allocation of £2.9million for the refurbishment 

of Crown Street Library in the Capital Plan 2020/21 to 2023/24, Cabinet 
approve the release of these funds.  
 

(b) That the procurement be designated strategic and delegated to the Council 
Procurement Board, chaired by the Managing Director, with updates on 
contract awards reported to members in the Procurement Annual Pan Report.   
 

Page 121

Agenda Item 7(e)



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Reasons 
 
6. The recommendation is supported to enable the refurbishment and restoration of 

Crown Street Library.   
 

Ian Williams 
Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services 

 
 
Background Papers 
Previous Cabinet Reports:  
1. Library Service Update (11 September 2018) 
2. Library Service (17 January 2017) 
3. MTFP Library Services Proposals (22 June 2016) 

 
Ian Thompson : Extension 6612 
CD 

 
 

S17 Crime and Disorder The content of this report does not impact on 
crime and disorder.   

Health and Well Being The Library service does have an impact on 
the health and well-being of the people who 
use the service.   

Carbon Impact and Climate 
Change  

There will be a positive impact on carbon 
emissions as a result of upgrading the 
mechanical and electrical installations.   

Diversity There is no impact on any particular individual 
as a result of this report.   

Wards Affected The Library is located in Park East Ward, 
however residents from across the Borough 
use the facilities.   

Groups Affected There will be no impact on any individual group 
as a result of this report.   

Budget and Policy Framework  There will be no impact on the Budget or Policy 
Framework.   

Key Decision This is a key decision.  

Urgent Decision This is not an urgent decision.   

One Darlington: Perfectly 
Placed 

The Library service does impact on a number 
of priorities within One Darlington Perfectly 
Placed.   

Efficiency The refurbishment of the Library does not 
impact on the Council’s efficiency agenda.   

Impact on Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers 

This report has no impact on Looked After 
Children or Care Leavers  

 
  

Page 122



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MAIN REPORT 
 

Information and Analysis 
 
7. Cabinet have previously considered a number of reports with regard to the Library 

service, the last one being 11 September 2018 where Members decided to retain 
the central library service at Crown Street.  Part of the report discussed the 
potential financial implications with regard to the capital development, suggesting 
an investment of £2million would be required.  However, at the time of the report 
detailed work and design had not taken place therefore this was a preliminary 
indication of the potential cost.  Subsequent detailed studies and design has taken 
place.   
 

8. It was also agreed that further consultation would take place with residents with 
regard to the Library service, which was carried out during February and March 
2019.  Further details are included in this report.   
 

9. At Cabinet in October this year, Members approved appointing a number of 
independent trustees as well as setting up a Library Service Consultative Group.  
Work is underway on appointing the trustees and the initial Library Consultative 
Group is set up for Wednesday 22 January 2020 at 4pm where the proposals for 
the redevelopment of Crown Street Library can be discussed.   
 

Proposal 
 
10. Any works carried out to Crown Street Library will need to address the long-term 

issues with regard to the roof, structural, mechanical and electrical, as well as a 
sympathetic refurbishment of the building alongside improving access.  The 
proposed design has also taken on board the outcome of various consultations 
over the last few years and therefore very few changes are being proposed 
structurally to the overall layout of the building.   
 

11. The key to increasing footfall, moving forward, is to: 
 
(a) Deliver a strong events and activity programme 
(b) Refresh and improve the offer for children 
(c) Improve the offer for teenagers 
(d) Improve the overall ICT infrastructure within the building 
(e) Retain and improve Local Studies 
(f) Respect the heritage of the building 
(g) Improve the toilet facilities 

 
12. The proposed design includes the following key elements: 

 
(a) The existing entrance from Crown Street will be adapted to make it accessible 

for all customers, introducing a lift as well as retaining the existing lift at the 
corner of Crown Street/Priestgate. 
 

(b) The overall layout of the Library will generally be retained in its current form, 
retaining the Art Gallery, Local Studies, Children’s Area, Learning Area, 
Study/Reference and Lending.   
 

Page 123



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) ICT equipment and plug-in points will be available throughout the Library, not 
just in the Learning Area. 
 

(d) The existing reception desk will be removed, self-service points located at 
various locations as well as information hubs.  Customers who require 
assistance with borrowing books or general information/advice will still be able 
to get this from Library staff.   
 

(e) New toilets and family changing will be introduced into the space behind where 
the existing reception desk is located.   
 

(f) Where appropriate the existing furniture will be retained, maintaining the 
authentic feel to the building.   
 

(g) The refurbishment/redecoration would be sympathetic to the historic nature of 
the building.   
 

(h) However, the Children’s Area will be bright and vibrant, appropriate to the 
audience.     
 

(i) Interpretation will be introduced, telling the story of Crown Street Library.   
 

13. Attached at Appendix 1 is the proposed layout for Crown Street Library.  Attached 
at Appendix 2 is the mood board presentation and the potential options for the 
appearance and feel of the refurbished Crown Street building.  
 

14. A significant proportion of the allocated funds will be required to address the 
ongoing issues with the building with regard to re-roofing, carrying out structural 
repairs, and provision of new mechanical and electrical equipment throughout.  
There will be minimal work carried out in the basement, however where 
appropriate, redecoration will take place.   
 

15. Throughout the latest conversation and previous consultation, there has been a 
number of comments with regard to providing a café within the Library that would 
help generate income to offset the deficit.  It is not believed by officers that there 
will be adequate turnover to generate a surplus and the likely outcome is that a 
café facility would add an additional financial burden on the Library service.  It is 
therefore not proposed to include a café facility within the Library, however a 
refreshment service through appropriate vending machines will be provided.   
 

16. The level of work required will undoubtedly have significant operational issues for 
the service, as it will not be possible to undertake the work whilst having a fully 
operational library, so there will be a need for service reductions during the building 
works.  The building works will be phased with parts of the building being closed off 
to the public at times and, if required, any full closures will be kept to an absolute 
minimum.  The detail of the phasing plan is currently being finalised.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 124



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Timescale 
 
17. Subject to Cabinet approval to release the funding, it is anticipated that the 

timetable will be as follows over a 14-month period: 
 

Planning January to April 2020 

Roof replacement Spring/Summer 2020 

Internal Works Autumn/Winter 2020 

 
Conversation about the Future of the Library Service at Crown Street 
 
18. There were 262 responses to the conversation about the future of the Library 

service at Crown Street, which ran from February to March 2019.  In addition, two 
focus groups were held with groups of children and young people to ascertain their 
views about the Library service.  Attached at Appendix 3 is the analysis.   
 

19. Two key questions were asked: 
 
(a) What would you like to see provided as part of the Library service in the 

Central Library and elsewhere in the Borough? 
 

(b) Is there anything you wouldn’t want to see provided as part of the Library 
service in the Central Library and elsewhere in the Borough? 
 

20. There was strong support for activities and events for both children and adults, 
various comments with regard to the refurbishment of the building, as well as a 
range of other comments about the building and service.  In preparing the proposed 
design for Crown Street Library, the outcome of the conversation and previous 
consultations that have taken place have been taken on board.  However, it is 
impossible to reflect everyone’s views as there are a number that conflict.   
 

21. It is believed that the proposals put forward for the building will provide the best 
opportunity to address the majority of residents’ concerns and desires for the 
service therefore enabling the Library team to increase footfall and use of Crown 
Street and the wider Library service.   

 
Financial Implications Capital 
 
22. The capital cost for the proposed scheme is £2.9 million.  This has increased since 

the figure quoted in the January 2018 report as at that time, as mentioned earlier, 
detailed studies and design had not taken place.  In addition, it is not anticipated 
that work will commence until Quarter 2 of 2020, therefore there is also an 
inflationary impact on the budget.   
 

23. The estimated breakdown of the £2.9million capital allocation is as follows: 
 

 £ 

Refurbishment works including asbestos removal 240,000 

Mechanical and electrical installations 637,000 

Structural works including roof replacement 735,000 

Fitting out/interpretation 280,000 

Prelim, contingency, design and inflation 1,008,000 

Total 2,900,000 

Page 125



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
24. The capital cost of the proposed scheme is built into the Council’s Capital 

Programme and accounted for in the 2020/21 MTFP and will be funded from 
corporate resources. 
 

Financial Implications Revenue 
 
25. A saving target of £250,000 was built into the previous MTFP to be delivered by 

2020/21.  This saving was made up of £60,000 for books and £190,000 for staffing.  
Currently there are a number of posts vacant within the Library staffing structure 
and a saving of £70,000 out of the £250,000 is currently being achieved.   
 

26. To enable the service to deliver on increasing footfall, it will be necessary to build 
back in additional resources to the MTFP.  It is therefore proposed to add back in 
£180,000, £60,000 for books and £120,000 for staffing.  This proposal is subject to 
the 2020/21 MTFP being approved.   
 

Library Service – Crown Street 
 
27. Additional resources will enable the existing services at Crown Street Library to 

continue to be delivered, including: 
 
(a) Adult Lending Library 
(b) Children’s Library 
(c) Reference Library 
(d) Centre for Local Studies 
(e) Increased events and activities for both children, young people and adults 
(f) Bookstart Rhyme Time sessions 
(g) Facilities for schools 
(h) Teen/Young Persons area 
(i) Study Area 
(j) ICT facilities throughout 
(k) Community Engagement both within Crown Street and external buildings/sites 
(l) Meeting rooms and community activities 
(m) Self-service 
(n) Photocopying and fax 

 
28. As mentioned earlier, additional resources will enable staff to develop a programme 

that will engage a broader audience therefore increasing footfall to the overall 
Library service.   
 

29. It is also proposed that the opening hours of Crown Street Library will remain the 
same as they are currently: 
 
Monday, 9am to 6pm 
Tuesday, 9am to 6pm 
Wednesday 9am to 5pm 
Thursday, 10am to 6pm 
Friday, 9am to 5pm 
Saturday, 9am to 4pm 
Sunday, closed 
 

Page 126



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

A total of 49 hours per week 
 

HR Implications  
 
30. In order to deliver a strong programme and range of events and activities at the 

Library, alongside engaging residents in the service, it is necessary to review the 
existing staffing structure, putting in place one that is fit for the future.  This will 
require consultation with the staff and trade unions prior to any implementation.   
 

Procurement Advice 
 
31. The Council’s in-house Building Services team will deliver the project in line with 

corporate procurement rules.   
 

32. The procurement has been assessed by the Corporate Procurement team to be 
Strategic and it is proposed that Cabinet agree the designation and that the 
decision for contract awards be delegated to the Council Procurement Board, 
chaired by the Managing Director, subject to a procurement process carried out in 
accordance with the Council Contract Procedure Rules.  
 

33. That updates on contract awards be reported to members in the Annual 
Procurement Plan report.  

 
 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



up

up

ENTRANCE ENTRANCE

Gallery

Lobby

Lobby

up

down

Lobby

Children's Section

Lending Section
Entrance Lobby

Office

Meetings

Local Studies

wc

wc

Lift

Lift

Alarm

Family

F
Acc.

Reference / Study Area

Learning Area M

Notes

All dimensions are in millimeters, contractor is responsible for
verification of dimensions on site with any discrepancies to be
reported back to Architects prior starting works.

Where proprietary references are used other or equal and
approved is also acceptable.

All work is to be undertaken to the satisfaction of the the Local
Authority Building Control Officer. All materials must comply
with the latest British Standards and Codes of Practice.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with Engineers
drawings and details.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with M&E consultants
drawings.

Any discrepancies to be reported back to the Architect.

Do not scale from this drawing.

DRAWING NO. REV.

DRAWN CHECKED

SCALE DATE

REF.

PROJECT

C.Morrison

P = PreliminaryRev.
By NoteDateRev

A-Z = ConstructionO = Tender

DARLINGTON

BOROUGH COUNCIL

ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Crown Street Library
Restoration.
Crown Street, Darlington.

Proposed Ground Floor Plan.

2018_032_ Feasibility 4

1:100 @ A1 October 2018

M.Johnson

2018_032

O

P r o p o s e d   G r o u n d   F l o o r   P l a n.
S c a l e . 1 : 100.

P
age 129

AutoCAD SHX Text
17 Allington way 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
DL1 4QB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
Tel: (01325) 380722  Fax (01325) 388724

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
Building Design Services

STRI2085
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



mood board
thedesignconcept

Darlington Library

P
age 131

STRI2085_1
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX 2



case studies - heritage projects

Halifax Central Library

ideas for the lending section, 
local studies and lobby

mood board
thedesignconcept

Darlington Library

P
age 132



mood board
thedesignconcept

Darlington Library

Kevin Street Library 
in Dublin

An adjacent authentic 
reading room to sit, relax 
and enjoy the latest read 
in, with beautiful walnut 
and leather chairs that 
complement the restored 
shelving perfectly. 

Modern furniture blends 
seamlessly with the 
traditional feel of the 
room.

P
age 133



Darlington Library mood board
thedesignconcept

Kevin Street Library 
in Dublin

inspiration The PCs are housed on a 
stunning “tree inspired” 
desk unit with integral 
overhead lighting.

P
age 134



Eccles Public Library The shelving and furniture 
specified along with the 
colours selected have 
been carefully chosen to 
not only blend in with the 
wonderful period features 
of the building but to 
also offer the modern 
ambience that any new 
build library would strive to 
offer.Darlington Library mood board

thedesignconcept

P
age 135



mood board
thedesignconcept

Darlington Library

Inspiration:

Architecture 
features of the 
interior space,
ceiling, windows 

P
age 136



idea  

Modern furniture blend with 
restored wooden tables.

mood board
thedesignconcept

Darlington Library

P
age 137



case studies

Darlington Library mood board
thedesignconcept

ideas for the Children’s areas

The Harris Museum, 
Art Gallery & Library

Concept design - Proposal 
for the children’s area in 
The Harris.

P
age 138



mood board
thedesignconcept

Darlington Library

Learn - Grow
Play - Test
Inspire - Create
Interact/ Engage - Experience

P
age 139



mood board
thedesignconcept

Darlington Library

inspiration The Side - a feature that 
will be remain a fond 
memory throughout the 
lives of the children who 
use it.

P
age 140



mood board
thedesignconcept

Darlington Library

Great Sankey Neighbourhood Hub is 
aiming to be the first public building 
to gain the University of Stirling’s 
Dementia Services Development 
Centre (DSDC) Gold Award for its 
dementia-friendly architecture, design 
and facilities.

Dementia-friendly design

case study

P
age 141



signage and graphics

Darlington Library
thedesignconcept

mood board

What’s in
Your Library
                    Ground Floor

First Floor
Community Meeting Room 1
Community Meeting Room 2
Computers
Art Upstairs

>
>
>
>
>
>

? ?

6 7 8 9

Client      Edinburgh City Council
Project      Morningside Library

Stage      Archway texts
Date      12 September 2011

c

City Scape 1 - Location 2

quote from Harry Potter quote from ‘The one O’clock 
gun’ Douglas Fraser

‘He has knobbly knees and turned out toes,
And a poisonous wart and the end of his nose.
His eyes are orange, his tongue is black, 
He has purple prickles all over his back. ’

Julia Donaldson - The Gruffolo

P
age 142



mood board
thedesignconcept

Darlington Library

colour palette

fact: Darlington Library was designed 
in Renaissance style in 1884.

inspiration: Herod’s Banquet, 1486-
1490 Domenico Ghirlandaio Italian 
Renaissance Painting

P
age 143



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

APPENDIX 3 

Conversation about the Future of Library Service of Crown Street: 
Consultation Analysis 
 

262 responses were received to the Conversation about the Future of Library Service of Crown Street consultation 

which ran from February to March 2019. In addition, two focus groups were held with groups of children and young 

people to ascertain attendees’ views about the library service.  

Respondents were asked what they would like to see and not like to see in the library service, and answers received 

to these questions related to a wide range of issues. The analysis outlined below has attempted to categorise 

feedback by issue, and outline the range of views received, including – in many cases – opposing opinions. 

Categories are listed alphabetically, with miscellaneous responses detailed at the end of each section.  

Equality information, showing how the demographics of respondents – where this was reported – relates to the 

borough population, is outlined at the end of the report.  

 

1. Responses to question: “What would you like to see provided as part of the library service in the central 

library and elsewhere in the borough?” 
 

258 out of 262 respondents gave an answer to this question, in addition to responses received during two 

consultative forums held with groups of children and young people. Given the open-ended question, most answers 

related to multiple areas/issues therefore the numbers outlined below do not always sum to total: 

Activities 

 84 respondents (32%) made requests relating to activities the library service should provide for adults, 

including: 

o Adult education classes, both during the day and evenings, including: 

 Local history 

 English 

 Writing 

 IT 

 Photography 

 Presenting 

 Languages 

o Presentations / talks /debates on topics, including Art and Darlington heritage 

o Performances 

o Exhibitions, including monthly outreach shows and more frequent exhibitions of local history 

o After hours events, including: 

 Quiz nights 

 Music 

 Tastings 

 Comedy events 

 Themed book evenings 

 Films 

 Friends of the library 

drinks 

 Wine and book nights 

o Author events / book readings / book festivals, including Crossing the Tees / book clubs 

o Themed workshops and fairs, including crafts, family history and meditation and mindfulness 

o Regular tours 

o Social clubs / games clubs / poetry groups / knitting groups 

o Local enterprise events 

o Projects with positive social impact 

o Support groups, including: 

 AA meetings 

 Groups to address loneliness 

 Courses for parents 

 Employability support including free courses  

Page 145



 

2 
 

 Free lunch club 

 Outreach services e.g. social services / health 

visitors 

 Literacy support 

 Peripatetic services 

 Support for blind or hard of hearing 

 For people in poverty with learning 

difficulties 

o Heritage trail and map, beginning at the library 

o Events linked to other venues e.g. Head of Steam and Hippodrome 

o Letting library staff decide events 

Art 

 41 respondents (16%) made requests relating to art being displayed at the central library, including: 

o 18 requests for the current dedicated art space/gallery to be retained  

o 9 requests related to artworks, including: 

 6 requests for the borough art collection be displayed/retained and 2 requests for local art 

to be displayed 

 2 requests for local art to be displayed 

 2 requests for artworks to be available to lend/rent 

 1 request for art for sale be displayed in a new café 

o 8 requests for regular, quality art exhibitions  

o 5 requests for the current dedicated art space/gallery be expanded/improved, including by: 

 Using the area as a versatile space, such as a hosting and reception facility 

 Better lighting, such as a lighting track and spotlights 

 Wallboards and secure display cases for 3d objects 

 Adjustable tables and chairs 

 Temporary coverings for workshops 

 An audio-visual area 

o 1 request for the art gallery be renamed the ‘Myles Meehan Gallery’ 

o 1 request for the art gallery to be monitored, potentially by volunteers 

 

Children’s Provision 

Children’s Library 

 56 respondents (21%) made requests relating to the children’s library, including: 

o 19 requests related to the children’s library stock, including: 

 Educational materials linked to the curriculum, including KS1/2/3  

 A good range / lots of books for all age ranges 

 Foreign language books 

 Toys 

 More audiobooks that are easy to find 

 Being able to take lots of books home at once 

 Getting rid of fines 

 Manga and gaming books 

 DVDs of books for children with reading difficulties 

 Asking children what stock they would like 

o 10 requests for specific areas, including: 

 A reading area 

 A play area / a den 

 A separate areas for teens 

 A sensory room 

 An education area 

Page 146



 

3 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 An interactive area to learn about Darlington e.g. ingenious theme / science exhibits 

 A playpen for under 3s 

 A bright display area 

 A carpeted area 

 Some big open spaces 

o 5 requests for computers to be available in the children’s library, including free access for homework 

clubs and 1 request for more sockets 

o 5 requests for new furniture, including: 

 3 requests for new multiuse furniture, including novelty shelves and furniture allowing room 

for activities 

 2 requests for child-friendly furniture 

o 3 requests for 3D and/or bright murals 

o 3 requests for the children’s library be separate to the rest of the library 

o 3 requests for doors  

o 1 reminder that children like magic (and old, quirky buildings) 

o 1 request for more recognition treats be given to children to award attendance 

o 1 request for a storyteller’s chair or cloak and 1 request for story sacks 

Children’s Activities 

 79 respondents (30%) made requests relating to children and young people activities, including: 

o A wide range of clubs, including reading / coding / chess / Lego / homework / films / crafts / knitting 

/ drama / music / IT / games / singing,  

o Book events, including guest authors and writing workshops and Bookstart Rhymetime 

o Cake sales 

o Events for specific groups, including: 

 home-schooled children,  

 SEND children,  

 children who have English as a second language,  

 all different age ranges 

o Activities in partnership with schools, including competitions, visits and revision classes 

o Soft play 

o Theme events, including: 

 Easter egg hunts,  

 Harry Potter events 

 Animals 

 Magicians 

 Science shows like Cool Science / Centre for Alternative Technology activities / slime 

workshops 

 Sleepovers 

 Stop animation workshops 

o Family activities, including some which are free 

 1 request for a separate time and facility to be made available for children’s activities 

 1 request for a secure space for children’s activities 

Cockerton Library 

 12 respondents (5%) made requests relating to Cockerton library, including: 

o 4 requests for current events to be retained and/or expanded 

o 1 request for full opening hours be reinstated  

o 1 request for more books 

o 1 request for repairs/improvements be made 

Page 147



 

4 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

o 1 request for more exhibition space 

o 1 request for the staff be left to run it 

General Refurbishment  

 86 respondents (33%) made requests relating to the general refurbishment of the library, including: 

o Ensuring it is accessible for people with disabilities and buggies, including a disabled parking bay 

o Fixing the roof and guttering 

o Updating the heating system 

o Replacing the glass panels 

o Improving the outside appearance, including colourful lighting, repairing the wall and adding 

authors’ names to the steps 

o Making all areas of the library feel welcoming 

o Ensuring all available space is used, including the basement 

o Doing it quickly 

o Installing more and comfortable seating, including sofas, in all areas 

o Making it more modern 

o Including a dedicated area for genealogy 

o Retaining the ambience e.g. by 

  conserving/enhancing period features and furniture,  

 ensuring any new additions are in keeping with the traditional style 

 using a Victorian paint palette 

 like for like repairs or replacements 

 keeping it homely 

o Installing a mezzanine floor(s) 

o Improved staff facilities 

o Developing open space that is stimulating and calming 

o Having it designed by creative people, including local students who can get involved in decorating 

o Linking the library and art gallery 

o Maximising light (but not required in shelving) 

o Ensuring it is environmentally friendly e.g. solar panels 

o Installing a revolving door 

o Installing more debit card machines 

o Installing murals/pictures of Darlington past and present 

o No changes 

o Restoring the panels from the children’s library 

o Opening up the archives 

o Ensuring regular ongoing maintenance 

o Including book benches 

o Installing/updating tiles around the main door and floor tiles 

o Relocating: 

 the CLS to the art gallery  

 the art gallery to the computer room or Indoor Market 

 the reference library to the CLS 

 the children’s library to the Dolphin Centre 

o Installing a modern, three storey, circular extension, ‘The Wheel’, on the back of the existing building 

with different areas to focus on aspects of Darlington’s heritage 

o Looking at other refurbished buildings for inspiration, including the Salt Mill in York and Old Manor 

Park Library in London 

o Including a specific area for teenagers 

o Installing an additional mini gallery for children in the foyer 

Page 148



 

5 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

o Regularly changing sculptures 

o Moving stock storage elsewhere 

o Opening the ladies’ reading room 

o Improving the layout of the main entrance 

o Giving it a deep cleanse 

o Get rid of closed doors to public areas 

o Installing easy clean, e.g. leather/ette, and ergonomic furniture 

o Using specialist experts e.g. from installation of electrical/plumbing/heating to full architectural 

survey and condition report and conservation management plan 

o Ensuring an even temperature 

o Dividing up bigger spaces with glass dividers 

o Uncovering the mill race underneath the northern entrance lobby and installing a glass floor 

o Reinstating the original entrance 

Heritage Area(s) 

 16 respondents (6%) requested a dedicated heritage space(s) be installed, including: 

o 6 requests for a museum area, with specific requests to: 

 exhibit items/information relating to local history 

 condense Darlington History with video links of Head of Steam 

o 6 requests for existing historic displays to be retained 

o 4 requests for a rail heritage area to be included 

I.T. Facilities 

 49 respondents (19%) made requests in relation to the I.T. facilities at central library, including: 

o 18 requests related to the provision of internet at central library, including: 

 7 requests for longer free internet access  

 6 requests for WiFi, of which 5 were for this to be free 

 1 request for good computers with fast broadband and able to output onto drives / printers 

o 14 requests for computers to be available, including for research and reference projects 

o 14 requests for printing (including wireless and 3d) / photocopying and/or scanning (including A3) 

facilities  

o 2 requests for virtual reality provision to be made available 

o 2 requests for a teaching area / training provision be made available 

o 1 request for tablets for children  

o 1 request for Microsoft software on library computers 

o 1 request for the library to become a trendsetter in digital use including digital library cards, 

augmented reality, artificial intelligence, blockchain technology, robots, drones, mobile apps and 

Library Planet 

o 3 requests for staff be available to help I.T. users, including with job searches and I.T. skills etc. 

o 2 requests for charging points 

o 1 request for the current level of privacy in the I.T. suite be retained 

o 1 request for the computer suite be downsized 

Lending Library 

 63 respondents (24%) made requests relating to the adult lending library service, including: 

o 38 requests for more stock, including: 

 More / full / better / good range of stock 

 CDs and DVDs, including foreign language 

 New and old books, including hardcopies, self-help books, eBooks, large print and braille 

books, and books better reflecting local needs 

Page 149



 

6 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Video game rentals 

 Audiobooks 

o 2 requests for services for book clubs, including: 

 lists of books with several copies 

 allowing groups to review books for other clubs 

 expanded choices for book clubs 

o 2 requests relating to access to books, including: 

 digital access 

 easy access  

o 1 request for a book borrowing catalogue 

o 1 request for a 24 hour drop off box 

o 1 request for the borrowbox app to be adopted 

o 1 request for lists be provided for books of similar authors 

o 1 request for a section for new books 

o 1 request for music books be removed 

o 1 request for more space be dedicated to the lending library, with modern shelves and a smaller 

counter 

o 1 request for that large letters be put on the top of book shelves i.e. A to C 

o 1 request for the electronic check in/out machines be retained 

o 1 request for the provision of CDs be reviewed 

o 1 request for movable shelves to be installed (no higher than 1.5m), and some low level tables and 

chairs 

o 1 request for the lending library to be downsized 

o 1 request for an interactive device to locate books 

Lift 

 7 respondents (3%) made requests relating to lift provision at central library, including: 

o 3 requests for the lift to be improved e.g. faster and bigger 

o 2 felt provision of a lift was important 

o 1 request for the lift be relocated closer to the main entrance 

o 1 request for the original 1930s lift be restored 

o 1 request for a staff lift to the basement be installed 

o 1 request for a barrier to be constructed at the street entrance 

o 1 request for the lift to be accessible for people with disabilities 

o 1 request for the lift to be regularly serviced 

Local Studies 

 37 respondents (14%) made requests relating to the Centre for Local Studies, including: 

o 14 requests for the CLS be expanded / improved, including: 

 Bigger collection 

 More trade journals 

 New microfilm printing machines 

 Responsibility for the historic archive materials of the borough 

 Being made the library focal point and signposting to all aspects of Darlington’s heritage 

 Items made available to request, including books 

 Historic murals 

 Better and/or dedicated space for displays 

 More power sockets 

 More daylight 

o 6 related to access, including: 

Page 150



 

7 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 More information on how to access the CLS 

 Easier access to archives with guidance regarding what’s available 

 Online digital resources 

o 5 requests for adequate staffing 

o 2 requests for historic content to be saved and digitised 

o 2 requests for the current online subscriptions in the CLS be retained 

o 2 requests for items to have safe and secure storage 

o 1 request related to furniture, including: 

 wide, sturdy tables 

 comfortable chairs, including wheeled and stackable 

 glazed cupboards retained 

 bench tables for IT 

 display cases and screens 

 robust shelving 

Marketing 

 24 respondents (9%) made requests relating to marketing of the library service, including: 

o advertising on school notice boards, the library website, social media, One Darlington magazine, 

posters in council buildings, brochures, local newspapers, the housebound van, the Cornmill etc. 

o targeting non-users 

o decent branding and promotion 

o working with schools/colleges for ideas 

o an events programme 

o posters about new books 

o making relevant staff aware of events and encourage sharing 

o raising awareness of online offer 

o spending more money on marketing 

o printing the same number of posters as for other community services and use these venues to 

advertise 

o better advertising children’s events 

Online Services 

 10 respondents (4%) made requests relating to the library service’s online provision, including: 

o 3 requests for improved online options including digital portals to search for books and digital book 

access 

o 2 requests for online booking facilities for events 

o 1 request for Skype and online book clubs for people who can’t visit the library in person 

o 1 request for a digital strategy for the library website 

o 1 request for the library website to be easier to find on council website and have a more 

straightforward web address 

o 1 request for event information on the website to be directly linked to the Facebook page  

Opening Hours 

 17 respondents (6%) made requests relating to opening hours, including: 

o 14 requests for longer opening hours, including later on weekdays and Saturdays, and on Sundays 

o 3 requests for the current opening hours to be retained 

Mobile Library 

 9 respondents (3%) requested the mobile library service be reinstated 

Page 151



 

8 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Partnerships 

 10 respondents (4%) suggested the library services should work more closely with partner agencies, 

including: 

o Educational institutions including schools and universities 

o The Department for Work and Pensions  

o Local attractions and groups including the Head of Steam museum  

o The local voluntary and community sector  

o Local archives  

Reference Library 

 44 respondents (17%) made requests relating to the reference library, including: 

o 18 requests for the reference library to be expanded/improved, including: 

 Computers installed with power points 

 More large tables 

 Sufficient space for studying 

 Private, sectioned desks 

 Better lighting 

 Online reference materials 

 More books, newspapers and magazines, including the Sunday Telegraph, local maps and 

guides, periodicals etc. 

 Updated layout 

 Modular tables and sturdy chairs 

 Local information and events 

 Protect with an air curtain to address cold 

 Replacing desks and computers with good quality study space 

o 11 requests for a dedicated reference library / study space be retained 

o 5 requests for the reference library be downsized, including by removing the helpdesk 

o 1 request for the reference library be removed 

o 1 request for the reference library to be located away from children’s areas 

o 1 request for the reference library to be an enforced quiet area, including no phones 

o 1 request for the reference library to be well signed 

o 1 request for this area to be advertised to teenagers to study 

o 1 request for the area be supervised 

Refreshments 

 90 respondents (34%) requested a café be established in central library, including: 

o 7 requests relating to how a café would be run, including: 

 5 requests for it to be provided by a private company, of which 2 specified a start-up and 1 

an independent business 

 1 request for it be provided by the Dolphin Centre service 

 1 request for it to be staffed by volunteers 

o 7 requests for it to be located in the art gallery space and 1 in the basement 

o 7 requests relating to the size of a café, including: 

 6 requests for it to be small 

 1 request for it to be large 

o 1 request for it to include a reading area 

o 3 requests related to seating: 

 2 requests for a cafe to have comfortable seating 

Page 152



 

9 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 1 request for a cafe to have sufficient seating 

o 1 request for it to be available for evening activities 

o 1 request for a café to be installed only if: 

 it doesn’t take space from the main library functions,  

 it is connected to toilet facilities, and  

 users aren’t allowed to drink/eat outside of the cafe 

o 1 request for it to be affordable 

o 1 request for it to serve vegan, vegetarian, and gluten free lunches and high teas 

o 1 request for it to include a barista service 

o 3 requests for it to be family-friendly 

 5 respondents requested refreshments be made available but not a full café, including: 

o Water machine 

o Coffee/drinks machines 

o Vending machines 

Resources 

 16 respondents (6%) made requests or suggestions relating to the resourcing of the library service, including: 

o Delivering new profit-making services such as: 

 Paypoint 

 Deliveries/collections/returns 

 Creche 

 Selling gifts relating to Darlington’s heritage 

 A cafe 

o Charging a fee for existing services, including: 

 Children’s activities  

 Evening classes 

 Community spaces 

 Non-core activities 

o Accepting donations, including by wealthy corporate donors and crowdfunding 

o Keeping refurbishment costs as low as possible 

o Ensuring updates are environmentally-friendly  

o Ensuring a sufficient ongoing annual budget from the council 

o Getting book sponsorship by authors and library users 

o Researching external funding opportunities, including heritage/arts/culture funds 

o Applying to be a Designated Listed Building 

o Using Community Infrastructure Levy and S106 Agreements funding 

Retail 

 7 respondents (3%) requested some form of retail space, including: 

o A shop selling book-related items / second hand books / stationery / local art 

o Pop up stalls, including crafts 

o A mini market in the gallery foyer 

Security 

 3 respondents (11%) made requests relating to security, including: 

o 1 request for the security presence be retained 

o 1 request for the security presence be removed 

o 1 request for the library to feel like a safe place to be for vulnerable groups 

 

Page 153



 

10 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Space for Community Use 

 31 respondents (12%) made requests for space to be made available in the central library for use by: 

o community groups  

o arts or educational courses  

o business meetings 

o local enterprises  

o performers 

o event hosts 

o artists 

 2 requests for hire costs to be affordable 

 1 suggestion for this space to be made in the gallery or cellar 

Staff  

 33 respondents (13%) made requests relating to library staffing, including: 

o 16 requests for the current staff be retained 

o 5 requests for more staff, including: 

 A full-time equivalent to manage a new tourist information centre and rail heritage section 

 An events coordinator for children and young people 

 Weekend staff 

o 10 respondents made requests for staff with certain characteristics, including: 

 well-trained 

 available to assist 

 experienced 

 knowledgeable 

 friendly 

o 2 suggestions that volunteers could be used to supplement paid staff, specifically for routine work 

and late evenings 

o 1 request for staff to be given more credit and empowered to do their job 

Toilets 

 27 respondents (10%) made requests relating to toilet facilities at central library, including: 

o 15 requests for the toilet facilities be improved 

o 8 statements that toilet facilities are important, including for children and people with disabilities 

o 3 requests for toilet facilities to be expanded, including a baby change 

o 2 requests for toilet facilities be open to the public 

o 2 requests for the original toilets be retained, but made accessible 

o 1 request for keys to be made available for people with disabilities 

Tourist Information Service 

 18 respondents (7%) requested a tourist information centre be established in the central library, of which: 

o 1 suggested that funding could come from charging local accommodation providers for advertising 

o 1 suggested it be supplemented with the LoveDarlo campaign and a revived BID 

VCS Services 

 7 respondents (3%) requested VCS services be delivered in the central library, including: 

o 6 requests for legal/CAB services  

o 1 request for a food/clothes bank  

 

Page 154



 

11 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Miscellaneous Requests 

 4 requests for the library be a central place to get information, including about churches, the council, bus 

times, litter picks, local events, public health 

 3 requests for laminating and binding facilities  

 1 request for a new Trustee/Library committee to be established  

 1 request for the council sign an agreement with the Friends of the Library for the library to be joint-owned 

by both parties 

 1 request for a new vision for the library service to be developed based on need 

 1 request for the Northern Echo archive to be relocated to central library 

 1 request for the central library be renamed the ‘Edward Pease Lending Library’ 

 1 request for a map of the library layout to be available with good signage 

 1 request for old historical/environmental/art assets to be placed in a self-sustaining trust, with charitable 

Friends as Trustees and no items moved/disposed of without expert evaluation and public agreement 

 1 request for a proper system of preserving archives and documents, specifically the Accredited Archive 

System, with a disaster plan put in place  

 1 request for more emphasis on languages and sharing of cultures 

 1 request for the library to be made the Centre of Quaker Heritage  

 1 request for fewer rules to be required to access services e.g. having to show ID or have a library card 

 1 request to ensure future generations have career paths to working in the library 

 1 request to fund research into non-users 

 1 request to warn people about the dangers of too much eBook use 

 1 request for the library deed be displayed if found 

 1 request for an accessible defibrillator  

 1 request for quiet areas to be made available in all areas 

 1 request for staff to be consulted on all proposed changes 

 

  

Page 155



 

12 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

2. Responses to question: “Is there anything you wouldn’t want to see provided as part of the library 

service in the central library and elsewhere in the borough?” 
 

138 out of 262 respondents answered this question, a significant number of which included further requests as to 

what they would like to see in the library, which have been incorporated into the above section.  

Of the remaining responses, again many covered multiple issues/areas as outlined below: 

Activities 

 5 requests for no events to be held that do not directly link to the aims of a library, such as live music 

 3 requests for no sports activities to be introduced 

 1 request for no DWP or benefits services to be introduced 

 1 request for no other council services to be delivered in the library 

 1 request for not too many children’s events to be held 

 1 request for no participatory events be held in the library’s open spaces 

Cockerton Library 

 2 requests for Cockerton Library to be closed 

 1 request for any refurbishment to Cockerton Library to not cause it to lose its atmosphere 

Children’s Library 

 1 request to keep things where they are now 

 1 request to not change the castle 

 1 request to not have any boring space 

 1 request not to remove children’s space 

General Refurbishment  

 37 respondents made requests relating to the refurbishment of Crown Street Library, including: 

o 28 requests to not overly modernise the interior, including: 

 Getting rid of, damaging or selling original furniture and fittings (except lighting) 

 Installing plastic / glass / black / white / brightly coloured / lightweight / new furniture and 

fittings  

 Fundamentally changing the library’s look, feel or purpose, including becoming too 

commercialised 

o 9 requests to not change the building or its layout 

o 3 requests not to move the library, or any of its areas, to the Dolphin Centre 

o 2 requests for office staff to be moved out of the library to maximise space 

o 2 requests for there to be no closed doors to public areas 

o 1 request not to expand the IT facilities into the Reference Library 

o 1 request not to install any false ceilings  

Lending Library 

 3 requests not to reduce lending stock 

 1 request for no long books 

Local Studies 

 2 requests for no changes to the CLS 

 1 request for no reduction in CLS stock 

Page 156



 

13 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 1 request for no ‘opening up’ of the CLS 

Opening Hours 

 3 requests not to reduce or change the current opening hours 

Reference Library / Study Areas 

 15 respondents made requests relating to the Reference Library and quiet/study areas, including: 

o No background or loud music 

o No loud activities or events in earshot of other areas 

o No phones allowed 

Refreshments 

 19 requests for a café not be introduced at the central library 

 5 requests for no food or drink at all to be allowed in the library 

 2 requests for any new café to not be delivered by a chain 

 2 requests for no unhealthy food or drinks to be sold, including alcohol 

 

Resources 

 1 request for no new charges to be implemented 

 1 request for no money to be lost on expensive contracts 

 1 request for no further cuts be made to the library service 

Staff 

 11 requests not to cut or replace staff, i.e. with further automation such as new check out machines 

 3 requests not to rely on volunteers for staffing 

 1 request for librarians not be silent 

 1 request for a new manager for the library 

Miscellaneous 

 1 request for there not to be ‘too much’ technology 

 1 request for library membership not be discarded 

 1 request for no bins without pedals be installed 

 1 request for the library service to not stay in the 20th century 

 1 request to stop using doors as noticeboards 

 1 request for marketing of non-library events/services etc. to not be allowed in the library 

 1 request for no heritage area to be installed 

  

Page 157



 

14 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Equalities info - responses by Protected Characteristic where reported by respondents: 
 

Sex 

 Of those respondents who reported their gender, more than two thirds were female 

 This is significantly higher than the proportion the borough population who are female (51%) 

 

 

 

 

Age  

 Of those respondents who reported their age, nearly two-thirds (63%) were aged over 45,  

 This is significantly more than the proportion of the borough population aged over 45 (48%).  

 

 

 

70.6%

29.0%

0.4%

Respondents by Sex

Female Male Other

4
1 3

30

44
47

77

17

Under 16 years 16-18 years 18-24 years 25-34 years 35-44 years 45-59 years 60-75 years Over 75 years

Respondents by Age

Page 158



 

15 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Disability 

 Just over a sixth of respondents who answered this question reported having a disability 

 This is slightly below the estimated proportion of the borough population with a disability (18%)  

 

Ethnicity 

 Of those respondents who reported their ethnicity, over 99% identified themselves as White,  

 This is slightly higher than the proportion of the borough population who are White (96%).  

 

 

 

84.1%

15.9%

Respondents by Reported Disability

No Yes

202

1 7 1 2

White - English / Welsh
/ Scottish / Northern

Irish / British

White - Gypsy or Irish
Traveller

White – Other Asian / Asian British –
Chinese

Other

Respondents by Reported Ethnicity

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

CABINET 
7 JANUARY 2020 

 
DARLINGTON RAIL HERITAGE QUARTER 

 

 
Responsible Cabinet Member – Councillor Heather Scott 

Leader and Local Services Portfolio 
 

Responsible Director – Ian Williams 
Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services 

 

 
SUMMARY REPORT 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To present to Members the Master Plan and proposals for Darlington Rail Heritage 

Quarter and to agree to progress further development work to finalise the scheme 
in the next 12 months.   
 

Summary 
 
2. Over the past year, officers have been working closely with colleagues in the 

Combined Authority in developing a Master Plan for the Head of Steam site, which 
currently has a working title of Darlington Rail Heritage Quarter (DRHQ).  This site 
is part of a wider Stockton and Darlington Rail Heritage programme and part of the 
Heritage Action Zone.   
 

3. The intention of the Master Plan is to develop DRHQ into an international visitor 
attraction and museum before 2025 to enable Darlington to be a central part of the 
Bicentenary celebrations of the Stockton and Darlington Railway.   
 

4. The key elements of the Master Plan need to be delivered prior to 2025, therefore 
subject to final funding, the plan will be phased with Phase 1 being the key footfall 
drivers being completed by 2024 ready for the celebrations in 2025.   
 

5. Working closely with on-site partners and key stakeholders, the Master Plan will be 
refined over the next 12 months with further design work and costings produced.   
 

Recommendation 
 
6. It is recommended that :- 

 
(a) The £20million allocation from Tees Valley Combined Authority is released, 

subject to final business case being approved by the TVCA. 
 

(b) Note that a funding agreement for the TVCA funding will be entered into under 
the current delegated approval to the Assistant Director Resources in the 
Scheme of Delegation. 
 

Page 161

Agenda Item 7(f)



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) Approve the phased approach to delivery detailed in the report and delegated 
changes to the approach to the Director of Economic Growth and 
Neighbourhood Services who will liaise as necessary with the Portfolio holder.  
 

(d) The Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services be given 
delegated authority to negotiate and agree terms for the acquisition of the 
properties mentioned in the report and if required additional properties with an 
individual value of up to £1million with terms being reported to future Cabinet 
meetings on the Schedule of Transactions.   
 

(e) The AD Law and Governance be authorised to document the acquisition of 
properties accordingly. 
 

(f) Approve the procurement as strategic with the procurement route being  
delegated to the Council Procurement Board chaired by the Managing Director 
and further updates returned to members in the Procurement Annual Plan 
report.  
 

(g) Officers work with representatives of Darlington Railway Preservation Society 
(DRPS) to relocate to a suitable location to enable the priority works to the 
Goods Shed to be carried out with a view to returning to DRHQ once the whole 
site is refurbished.   
 

(h) Once reopened, entry to the Museum is free with a paid for immersive 
experience.   
 

Reasons 
 
7. The recommendations are supported by the following reasons:- 

 
(a) To enable Darlington Rail Heritage Quarter to move forward and be further 

developed with future reports coming to Cabinet; 
 

(b) To carry out essential works to the Goods Shed as a priority to secure the 
stability and arrest the decline of the building.   

 
 
 

Ian Williams 
Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services 

 
 
 
Background Papers 
No background papers were used in the preparation of this report.   
 
Ian Thompson : Extension 6628 
CD 

 
 

Page 162



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

S17 Crime and Disorder Regenerating the area of town that the existing 
museum is located in will have a positive 
impact on crime and disorder.   

Health and Well Being There will be a positive impact on health and 
well being of the local community by improving 
the site and providing significant outdoor play 
opportunities.   

Carbon Impact and Climate 
Change 

As part of the development, where possible 
and appropriate, renewable energy sources will 
be used.   

Diversity There is no impact on diversity as a result of 
this report.   

Wards Affected Northgate 

Groups Affected No particular group is affected as part of this 
report.   

Budget and Policy Framework  There is no change to the Council’s budget or 
policy framework.   

Key Decision Yes 

Urgent Decision This is not an urgent decision.   

One Darlington: Perfectly 
Placed 

The regeneration of this part of town will be a 
catalyst to improving the area impacting on the 
Council’s Place agenda.   

Efficiency There is no impact on efficiency as a result of 
this report.   

Impact on Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers 

This report has no impact on Looked After 
Children or Care Leavers  

 
 

MAIN REPORT 
 

Information and Analysis 
 
Strategic Context 
 
8. Stockton and Darlington railway programme is a key priority for the Tees Valley 

Combined Authority (TVCA).  Under the Culture and Tourism strategic priority 
within the Strategic Economic Planning (SEP) 2016-2026, TVCA has committed 
£20million through the Tees Valley Investment Plan 2019-2029 for Darlington 
Railway Heritage Quarter (DRHQ).  Darlington Borough Council’s Visitor Strategy 
identifies as a key priority the opportunity to build on the railway heritage of the 
town to develop visitor numbers and the economy of Darlington.  Historic England 
designated the 26-mile route of the Stockton and Darlington Railway a Heritage 
Action Zone (HAZ), which will run from 2018 to 2023.  The aim of this is to help 
rejuvenate and restore the 26-mile stretch of the historic railway and to help realise 
its potential to become a major heritage attraction and visitor destination in the build 
up to the 200-year anniversary in 2025.   
 

9. The Stockton and Darlington Railway programme, whilst it has many projects within 
it, has three key strands: 
 

  

Page 163



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
(a) The Stockton and Darlington Railway (HAZ) 
(b) Darlington Rail Heritage Quarter 
(c) Bicentenary Event in 2025 

 
10. This report focuses on DRHQ only, however in due course Cabinet will receive 

reports with regard to the other two key parts of the Stockton and Darlington Rail 
Heritage programme.   
 

Background 
 
11. The DRHQ is focused around the Head of Steam site and some of the surrounding 

area.  Attached at Appendix 1 is the map of proposed site.  The Council have been 
working closely with the TVCA to develop a master plan for the site and DRHQ 
narrative and interpretation plan over the past year.  This work has been carried out 
by a range of consultants working closely with officers, partners on the site and 
carrying out consultation with various stakeholders and interested parties.  Detail of 
the consultation carried out and the outcome is included later in this report.   
 

12. The master planning and interpretation work has now concluded, which provides 
the opportunity to move forward with the master plan, reimagining the Head of 
Steam site prior to Bicentenary celebrations in 2025.    
 

13. The Stockton and Darlington Railway is where modern passenger rail began on 27 
September 1825, transforming the world.   
 

Master Plan 
 
14. Attached at Appendix 2 is the master plan developed for the site.  While providing 

a strong starting point, once the team is assembled to deliver the project, the plan 
will be refined and adapted to ensure it can be delivered within the financial 
envelope available.   
 

15. The vision of the RHQ is: 
 
“By 2024, Darlington is recognised as the world’s most historic railway town with 
the Railway Heritage Quarter becoming an internationally significant major visitor 
attraction in the Tees Valley, which will be central to the Stockton & Darlington 
Railway’s bicentennial celebrations.  This project will reveal the story of Darlington 
and its communities that saw an opportunity and seized it, connecting and 
transforming the world in the process.  Our unique and authentic heritage will be 
reimagined with a strong narrative, varied interpretation, reimagined spaces and 
new experiences to engage a wider audience, including local residents, businesses 
and visitors from around the globe.  This site will act as a catalyst for heritage-led 
regeneration and social cohesion, empowering our communities and businesses to 
be part of the next transformational change.”   
 

16. There are then a number of objectives to help realise the vision: 
 
(a) Heritage – reveal, conserve, protect and promote aspects of heritage on site 

and secure its long-term future.   
 

Page 164



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(b) Engineering – retain live engineering on site through developing third sector 
capacity and providing opportunities for the wider community through skills, 
learning and volunteering.   
 

(c) Innovation – use past, current and future innovation to inspire, engage and 
motivate visitors and communities to raise aspirations and instil pride in the 
area.   
 

(d) Play – through bespoke play, engage the local community and improve the 
wider visitor experience across the whole site.   
 

(e) Events and Activities – develop an events and activity programme with an 
extended and engaging plan to increase the range and number of site users 
and audiences.   
 

(f) Skills and Learning – deliver an educational programme for local and regional 
schools alongside more formal and informal skills and training opportunities in 
partnership with on-site partners and other interested relevant education 
bodies.   
 

(g) Community – be a vehicle for improved health and well-being through 
increased activity and volunteering opportunities that provide positive social, 
health and quality of life benefits.   
 

(h) Interpretation – engage a diverse audience including those that do not 
normally visit and interpretation helps to do that by being exciting, creative and 
immersive through the telling of the story to keep the site fresh and vibrant.   
 

(i) Economy – the site will act as a catalyst for economic growth by attracting 
local, national and international visitors, investment and spend, and creating 
employment and enterprise opportunities for the local community.   
 

(j) Heritage Action Zone – act as one of the key orientation points along the 26 
miles of the Stockton & Darlington Railway, providing a hub for visitors to not 
only access the site but also the S&DR walking and cycling route, and wider 
interpretation.   
 

(k) Commercial – applying a commercial approach, demonstrating heritage and 
tourism as a viable sector for private investment.   
 

(l) Sustainability – proposals will work towards contributing to the overall climate 
change 2050 target.   
 

17. All will be brought to life with a cross-cutting theme of Interpretation across the site.  
The site will celebrate the heritage, bring to life skills and learning opportunities for 
young people, showcase innovation from the past and future, provide play and a 
fun experience while at the same time developing skills and learning with a 
significantly enhanced events programme throughout the year.  The master plan 
articulates the overall vision for DRHQ, which will take longer than 2025 to deliver 
both practically and financially.  However, the key components of the site, which will 
be the footfall drivers, can be delivered prior to 2025 and within available 
resources.  The funding strategy is discussed later in this report.   
 

Page 165



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Site Strategy 
 
18. Visitors to the site will arrive potentially by train to North Road Station, on foot, 

cycle or by car.  Work is currently ongoing with a range of partners, TVCA, 
Darlington Borough Council, Durham County Council and Stockton Borough 
Council with regard to providing a walking and cycling route for the 26 miles that 
will pass by DRHQ, which would become a key stop off point for the route.   
 

19. The overall site layout is as follows: 
 
External Zones: 
 
(a) New car park for the site located next to Skerne Bridge 
(b) Skerne Bridge, the oldest operating railway bridge in the world 
(c) Main accessible entrance off McNay Street, which will be closed to traffic other 

than residential 
(d) External plaza between Goods Shed and Head of Steam building 
(e) External play area 
(f) External events space 

 
Existing Buildings on site: 
 
(a) Goods Shed – currently occupied by Darlington Railway Preservation Society 

(DRPS), early discussions have taken place with regard to their relocation on 
site as the restored Goods Shed will become the Reception/Orientation Point 
for the site with café, WCs and retail space.  The Goods Shed was added to 
Historic England’s Heritage at Risk Register in October this year.  Following a 
condition report carried out in September by specialist conservation architects, 
there are a number of structural defects that require attention and are 
discussed later in this report.   
 

(b) Head of Steam – will be the main museum experience, the primary visitor offer 
providing the immersive and interactive historic narrative.  It will also house the 
‘WOW’ immersive ride experience. The museum will focus on the story of the 
Stockton and Darlington Railway 1825 and Darlington’s contribution to rail, 
telling the stories of people and places along the line and town and will be 
where the past meets the future. 
 

(c) Goods Agent Office – currently occupied by Model Railway Club and 
Northern Eastern Railway Association. The intention is to retain these two 
organisations on site, potentially in the same building.  Further discussions will 
be required. 
 

(d) Lime Cells – currently in private ownership, however if brought back into the 
site, potential uses to be explored.   
 

(e) Carriage Works – currently occupied by A1 Trust in one side and North 
Eastern Locomotive Preservation Group (NELPG) in the other. Early 
discussions have been held with both organisations; A1 Trust aspirations are to 
relocate onto the other side of the railway line in new build facility with a private 
rail siding.  With regard to NELPG, further discussions will be held to provide 
the most suitable options for their future aspirations, whether that is remaining 

Page 166



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

in the existing building or relocating to new build.  Depending on the final 
moves there is also the option of relocating DRPS into the Carriage Works.   
 

(f) 1861 Shed – potential for live engineering/storage or other related use, with 
option to bring private rail siding onto the site to enable access via the main rail 
line for A1 Trust and others to bring engines onto site to 
restore/refurbish/maintain.  The private siding will also provide opportunity for 
steam demonstration events.   
 

Proposed New Builds: 
 
(a) Live Engineering Shed – proposed new building with private rail siding 

access for relocation of A1 Trust as their main new build facility and paint shop, 
with internal viewing areas for the public to view work going on within the shed.  
 

(b) Footbridge – to make better connectivity between the new build and Head of 
Steam, there is potential to install a footbridge across the main line allowing 
access from the existing site without having to leave site and go round via 
North Road and Bonomi Way.   
 

(c) Pop Up Café Kiosk – depending on the final location of the play area it may 
be necessary to provide an additional café kiosk for seasonal/activity use only.   
 

20. The overall master plan vision and site strategy is extremely exciting, game 
changing and challenging to deliver but gives the opportunity to put Darlington and 
wider Tees Valley on the international map as we move towards 2025.   
 

21. As stated earlier it is unlikely the whole vision will be delivered pre-2025 both 
practically and financially.  It will therefore be essential to phase the overall 
development of DRHQ.  Finalising the actual content of each phase will be 
developed in coming months with further ongoing discussions with on-site partners 
and potential funders.   
 

22. Whilst there is a phasing proposal within the master plan document, this will need 
refining, challenging and updating as discussions are ongoing with partners as to 
how deliverable certain aspects of the overall vision are. 
 

23. The key to the phasing strategy is the requirement to ensure that the elements that 
will bring footfall onto the site are completed first, followed by improving facilities for 
partners and finally, the added value elements.   
 

24. Subject to the caveats above, the potential phasing strategy would be: 
 
(a) Phase 1:   

Timescale:  completed by 2024 
New Build Shed 
Head of Steam 
Goods Shed 
Entrance/Car Park 
Outdoor Play 
Outdoor Events Space 
Private rail siding 
 

Page 167



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
(b) Further Phases post 2025:   

 
Turntable 
1861 Shed Development 
Bridge over the track 
Lime Cells 
 

Goods Shed Grade 2* Listed 
 
25. As mentioned earlier, the Goods Shed has been placed on the Historic England’s 

Heritage at Risk Register and following a condition survey carried out in September 
requires structural repairs carrying out within the next 12 to 24 months to ensure 
the stability of the building and arrest the decline.   
 

26. To enable these works to be carried out safely, it will be necessary to empty the 
building and relocate DRPS.  Initial discussions have taken place with their 
representatives.  Officers within Estates are looking for alternative accommodation 
that can be provided for them to continue to operate.  Whilst this is unfortunate and 
certainly inconvenient for DRPS, the Council cannot allow the building to continue 
to deteriorate for another two years.  The Council will fund the relocation and rental 
costs until DRPS return to DRHQ.   
 

27. The estimated value of the works that need to be carried out is approximately 
£225,000.  This money will not be wasted as they are required to be undertaken 
and would have to be done with a full refurbishment anyway.    
 

28. Historic England have allocated £100,000 to this work; the remaining funding will 
come from the main project budget.   
 

Site Acquisition 
 
29. In order to deliver the overall vision there is a requirement to acquire a number of 

sites and work has commenced with the owners on this strand of work.  Sites 
required are: 
 
(a) Car Park land next to the Skerne Bridge 
(b) 1861 Shed and associated land which is currently used as a scrap yard 

 
30. Further buildings and acquisitions may be required as part of the overall DRHQ and 

therefore it is proposed to delegate authority for acquisition to the Director of 
Economic Growth up to the value of £1million per acquisition subject to such 
purchases representing fair value. 

 
Business Plan 
 
31. As part of the development of the master plan, a business plan was also 

developed.  Tourism UK were engaged by the master planning consultants to work 
with them on developing the business plan.   
 

32. Through the research work carried out in developing the business plan, the 
identified markets for DRHQ are as follows: 
 

Page 168



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(a) Locals with a 30-minute drive time from the site 
(b) Domestic tourists and day visitors from outside the area 
(c) Specialist interest groups 
(d) Educational trips 

 
33. The business model was therefore developed as a result of the market research 

consultation and other work to create an offer that would achieve the following: 
 
(a) Appeal to new and existing markets. 

 
(b) Draw new markets that were not traditionally heritage users (lower socio-

economic markets from the local population). 
 

(c) Use the new offer to open up the heritage, encouraging the non-engaged to 
sample the museum by removing intellectual and financial barriers. 
 

(d) Create an experience that would draw new markets competing with alternative 
offers (not just attractions, the current competitor for young audience includes 
computer simulation, games that can be accessed at home).  Include a ride 
experience that would be appealing as to draw young visitors who want to 
repeat the experience over and over again. 
 

34. The outcome would need to create a new experience that better tells the fabulous 
story of Darlington Rail Heritage Quarter and its role in changing the world through 
the development of modern passenger rail.  The project will interpret the collection 
better, sharing it with visitors using interactive displays, live engineering, a ride-type 
experience, a new play area and a new café space.   
 

35. The key elements of the business model are based on: 
 
(a) Reimagined, remodelled museum offer that provides an exciting interpretation 

through both traditional and virtual interaction with a range of audiences.  The 
provision of an education learning programme that is relevant to a broad age 
range of students from primary school through to university.   
 

(b) The ride experience, Black Box:  This will be an exciting, immersive 
interpretation of the past, present and future including a ride type experience.  
This offer would differentiate the museum from Locomotion and the National 
Rail Museum and would be unique within the area.  The business model 
assumes that this element of the experience would be charged for while 
general access to the museum is free.  The ride experience would be designed 
in such a way that it can be refreshed at an appropriate time.   
 

(c) Play Park:  Research at other heritage attractions across the UK have shown 
the impact that play parks can have on visitor numbers.  The key consideration 
in designing the play park is it needs to be bespoke to tell the story of rail 
heritage in Darlington through play.  It could include features that would help 
children learn about engineering whilst still being a play experience.  Play and 
learning will be a key theme across the whole site not just the play park.   
 

(d) Café:  A new café facility will be developed, which will be part of the overall 
offer and part of the key principles: 
 

Page 169



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(i) To be part of interpretation 
(ii) Quality is key 
(iii) In-house rather than franchise 
(iv) A flexible space that could allow for some evening/corporate hire 
(v) Needs to be part of a mixed-use experience 
(vi) Needs to be good enough to draw users in its own right – destination 

café 
(vii) Can be a driver of repeat visits 
(viii) Should include retail, which can be managed by café staff at quiet times 
(ix) Will offer a grab and go style catering initially with options for some small 

lunch offer not requiring fully fitted kitchen and staffed kitchen. 
 

36. Interpretation and heritage should be a key part of the experience where visitors 
can learn about rail heritage while enjoying a cup of coffee at the museum. 
 

37. Overall, the business plan assumptions for annual visitor numbers to each element 
of the offer are: 
 
(a) Free entry to the museum      94,000 
(b) Chargeable element, immersive experience ride   23,000 
(c) Play area       140,000 
(d) Café          17,000 
(e) Events         18,000 

 
38. The above attendances are for each element of the offer; however one individual 

may use the museum and also the chargeable element as well as using the café, 
therefore the estimated total number of individual visitors to the site is 230,000.   
 

Financial Implications  
 
39. The overall revenue implications for the site have been modelled based on a free 

museum offer, chargeable ride experience, café, events, retail and car parking.  
Additional costs have been included to cater for the large site as well as a sinking 
fund to ensure funds are available to refurbish/refresh the offer.  Using a sensitivity 
analysis of plus or minus 10%, the revenue costs are estimated to be between 
£227,000 and £309,000.  This estimate is within the existing revenue budget of 
£320,000.   
 

40. The Combined Authority have allocated £20million towards the Darlington Rail 
Heritage Quarter project, of which £2million has already been released to DBC for 
the scheme to progress.  Officers are currently working on a full business case for 
TVCA, which will then enable the remaining £18million to be released to DBC once 
approved.   
 

41. Historic England have allocated £100,000 to the priority repairs required for the 
Goods Shed.   
 

42. Officers are looking at other opportunities for funding that will assist in the delivery 
of the scheme.  An expression of interest was submitted to the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund (NLHF) for £5million, however the Council were not invited to go 
forward to a Stage 1 Application.  Officers will continue to work with NLHF as other 
opportunities may present during the course of the project.  Other external sources 

Page 170



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

of funding will continue to be explored as and when available.   
 

43. As part of the Master Plan, indicative costs were included, which for the overall 
scheme come to in excess of £50million.  However, the scheme is scalable and 
deliverable in phases that will be within the financial resources available.  Officers 
have reviewed the estimate and subject to the outcome of survey work and detailed 
designs, it is possible to deliver Phase 1 for £20million.   
 

44. Over the next 12 months, work will be done on refining the Master Plan and 
development of a robust cost plan that will be brought forward to Members in due 
course.   
 

45. A review of the possible VAT implications arising from any proposals put forward in 
the Master Plan and business plan is to be carried out and these will be feedback 
into both plans as appropriate. 

 
Legal Implications  
 
46. The Council owns most of the Head of Steam site, the Goods Shed and Carriage 

Works however the Head of Steam building is owned by Network Rail and held by 
the Council on a 200-year lease, which has a further 155 years to run.  There is 
also a small plot of land in the goods yard next to the Head of Steam which is 
owned by the Railway Museum Trust.  In order to deliver the overall Master Plan 
there is a requirement to acquire a number of other sites mentioned in paragraph 
29 above for which discussions and negotiations have already commenced.  
Estates have carried out due diligence on the site and no issues have been 
identified to prevent the planned development.  Landlord’s consent will be required 
to permit any alterations to the Head of Steam building and these will be 
progressed before any works contracts are signed.   

 
HR Implications 
 
47. There are no HR implications at the current time as work would not start on the 

Head of Steam until potentially late 2021 to 2022.   
 
Procurement Advice 
 
48. It is proposed that the initial procurement of Works and Services described for 

phase 1 of the project is to be added to the Procurement Annual Plan and 
designated strategic that the decision for the contract award be delegated to the 
Council Procurement Board chaired by the Managing Director subject to 
procurement process in accordance with the Council Contract Procedure Rules and 
further subject to the firm availability of funding as set out in this report to include 
signed funding agreements.  
 

49. That updates on contract awards be reported to members in the Annual 
Procurement Plan report. 
 

50. Due diligence checks of the contractors will be carried out in accordance with the 
mandated Cabinet Office Selection questionnaire including a full health and safety 
assessment.  

 

Page 171



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

51. Appropriate bonds/warranties will be required as a part of the contract in 
accordance with the Council Contract Procedure Rules and good industry practice.  

 
Consultation 
 
52. A significant amount of consultation has taken place as part of the production of the 

Master Plan and the Grand Narrative Interpretation Strategy.  Consultation was 
carried out between November 2018 and March 2019 and consisted of: 
 
(a) Stakeholder consultation with key individuals and partners, specialist interest 

groups, arts organisations, industry partners and the education sector.   
 

(b) An online survey was open from 18 February to 18 March 2019.  240 
responses were received.  A link to the survey was distributed through various 
networks and was largely filled in by people who knew about or had some 
connection with the Stockton & Darlington Railway.   
 

(c) Community consultation was carried out with a range of groups and individuals. 
 

(d) Community open days; 286 people attended and contributed to the open day 
sessions, which were held at Preston Park Museum, Locomotion Shildon and 
the Head of Steam.   
 

Outcome of Consultation 
 
53. The outcome of the consultation was extremely positive and the outcome and 

benefits that those consulted perceive will result from the project include: 
 
(a) A renewed sense of local awareness of the region’s heritage: 

 
(b) Younger and future generations learning about the region’s heritage, leading to 

new appreciation of their local area and a sense of grass roots local pride; 
 

(c) Family history projects, galvanising local communities to engage with the 
heritage and revealing new personal stories; 
 

(d) Raised levels of aspiration, particularly in young people; 
 

(e) New facilities and activities that will fulfil existing community needs; 
 

(f) Activities and volunteering opportunities that provide positive social, health and 
quality of life benefits.   
 

54. It was clear that DRHQ promises to thrive as a community hub, taking on the 
activity preferences voiced by those consulted: 
 
(a) To engage audiences from across the spectrum of abilities, ages, social, 

cultural or economic backgrounds; 
 

(b) To provide opportunities for young people to gain new skills, expertise and 
qualifications, which will be a valuable resource to help set them up for their 
next vital stage in life; 
 

Page 172



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) To be a vehicle for new social interaction and improved health and quality of 
life.   
 

55. Generally, the overall reactions were: 
 
(a) Real enthusiasm from the majority of people and organisations spoken to for 

DRHQ: 
 

(b) Huge potential for it to be a catalyst for the area; 
 

(c) Most organisations want to get involved; further engagement/consultation will 
take place throughout the project; 
 

(d) A wow factor is needed; 
 

(e) Unique grouping of existing tenants and buildings, key to the success of the 
site; 
 

(f) There is a desire to have working steam on site; 
 

(g) There were strong feelings that DRHQ is currently a hidden location and in 
developing as a world-class visitor destination, it is important to balance the 
needs of the locals and visitors; 
 

(h) Northgate needs to be improved as this will be important for visitors coming 
from the town centre; 
 

(i) Opportunity for a bike hub linking the 26-mile route; 
 

(j) Schools and universities interested in learning opportunities, STEM and 
STEAM, hands on experience; 
 

(k) Businesses interested in skills for young people and potential involvement on 
the site.   
 

56. The consultation that has taken place to date has helped shape the master plan. 
The next phase of consultation will be to consult on the master plan to assist in the 
next phase of development prior to a final scheme being agreed. 
 

Conclusion 
 
57. A significant amount of work has taken place to date in developing the Master Plan 

for Darlington Rail Heritage Quarter.  Currently there is £20million allocated from 
the Combined Authority and officers will investigate other potential funding 
opportunities.  During the course of the next 12 months the project will be further 
developed, working closely with on-site partners and other key stakeholders to 
refine, design and cost the final scheme.  Over the course of the project, further 
reports will be brought forward to Cabinet to update on progress.   
 
 

Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 1 
 

Map of Proposed Site 
 

 

Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



2025 Masterplan

Darlington Railway 
Heritage Quarter 
Where Passenger Rail Began and 

Where the Story is Told

Page 177



     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Photograph of Live Engineering in 
the Locomotive Works on site

Page 178



3WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Preface
Nearly 200 years ago, the Stockton and Darlington Railway changed the 

world. It was the birth of the modern railway which went on to connect 

places, people and communities – setting into motion the industrialisation 

and urbanisation of the modern world. Darlington’s rich rail heritage is a 

real jewel in our crown. Throughout Darlington there are buildings, bridges, 

parks, libraries and even graveyards which all help tell the story of our 

unique place in world history. 

The Stockton and Darlington Railway is heritage of local, regional, national 

and international importance and attracts people from around the globe. 

Its appeal and future potential should not be underestimated. With the 

Darlington Railway Heritage Quarter we have an amazing opportunity to 

protect, celebrate and enhance this unique and powerful story for the benefit 

of our communities, businesses and visitors. 

We have a once in a generation opportunity in 2025 to ensure Darlington 

is prepared for the 200th anniversary of the opening day of the railway. We 

need to ensure that our communities and businesses are central to these 

plans for an international celebration, so that they can benefit from the 

additional visitors and economic boost this will bring to our area. 

The real legacy for this project is not only to tap into the economic potential 

of our heritage, but also the social potential. The Stockton and Darlington 

Railway is not just a story about railways and engineering. It is a story 

about people -innovators and pioneers, people with vision, skills and 

determination. It is a story about ordinary people that saw opportunities 

and seized them. We have a real opportunity to reignite our communities 

connections with this heritage and through doing so instil pride and 

ownership which will inspire, enthuse and engage the next generation to 

ensure they are part of the next transformational change. 

This is not just a backwards looking story. We are still an ingenious town 

with a wealth of innovative businesses across a range of sectors such 

as engineering, sub-sea and biomedical science. We have a wealth of 

independent shops and a rich and diverse cultural landscape with a newly 

refurbished Hippodrome Theatre and award winning Children’s Theatre 

Hullabaloo . Through investing in the Darlington Railway Heritage Quarter, 

we will be using heritage as a springboard to our future - cementing 

Darlington as the place to work, live and visit for years to come. 

Page 179



4 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Historical Ordnance Survey Town Plan, 1856
Historic England

Page 180



5WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Contents

2.2

1.1

2.3

1.2

1.3

2.4

3.0

3.1

3.2

3.3

4.0

Phasing

Vision 2025

Capital Costs

Policy Context

Site Analysis: Heritage Significance

Vision for the Masterplan

Key Themes

Site Analysis: Transport and Access

The Masterplan

Site Strategy

Access

Key Buildings

Delivery

1.0

4.1

Business Plan Summary

Stepping Stones

4.2

4.3

4.4

Site Analysis: Key Buidings

3.4

3.5

Public Spaces

Site wide Strategies

2.0 The Site

2.1 Location

Supporting Documents - Volume 2Appendices

9

10-11

12-15

18-21

22-23

24-29

30-31

36-38

39

40-51

52-55

56-58

60

61-62

63-65

66-67

Page 181



Page 182



    

Left
The Opening of the Stockton and Darlington Railway, 1825 
Terrance Tenison Cuneo, 1949

1.0                Vision 2025

By 2024, Darlington is recognised as the world’s most 

historic railway town with the Railway Heritage Quarter 

becoming an internationally significant major visitor 

attraction in the Tees Valley, which will be central to 

the Stockton and Darlington Railways bi-centenary 

celebrations. This project will reveal the story of Darlington 

and its communities that saw an opportunity and seized it, 

connecting and transforming the world in the process. Our 

unique and authentic heritage will be reimagined with a 

strong narrative, varied interpretation, reimagined spaces 

and new experiences to engage a wider audience including 

local residents, businesses and visitors from around 

the globe. This site will act as a catalyst for heritage 

led regeneration and social cohesion, empowering our 

communities and businesses to be part of the next 

transformational change”

OBJECTIVES

HERITAGE
reveal, restore, protect

 and promote the 
heritage on site and 
secure its long-term 

future.

ENGINEERING INNOVATION PLAY

EVENT & ACTIVITIES SKILLS & LEARNING

retain live engineering on site 
through developing 

third sector capacity and 
providing opportunities

 for the wider community 
though skills, learning,

 and volunteering.

use past, current and 
future innovation to 
inspire, engage and 

motivate visitors and 
communities to raise 
aspirations and instil 

pride in the area.

 through bespoke 
play engage the 

local community and 
improve the wider 
visitor experience 

across the whole site.

develop an events and 
activity programme 

with an extended and 
engaging plan to 

increase the range 
and number of site 

users and audiences.

for local and regional 
schools alongside more 

formal and informal skills 
and training opportunities 

in partnership with 
onsite partners and other 

relevant educational 
bodies. 

COMMUNITY
be a vehicle for new 

social interaction through 
increased activities and 

volunteering opportunities 
that provide positive 

social, health and
 quality of life benefits. 

INTERPRETATION
Engage a wide audience in 

the physical social and 
living heritage through 

informative interpretation 
to keep the site vibrant,

 fresh, engaging and 
relevant. 

ECONOMY
the site will act as a catalyst 

for economic growth by 
attracting local, national 

and international visitors, 
investment and spend and 
creating employment and 

enterprise opportunities for 
the local community. 

HERITAGE 
ACTION ZONE
Act as one of the key 

orientation points along the 
26 miles of the S&DR – 

providing a hub for visitors 
to not only access the site 

but also the S&DR walking 
and cycling route and 
wider interpretation. 

COMMERCIAL

Applying a commercial 
approach, demonstrating 

heritage and tourism as 
a viable sector for 

private investment.

Page 183



8 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Darlington Borough Council Local Plan

Darlington 2025- Refurbished Train 

Station

Proposed New A66 East West 

Connection

Page 184



9WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

1.1           Policy Context
The Stockton and Darlington Railway Heritage 
Programme is a key priority for the Tees Valley 
Combined Authority (TVCA) under their Culture 
and Tourism Strategic priority within the Strategic 
Economic Plan (SEP) 2016-2026.  TVCA has 
committed up to £20m through its Tees Valley 
Investment Plan 2019-29 to the Stockton and 
Darlington Railway Heritage programme. 

The Darlington Borough Council(DBC) Visitor 
Strategy identifies as a key priority the opportunity 
to build on the railway heritage of the town to 
develop the visitor numbers and economy in 
Darlington. 

Historic England designated the 26-mile route of 
the Stockton and Darlington Railway a Heritage 
Action Zone (HAZ), which will run from 2018-23.  
The aim of this is to ‘help rejuvenate and restore 
the 26 mile stretch of historic railway, and to help 
realise its potential to become a major heritage 
attraction and visitor destination in the build up to 
its 2025 bicentenary.’  The DRHQ is one of the key 
sites along the HAZ and will benefit from research 
and support to tackle heritage at risk and urgent 
repairs. A Conservation Management Plan for the 
site will also be developed to ensure better long-term 
conservation and management.  

In addition to heritage and the visitor economy, 
the DRHQ also aligns with the ambitions for the 
emerging Tees Valley Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) 
aligned to the TVCA SEP and Investment Plan:

• Leading the way as an exemplar region for 
industrial decarbonisation and clean growth

• Developing pioneering capabilities in industrial 
digitalisation and ensuring the implementation of 
digital applications at scale

• Leveraging the full potential of our innovation 
ecosystem in support of building R&D capability, 
commercialisation and business growth

• Growing and widening the pipeline of talent to 
support our competitive advantages and help more 
local people into jobs with good long-term prospects

• Positioning the Tees Valley as a leading place to 
live, invest and grow a business

As part of this, it is the intention that the LIS 
addresses the challenges of inclusive growth, as 
the Tees Valley currently ranks as 37th out of 
39 LEP areas against metrics identified by the 
Joseph Rowntree Foundation for inclusive growth. 

It does, however, rank 3rd out of 39 for Recent 
Change.  The plans set out in this Masterplan will 
help in addressing this challenge through skills 
development and innovation.

The Darlington Local Plan Draft 2016-2036 is due 
to be approved in 2020. The key themes include 
Built Heritage, Climate Change and Energy, 
Community Infrastructure and Education. Many 
aspects of DRHQ will contribute to achieving these 
goals.

The goal to become energy self-sufficient from 
renewable energy sources is also in line with the 
aspirations set out in the Tees Valley Climate 
Change Strategy 2010-20 and Climate Emergency 
Declaration in July 2019. This also fits with DBC’s 
stated goals - the council is a signatory to the 
Covenant of Mayors, which commits the council to 
reduce emissions by 20% by 2020 and a model was 
produced using Vantage Point software showing 
how these emission reductions could be achieved.  
It is expected that future plans will further increase 
commitments to reduce carbon emissions.  Since the 
UK Government has a legally binding target set out 
in the Climate Change Act (2008) to reduce carbon 
emissions by 80% of 1990 levels by 2050 and has 
recently announced intentions to achieve zero 
carbon emissions by 2050.  

 The following policy documents have been reviewed 
to inform the masterplan connectivity proposals: 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019); Tees 
Valley SEP (2016) and Investment Plan (2019); Tees 
Valley Strategic Transport Plan’ Tees Valley Design 
Guide & Specification Darlington Local Transport 
Plan.

Together these documents have set the framework 
for the connectivity proposals and have highlighted 
the need to focus on access by sustainable modes, 
build on opportunities from strategic projects such 
as redevelopment of Darlington Bank Top Station 
and make the most of existing transport provision.

S&DR Heritage Board and Stockton and Darlington 
Railway Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) are planning 
for there to be a major celebration in 2025 of 
the bicentenary of the S&DR.  The Tees Valley 
Combined Authority is planning to submit a bid in 
2021 to become the UK City of Culture 2025.  This 
offers an opportunity for the DRHQ and S&DR. HAZ 
and the 2025 bicentenary celebrations of the S&DR 
to play a key role in the Tees Valley City of Culture 
2025 events programme.

Page 185



10 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Interpretation

Skills and Learning

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

1.2                Vision 2025

TVCA and DBC intend to develop Darlington 

Railway Heritage Quarter into a new world 

class visitor attraction and museum by 2024 so 

that it can be a central part of the bi-centenary 

celebrations of the Stockton and Darlington 

Railway in 2025.

The Darlington Railway Heritage Quarter will be a 

unique and authentic visitor attraction that reveals 

the story of Darlington and of the communities 

that saw an opportunity and seized it, connecting 

and transforming the world in the process.

It will be a place where local heritage is being 

activated in ways that will lead to sustainable 

regional regeneration, investment and the transfer 

of new knowledge and skills to local communities. 

It will engage audiences with the inspiring 

story of innovation, invention, connectivity and 

transformation represented by the physical 

remains of the Stockton & Darlington Railway and 

its emergent narrative.

With a strong narrative, varied interpretation, 

reimagined spaces and the creation of new 

experiences, it will explore the Stockton & 

Darlington Railway’s enduring influence on the 

people, development and identity of Darlington 

and the region – past, present and future.

It will tell the story of a place, a time and 

range of people that brought together unique 

EngineeringHeritage

Page 186



11WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Interpretation

Skills and Learning

|||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

|||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

combinations of existing ideas and technologies 

and new solutions that combined the ingenuity 

and determination of engineers, entrepreneurs, 

financiers, surveyors, builders, navies and 

countless unnamed individuals who gave their 

knowledge, expertise and faith to a great, world-

changing endeavours.

Alongside all of this, the Darlington Railway 

Heritage Quarter will showcase and celebrate the 

innovation and invention currently going on in the 

region – in industry, universities, entrepreneurial 

start-ups and established companies – and build 

connections with knowledge, technology and 

heritage communities around the world through 

the interpretation of the collection and the site..

It will use this interpretation of the past and 

shared history, reimagined and revealed through a 

suite of new spaces and experiences, as a catalyst 

for community building, problem-solving and 

placemaking, as well as attracting attention of 

repeat local visitors and visitors from across the 

world.

Five key themes have been identifying in The 

Vision: 

• Heritage

• Skills

• Play

• Programme of Events.

Learning and Skills, Innovation and Historic 

Interpretation are proposed as the cross-cutting 

activity across all four key themes.

Play EventsInnovation

Page 187



12 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

1 2

Enhance Heritage 
Site and Visitor 
Experience

Celebrate, Protect, 
Retain and Develop 
Local Engineering

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Heritage Engineering

This exceptional site suffered from 

years of decline due to changing nature 

of railway industry.

The current vision is to reveal, restore 

and disseminate all aspects of the 

heritage including the archaeology, 

restoration of the building and the 

relationship between them, refreshing 

and modernising the interpretation, and 

telling the social history of the people 

who made it all happen. 

Stockton & Darlington Railway was 

engineered, promoted and financed 

by local people and their innovations 

had an impact globally. Strong design 

and engineering skills and a deep 

knowledge and a love for railway 

engineering are still available in the 

town and the region. 

One of the aims of Darlington Railway 

Heritage Quarter is to recognise 

and celebrate engineering and 

associated skills to actively promote 

intergenerational learning to retain and 

grow these unique abilities. 

1.3                Key Themes

Page 188



13WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

3 4

Provide Opportunities 
for Bespoke Play 
throughout the 
Musuem

Play Events & Activities

Play is a vital provision for visitors and 

local communities. Play opportunities 

will be explored throughout the site.

A bespoke outdoor provision will aim 

at a broader range of play than those 

available at existing visitor attractions 

in the region.  

There is an intention to deliver multi-

layered environments which facilitate 

children to play in a non-prescribed 

manner: Inspired by their context to 

explore, take risks and experiment.

Programme of Events 
and Engagement 
Activities

In addition to the Museum collection 

the interpretation will extend to a 

programme of events to engage and re-

engage visitors and local communities 

in a variety of ways. 

Temporary exhibitions, annual local, 

regional and national events, half term 

and school events targeted at various 

age groups  and STE(A)M. This will be 

supported by engaging activity plan 

delivered by a team of engagement 

officer, youth engagement officer and 

volunteer coordinator. National lottery 

activity plan will be developed. 

Page 189



14 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

CC

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

CC

Cross-cutting 
Themes

Interpretation

Heritage interpretation will be extended 

across all five themes to ensure that all 

sectors of society can engage with the 

Darlington Railway Heritage Quarter. 

Opportunities for interpretation of 

physical heritage, the social heritage 

and the living heritage will be explored 

in each of the themes to help keep 

the site vibrant, fresh, engaging and 

relevant. 

Through interpretation the DHRQ will 

sustain the connection between the 

past and the future. 

Page 190



15WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

CC

Cross-cutting Theme

Skills and Learning

Skills and learning opportunities will 

also be sought across all five themes. 

It is intended that a programme of skills 

and training will be delivered to various 

age groups with wide choice of subjects 

ranging from heritage, curation, design, 

engineering and model making, to 

technology and digital media. 

Partnerships will need to be formed 

with Industry, public sector, education 

and training providers, civic 

organization and schools to make use 

of the extensive heritage assets across 

the Heritage Action Zone.

Page 191



Page 192



2.0                       The Site

The site, known since the 1830s as “North Road”, was developed by 

the S&DR. 

A large proportion of the site and its 5 listed buildings is a part of 

Darlington Borough Council’s Northgate Conservation Area and the 

location is part of a Historic England designated Heritage Action 

Zone because of its relationship to the Stockton and Darlington 

Railway.  

Darlington Railway Heritage Quarter contains what has been 

described in the 2004 Conservation Plan as the world’s most 

important group of surviving early railway buildings. 

All of the key buildings on the site were from the first generation of 

the railway age, when the form and function of railway buildings 

was still being developed by trial and error. Development of the track 

bed began in 1825 and construction of buildings ended in 1853, 

although minor structures came and went thereafter under later 

owners. 

After 1853, the S&DR replaced two elements of the site with larger 

facilities, located elsewhere because there was insufficient space 

at North Road. In 1863, the S&DR merged with the North Eastern 

Railway, and North Road became a minor satellite site for a large 

railway company rather than the hub of a small railway company. 

Development thus ceased.

The Station, the Goods Station and the Goods Agent’s Offices 

were listed in 1977, and the Carriage Works in 1986. The listing 

for the Station concludes by saying that it is listed because of its 

“association with the first public railway in England”, with those for 

the others also noting group value and historical associations.

Historic Significance of the site and the buildings is fully assessed in 

the Conservation and management Plan 2004.

Page 193



18 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

2.1                      Location

Page 194



19WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

The main part of site is located some 1.5 km north 

of the town centre.  It consists of a triangle of 

land between what was the S&DR main line, now 

the railway from Bishop Auckland to Saltburn, 

Hopetown Lane to the south, and A167 the main 

road north from Darlington to Durham to the 

east. To the south west of the site are residential 

neighbourhoods and to the north a large-scale 

retail area.

Two additional areas were available for the 

masterplan. Whessoe Road site, a stretch of 

Network Rail land to the north of the main sites 

which contains the 1861 Shed, and the triangular 

embankment site south of A167 contained by the 

Bishop Line to Darlington Line and the recently 

improved walking and cycling route between A167 

and Skerne Bridge. 

The Skerne Railway Bridge, a Scheduled 

Monument, is the oldest structure on the North 

Road site and was part of the original railway 

line from the from its inception. Built in 1825 

by Ignatius Bonomi it was an integral and 

recognisable aspect of the S&DR’s first line in the 

same year on. On 27 September 1825, it carried 

Loco No 1 on its first journey. Its importance as the 

oldest railway bridge still in use has been reflected 

in its depiction on the £5 note through the 1990s. 

There are several other historically significant 

buildings and structures outside of conservation 

area but within walking distance of the site:

Rise Carr Rolling Mills on Whessoe Road was 

built by Theodore Fry, newly married into the 

Pease family and Charles I’Anson, founder of the 

Whessoe foundry in 1864. For their workers to live 

in they built terraces, the first ones called Fry Street 

and I’Anson Street.

Nos 1A to 27 Whessoe Road are three terraces of 

small houses that were located on the south side 

of the Darlington Railway Works. The works were 

developed by the Stockton & Darlington Railway 

from 1863 and then by the North Eastern Railway 

after it took over the S&DR in 1863. The cottages 

were possibly built around 1863 by S&DR. They 

are interesting survivals of late 19th century 

industrial housing with workshops at the back of 

the rear yards.

Page 195



20 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Ownership: Network Rail

Key:

Ownership: Darlington 
Borough Council

Privately leased

Privately owned

Page 196



21WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

The Railway Institute Club 93 North Road Built 

in the late 19th century on the corner of Whessoe 

Road and North Road on the south east corner of 

the railway works site, the Institute was built for 

railway workers for education and leisure. It is a 

tall two storey building of red brick with extensive 

gault brick banding over the window heads and 

a low-pitched slate roof. It is the sole surviving 

building of the railway works complex and still 

operating as a club.

Along High Northgate, there are many other 

historic assets most notably the Railway Tavern 

and Edward Pease’s house.

Visibility of the site entrance for pedestrians 

from either from McNay Street or from Station 

Road  is currently poor, with the site obscured 

from view by trees, bushes and buildings. The 

route to the station platform is also via a path 

that is not suitable for use by people with mobility 

impairments given its gradient and steps.

Poor visibility and lack of signage from main 

roads contribute to the lack of visible presence. 

Furthermore, fencing between the different areas 

impairs appreciation of the site as a unified whole, 

and prevents access.  

The Site is scattered, with disparate uses not 

connected to each other and the poor condition of 

the Goods Shed contributes to the air of neglect. 

Currently there is no strong identity for the site 

being communicated to outsiders, unlike attraction 

such as Swindon Railway Village, or Ironbridge 

World Heritage Site which has marketed itself 

as a pioneer site of the Industrial Revolution with 

international significance embodied in a few 

historic structures, Head of Steam Museum does 

not currently project a  strong identity. But, with all 

the assets of the site it has potential to do so in the 

future.  

Page 197



22 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

2.2           Site Analysis
Heritage Significance

Archaeology Designated Heritage Assets
There are no constructions of note on the site that 
indicate a post railway story, the most significant 
buildings have uses that reflect in one way or another 
their railway heritage. This means that there is no 
competing ‘story’ or heritage interest in the site. 

The site of Kitching’s Foundry on the triangle of land 
to the west of North Road Station and north and 
north west of the Carriage Works established in 
1831 and demolished in 1970’s  offers potential for 
an archaeological dig and then the possibility that 
buildings could be re-erected around a triangular 
yard to restore a sense of enclosure to the space at 
the north and west end of the North Road Station 
site. 

1 Head of Steam Museum Grade II* 
2 North Road Station Grade II*
3 Goods Shed Grade II* (on National Risk Register)                                               
4 Good’s Agent’s Offices 1 and 2, McNay Street, Grade II
5 The Lime Cells Grade II
6 Stockton & Darlington Railway Carriage Works Grade II
7 1861 Shed
8 Railway Viaduct (over A167 Northgate), Grade II
Scheduled Monument 
9 Skerne Railway Bridge 320m South East of Head of 
Steam Museum, Scheduled Monument.

The collection of buildings is unique, forming an 
important part of the heritage and story of the Stockton 
and Darlington Railway. In addition, the site also 
includes the 1861 Shed which is not listed. 

6

7

21

4

8

9

3

5

Previous Buildings

Key:

Page 198



23WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Views and Visual Links Constraints
Yellow – listed buildings and attached curtilage walls
Purple – scheduled monument
Green – Northgate Conservation Area boundary
Blue – important viewpoint 
Black zigzag line – important visual links between 
buildings or uses
Orange – 1861 Shed
View from the train:
This diagram shows the designated heritage on 
the site, where there are important viewpoints from 
which the heritage is seen and where there are links 
between buildings that need to be prioritised. It 
shows the importance of bringing the live railway 
function of the station into consideration, and how 
the site is seen from Hopetown Lane, Station Road 
and Northgate.

Yellow  - listed buildings
Blue – scheduled monument
Light blue shading - area of archaeological potential
Red shading – more sensitive spaces on the site
Green shading – less sensitive spaces on the site

This diagram shows the areas that form immediate 
settings of the Darlington North Road Station, the 
Good Shed, the site of the original station, the Skerne 
Bridge, and the Carriage Works and the Lime Cells, 
plus the site of Kitching’s Foundry are of greater 
sensitivity and therefore would require careful 
consideration of any proposals to build structures on 
these spaces. 

Page 199



24 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

2.3           Site Analysis
Key Buildings

Head of Steam Museum and North Road Station
- Grade II* Listed
Owned by Network Rail and on a 200-year lease to 
DBC the North Road Railway Station that houses the 
Head of Steam Museum is the most complex building 
on site. 

The station dates from 1842, but there had been 
a previous station built on the site about five 
years earlier to replace temporary passenger 
arrangements where the railway crossed the North 
Road. In 1840 the directors of the S&DR agreed that 
John Harris, the S&D resident engineer, should plan a 
station. The contracts for the station were not let until 
3 September 1841 and the new station opened in 
around April 1842.  

The building and track underwent many significant 
alterations until in 1969 the station building was 
made unmanned without any passenger facilities, 

then in 1972 the line to Bishop Line was reduced to a 
single track. Shortly after DBC acquired the building 
and it was refurbished by Bishop, Lee & Braddock 
and in 1975 the Darlington Railway Centre & 
Museum opened. In 2008 it received a refurbishment 
funded by HLF and was rebranded as the Head of 
Steam: Darlington Railway Museum. 

Visually the greatest change to the building has been 
the loss of chimneys and roof vents, removed during 
the 20th century.

In terms of its setting, the station had a formal 
forecourt for carriages and cars, and latterly cars to 
collect passengers and a winding approach along 
Station Road. The conservation area appraisal notes 
the importance of the view up Station Road to the 
frontage.  

Page 200



25WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Carriage Works - Grade II Listed
Owned by Darlington Borough Council and currently 
let to A1 Steam Locomotive Trust and North East 
Locomotion Preservation Group.

Joseph Sparkes was contracted for the design of a 
carriage repair shop in March 1853 by the Stockton 
& Darlington Railway Company. 

The drawings depict an Italianate building with 
rusticated stonework features. A two-storey central 
pavilion with large double gateway housed a 
turntable which, combined with the turntable in front 
of the main pavilion, was used to direct carriages in 
and out of the building. The southern wing (left wing) 
housed a paint shop while the north wing (right wing) 
was home to a joiners’ shop and smithy. Each wing 
had two tracks down the centre. Both ranges have 
Queen post roofs. The later removal of some internal 

features means that much of the upper wall is now 
supported with large cast iron beams. 

The building has subsequently been re-roofed and 
many of the internal walls were removed to make 
the space more flexible. This then allowed the two 
current lease holders, the A1 Steam Locomotive Trust 
and the North East Locomotive Preservation Group 
to move into the South wing in 1995 and the North 
wing in 2002 respectively. Various alterations have 
been made internally and most are in use while the 
upstairs loft area of the central pavilion is unused and 
in poor condition. The exterior has recently received a 
full envelop refurbrishment external.

The setting of this building is hardly changed to its 
south with Hopetown Lane and the terraced housing 
on the far side of it. 

Page 201



26 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Goods Shed - Grade II* Listed 
on National Risk Register
Owned by Darlington Borough Council and currently 
let out to Darlington Railway Preservation Society
The Goods Shed, originally the Merchandise 
Station, is one of the oldest buildings on the site 
and oldest surviving building to be erected by the 
S&DR, as opposed to “structure”. Thomas Storey, 
engineer to the S&DR, designed the original building. 
Construction finished in June 1833.  The Goods Shed 
was significantly expanded from 1839-40 and a 
prominent clock-tower was added featuring triglyphs 
in the frieze with two gaps on each face suggesting 
there may have been a bell accompanying the clock. 
The Merchandise Station is the earliest surviving 
single-storey goods shed in the world and unlike later 
good sheds rail traffic entered through a series of 
sidings into the main façade rather than via a track 
through the shed laterally. 

The Merchandise Station was converted into a fire 

station between 1870 and 1898 and many alterations 
took place. The fire station was converted into a road 
vehicle repair shop for British Railways in 1951. After 
the DBC acquired the site in 1983 it became a repair 
shop for locomotives and rolling stock run by the 
Darlington Railway Preservation Society who have 
occupied the western half from 1984 and then both 
halves a few years later.  

The building has continued to decay. The overhanging, 
timber-cantilevered base of the clocktower is sagging, 
and is at present supported by resting on the cab 
roof of one of the locomotives in the repair shop. The 
clocktower interior cannot be seen at present.

The Goods Shed and 1&2 McNay Street are 
inextricably linked. Whereas the office faces onto the 
street, the shed is set back, now hidden from the street 
by trees and bushes. This relationship between the 
buildings should be restored. 

Page 202



27WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Goods Agent’s Office, 
McNay Street - 
Grade II Listed Lime Cells - Grade II Listed
Owned by Darlington Borough Council and currently 
let to Darlington Model Railway Club and the North 
Eastern Railway Association.
Purpose built to contain the S&DR goods offices, 
adjacent to the Goods or Merchandise Shed. The 
building contract was let on 3rd April 1840 and 
erected shortly after.  In 1931 the offices were 
converted into flats and latterly have had use as 
offices. 

The related functions of the Goods Shed, and office 
have visually diminished over time as the area 
between the two buildings has become cluttered. 
Map evidence shows that there were other offices 
within proximity to 2 McNay Street. The current 
adjacent new nursery building, 2a McNay Street, 
was only built in 2008 on the site of a carpark for the 
Railway Museum, which did have offices on it until at 
least 1900. 

In private ownership. Relatively little is known about 
the Lime Cells.  Their date of construction most likely 
to be 1840s and map evidence suggests that they 
were no longer in use by 1900. 

Wagons would enter through the north side and tip 
their lime through trapdoors into separate cells. Carts 
from the town could then collect lime from the ground 
floor. The Lime Cells are largely brick with a timber 
upper level on the side facing the street. The ground 
floor at street level comprises of the four, low timber 
double doors inside stone columns, each leading to 
one of the four separate lime cells. The Lime Cells 
have suffered badly from dereliction and graffiti. 

The Lime Cells are privately owned and as such are 
not part of the Head of Steam site. This planning 
permission has now lapsed.

Page 203



28 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

1861 Stockton & Darlington Engine Shed, 
Whessoe Road

Owned by Network Rail and partly let to a tenant.
The four-track Whessoe Road engine shed was built 
by the Stockton & Darlington Railway in 1861. 

Designed by William Peachey, it was one of the 
S&DR’s last developments before the company was 
absorbed by the North Eastern Railway in 1863. The 
shed went on to serve as a wagon repair and paint 
shop, before falling into disuse after the railway works 
closed in 1965 and steam engines were withdrawn. 
British Rail, then Network Rail, leased the site around 
it to Whessoe Road Salvage in the late 20th Century. 

It has been assessed for listing as it was thought to 
be an early surviving engine shed. 

It is in a poor state of repair at present and it will 
require major roof repairs and other remedial work 
and new services. 

Page 204



29WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Viaduct over North Road - 
Grade II Listed

The Skerne Railway bridge sits outside of the core 
DRHQ but is the oldest structure on the North Road 
site and was part of the original railway line from its 
inception. Built in 1825 by Ignatius Bonomi it was an 
integral and recognisable aspect of the S&DR’s first 
line in the same year. Its importance as the oldest 
railway bridge still in use has been reflected in its 
depiction on the £5 note through the 1990s.

To the south is a low, flat bridge from bank to bank 
that allows the Skerne Bridge to be seen from close 
above the River Skerne but is currently gated.
However, the self-seeded trees on the railway 
embankment mean that it is not possible at present 
to view the bridge from North Road Station site and 
vice-versa.

The Railway viaduct is just outside of the designated 
DRHQ but will be significant when designing the new 
access steps and ramp to the site.

It was built in 1856 for the railway to be carried 
over the road, where originally there was a level 
crossing. The original cast iron girders and decorative 
spandrels were replaced by the present plate girders 
when the line was widened to accommodate four 
tracks. Stone abutments with decorative piers 
remain, as do flank walls stretching both south and 
north on both sides. 

The stone piers and iron sides of the girder bridge are 
visible from North Road Station and the Goods Shed. 
and the embankment above the retaining wall is a 
site for a feature with signage to advertise the DRHQ.

Skerne Bridge - 
Scheduled Monument

Page 205



30 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

2.4          Site Analysis
Transport and Access

Car Parks and Coaches Buses
Vehicular access to the site is via the A167 North 
Road and the local residential street network. The 
museum currently offers a limited amount of off-road 
parking (including disabled parking) in two parking 
areas which will not meet the needs of a growing 
visitor attraction. There is also no existing formal 
provision for coach drop off/parking with potential 
safety issues for turning coaches at the junction of 
Station Road and North Road. 

Suitable sites for new car parks away from the 
historic assets are limited, require land and present 
issues in terms of providing pedestrian access.
There is a need to ensure that enough car parking is 
provided to support the attraction and so that access 
and parking for residents in the local area is not 
impacted upon by the growth in visitor numbers. 

The North Road corridor is a high frequency bus 
corridor that already provides a good level of service. 
However, the bus stops nearest the attraction are 
remote from the entrance. (      Green shown below)

There are no formal pedestrian crossing facilities 
across North Road close to the site and station for 
access to/from inbound bus services and the Skerne 
Bridge.

Potential sites for car 
parks

Key:

Potential coach parking

Coach drop off

Existing car parks

Page 206



31WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Cycle and Pedestrian Rail
Currently the main pedestrian access to the station 
is via the stepped walkway to the station platforms 
accessed from Northgate. There is no level access. 

This entrance point is suggested as the new entrance 
to the DHRQ. Step-free access is available along 
McNay Street and Station Road. Visibility of this 
route is currently poor, with the site obscured from 
view by trees, bushes and buildings.

The cycle network in Darlington is reasonably 
extensive. However, in the area of the site the 
provision is relatively poor with no direct connection 
to the local cycle network and limited facilities for 
cyclists e.g. cycle parking. However, the proposed 
S&DR walking and cycling route offers an 
opportunity to develop this.

North Road Station is located on the Bishop Line and 
provides hourly services Monday to Saturday on a 
regular clock-face timetable. The number of visitors 
is currently constrained by the service frequency. 

The passenger offer at the unstaffed station is 
minimal with a small passenger waiting shelter 
and there is a ticket machine. A Harrington hump 
has been installed to provide level boarding for 
passengers but it remains difficult for customers with 
mobility issues to gain access to the station as the 
approach is stepped. 

The lack of direct access from the platform to the 
museum is also an issue for those wishing to access 
the musuem site.

Page 207



Page 208



3.0        The Masterplan

The masterplan strategy is informed by the aspirations and 

collaboration with the commissioners TVCA and DBC, the views 

and ideas of the many stakeholder organisations that were engaged 

in the masterplanning process through interviews and workshops, 

by the Initial Narrative & Interpretation Plan for the 26 miles of 

Heritage Action Zone, and by our research into all aspects of the site.

Three main options for the masterplan were considered and 

evaluated. All three options shared a set of physical proposals but 

varied in terms of approach and ambition: Head of Steam 2025 

was focused on heritage assets and 2025 celebrations; Head of 

Steam Reimagined on celebrating, preserving and enhancing of 

the unique skills and knowledge available in Darlington and the 

region, and Darlington Reimagined embraced both heritage assets 

and the unique social capital and extended the ambition further to 

reposition Darlington as the place of innovation and demonstration 

for renewable energy and transport of the future. 

The preferred masterplan embraces some aspects of each of these 

options and anticipates that the ambitions expressed by the Vision 

require a phased delivery.

The proposal addresses the challenges of creating better 

connections and views into the site, suggests new or enhanced uses 

for the restored heritage buildings, provides a  bespoke outdoor 

play attraction and an outdoor events space, identifies potential 

sites and uses  for new buildings and restores  the historic views and 

connectivity between the buildings.  

The masterplan also proposes future proofing the site by generating 

renewable energy on site. 

Page 209



34 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||Page 210



35WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||Page 211



36 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

3.1         Site Strategy

Page 212



37WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||Page 213



DRAWING TITLE

PROJECT

CLIENT:

Fore Consulting Limited
2nd Floor, Queens House

34 Wellington Street
Leeds

LS1 2DE
0113 2460204

enquiries@foreconsulting.co.uk
www.foreconsulting.co.uk

Drawn by Checked by Date Scale Format

RevisionDrawing NumberJob Number

REV DESCRIPTION DATE BY

DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE

NORTH ROAD CAR PARK

PROPOSED PARKING LAYOUT

PREFERRED OPTION

PJ PI 23/08/19 1:200 A1

2180 SK001 05 -2180

P R E L I M I N A R Y

DO NOT SCALE
N  O  T  E  S

C THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF FORE CONSULTING
REGISTERED IN ENGLAND NO 7291952 COPYRIGHT RESERVED

1. PRELIMINARY LAYOUT SUBJECT TO FULL TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY &
DETAILED DESIGN INCLUDING CDM COMPLIANCE, STATUTORY
UNDERTAKERS SEARCH, DIVERSION REQUIREMENTS, HIGHWAY DRAINAGE
PROVISION, LAND AVAILABILITY AND LOCAL AUTHORITY APPROVAL.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL ARCHITECTS,
ENGINEERS & SPECIALISTS DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS.

38 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Proposed bus stop

Key:

Proposed coach drop off

Car park

Review junctions

Existing bus stop

Proposed toucan 
crossing

Stepped pedestrian 
route 

Step free pedestrian 
route 

Improved access to 
North Road Station

Preferred Routed

Page 214



39WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

3.2                           Access

Standard Days

Utilising train services to North Road Station offers 
the most integrated and sustainable way to handle 
visitors coming via Darlington Station or from origins 
along the Bishop Auckland line. The passenger 
offer at North Road Station will be addressed as 
part of the masterplan proposals. In addition, the 
regeneration scheme for Darlington Station will 
enable a further increase in services on the Bishop 
Line to 2 trains per hour from 2025, subject to the 
franchise renewal process. Directing visitors to use 
Bishop Line rail services will necessitate good quality 
interchange and some initial audience engagement 
at Darlington Station. 

To improve pedestrian and cycle access it is proposed 
to close the junction of McNay Street/North Road 
to motorised traffic to provide an enhanced arrival 
space. This will include the provision of high-quality 
bus stops at the end of McNay Street, with waiting 
facilities and real time information as well as a 
toucan crossing over North Road. Several wider cycle 
connections have been identified and are being taken 
forward now, tying in with the ambitions for a multi-
user path along the 26 miles of the Stockton and 
Darlington Rail Line. 

There is also existing high ferequency bus services to 
town centre on North Gate.

In addition to the toucan crossing, it is proposed 
that the masterplan also includes a cycle hub that 
can serve both the attraction and the existing North 
Road station. As a minimum this will provide secure 
cycle parking and secure lockers for cycling gear. The 
offer could be enhanced by the provision of electric/
traditional cycle hire facilities and repair facilities. 
The enhancements will also provide good quality 
access via the path to the Skerne Bridge to the 
preferred car park option to the east of Northgate. 
This car park will provide in the region of at least 
250 parking spaces and be complemented by 
existing car parking within the town centre. Car park 
management strategies will be deployed to manage 
short and long-term use and to avoid problems with 
parking incursion in residential areas, traffic/parking 

restrictions will be required potentially extending the 
existing residential parking permit scheme. 

Disabled parking will be accommodated within the 
main car park as well as close to the attraction, off 
Station Road in line local planning policy. EVCP 
will be installed. Options for photovoltaics will be 
investigated. Coach parking will continue to use 
Chestnut Street. The coach drop offs will be provided 
at Bonomi Way lay-bys and Station Road/Hopetown 
Lane
A signage strategy will be required to complement 
the proposals that will direct vehicular traffic to the 
site via main routes.

Event Days

On event days it is proposed that the potential for 
additional rail services or coaches or carriages on the 
Bishop Line to the serve the attraction is investigated. 

In addition, a temporary park and ride is proposed. 
Potential sites include the College, Arena, Rugby 
Stadium and Feethams Multi Storey Car Park in the 
town centre. Dedicated shuttle bus services will need 
to be provided between the temporary car parking 
and the attraction. These shuttle buses will utilise 
coach/bus drop off/pick up lay-bys to be provided 
on Bonomi Way. The car park at the front of Head of 
Steam will be reserved for disabled users, event staff 
and pre-booked coaches. 

Temporary strategic signing for event car parking 
will need to be deployed on event days drawing upon 
experiences from other large events in Darlington. 
Darlington Borough Council may also want to 
consider investing in several electronic/VMS signs for 
the town.

Page 215



1861 Shed - Potential 
expansion for live 
engineering

Key:

Proposed

Existing Building

Significant existing 
structures

Live 
Engineering 
Building

Carriage Works - 
Live Engineering

Pop-up cafe kiosk 
(seasonal)

40 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

3.3         Key Buildings

Page 216



Live 
Engineering 
Building

Footbridge

Lime Cells - use 
to be determined

Goods Shed - 
Visitor’s Hub

Goods Agent’s 
Office - Retain 
current uses

Pop-up cafe kiosk 
(seasonal)

North Road 
Station

Skerne BridgeViaduct 
abutments

Head of 
Steam 
Museum

41WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

The proposals for the use, restoration and 

provision of additional buildings on site have been 

informed by the aspiration of the vision, current 

uses, heritage and archaeology considerations, 

funding implications, and above all by the 

Interpretation Strategy. 

The location of the proposed new buildings, the 

cycle hub and the Live Engineering, have been 

carefully chosen to avoid impacting on significant 

views of heritage buildings and archaeology and 

to maximise convenience for the users and visitors 

to each facility. 

The use of Carr Mills to the west of the site and of 

the Current Sure Start adjacent to Goods Agents 

office have also been considered but are not 

needed for DRHQ. 

Page 217



42 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Roof Plan

Head of Steam Museum

First Floor

Ground Floor 

Gross Internal Area (excluding basement): 1988m2

Page 218



43WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

The building is owned by Network Rail and on a 200 
year lease to Darlington Borough Council.
The North Road station building in which the 
museum is housed is probably the most complete 
surviving station of the time. The Italianate façade 
is austere and built before the High Victorian house 
style was established in railway architecture. 

Many interior furnishings and features at North Road 
Station have been preserved and little needs to be 
recreated or reconstructed. The period atmosphere 
of the train shed has also been retained, and it still 
reads as a station interior.

The building will however require a full fabric and 
services upgrade and removal of remaining asbestos. 
Special attention needs to be paid to upgrading the 
appearance of the block wall separating the Museum 
from the listed Canopy, an all-timber first generation’ 
station roofs in existence, on the north side to 
enhance the passenger experience. The possibility of 
opening up visual connections between the platform 
and the Museum should be explored.  

The building will be restored and reconfigured 
internally to further enhance the feel and look of a 
station and provide the primary visitor offer through 
an immersive and interactive historic narrative 
environment.
Experience Rides also proposed envisaged as a 
fully immersive media environment within a ‘black 
box’ contained at the west end of the building for 
30-person capacity with a separate entrance and 
ticket price. 
The available archival material, particularly the 
Ken Hoole and North Eastern Railway Association 
collections, will be retained as the base of a centre for 
research scholarship and conservation in action. 
The current café will be relocated to the Goods Shed 
offering an opportunity to improve the educational 
facilities especially for hosting school visits, enhanced 
meeting rooms and public toilets to make better 
use of the small rooms accessible directly from the 
south elevation. An option for PV installation can 
be considered on the internal south facing section of 
the roof of the building. Alternative sites should be 
considered to provide renewable energy.

Page 219



44 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Roof Plan

The Goods Shed

Potential 
new glass 
showcase

New 
opening

Cafe Cafe

Outdoor cafe tables

Core 
Services

Display & Interpretation  Spread 
throughout the building

utilising the height of the roof spaces

Demolish
Recent 

Outbuildings

Demolish
Recent 
Outbuildings

Tickets

Ticketed access 
for visitors

New Opening to  Form 
Main Entrance

Orientation 
Point

Main Entrance

Gross Internal Area: 489m2

Page 220



45WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

The building is owned by Darlington Borough 
Council and currently let out to Darlington Railway 
Preservation Society (DRPS) who will need to be 
relocated on site.

Once refurbished and its clock tower restored the 
Goods Shed will become a landmark for the whole 
site visible also from North Highgate and from the 
train. It is proposed to lead the visitors from the car 
park and bus stops up new steps, past the south side 
of Goods Shed into the new main entrance into the 
building. Current level access from station road will 
also be retained.

The Goods Shed will be an orientation point for all 
visitors to the site and the HAZ 26-mile trail. It will 
also be a hub for visitor facilities and services such as 
reception desks, ticket sales, cloakrooms, wc’s, shop 
and café.  

There will be room for interpretation and temporary 
displays. Fit out and crockery - as well as food 
packaging - can all be branded to tell the story. 

Consideration should also be given to provision of 
storage for buggies, and storage for seasonal outdoor 
furniture.

In terms of desirable interventions, it would enhance 
the visual connection between the building and the 
site if recent brick outbuildings to the west elevation 
were removed and replaced with a section of glazing 
to the gable to reinforce the visual connection 
with the yard. Furthermore, a small opening in the 
east elevation would offer a hitherto unseen visual 
connection to Skerne Bridge and the railway. 

A PV installation icould be considered on the south 
facing internal roof face. Such bold interventions in 
the Grade II* Listed building needs to be considered 
in the context of the numerous alterations that have 
been inflicted on the building over the years and the 
benefits to visitor experience and contribution to 
carbon reduction agendas. 

Page 221



46 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Roof Plan

Carriage Works Live Engineering

Gross Internal Area: 1436m2

Ground Floor

First Floor Second Floor

Potential 

area for 

archive

First floor

Ground floor

Page 222



47WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Carriage Works is owned by Darlington Borough 
Council and was recently refurbished with works to 
external fabric.

Carriage Works is currently home to North Eastern 
Locomotive Preservation Group (NELPG) and A1 
Steam Locomotive Trust (A1SLT). Both organisations 
are limited in their activities by the restricted 
headroom and lack of connection to live track to 
enable transfer of steam locomotives onto main line. 
The masterplan therefore suggests a purpose-built 
facility for one or both organizations. 

It is proposed that through a partnership between 
TVCA, DBC and prominent engineering companies 
in the region such as Hitachi and Cleveland Bridge, 
the Teesside University, CPI, TVCA and DBC and 
others, an Ingenuity and Demonstration Hub is 
established in the building to demonstrate, celebrate 
and promote advances in engineering, technology 
and energy. 

The Interpretation Plan suggests that the partners 
will be invited to co-curate dynamic, hands-on 
interactive displays on a theme that relates closely to 
their own activity. 

The building would also be suitable as an internal 
theatre space to support a diverse programme of 
site-specific theatre, one-off events such as televised 
science programmes expanding and complement 
the outdoor play and events provision. If designed for 
flexibility of use this exceptional space would also be 
suitable for corporate hire. Ancillary facilities such as 
toilets and catering would also need to be considered.

Two large open spaces on upper floors could provide 
accommodation for all civic organisations working 
on various aspects of S&D Railway. 

It is important in the design stage to consider 
improving the connection between the building and 
Kitching’s Foundry site currently severed by rail track 
and changes of level. 

Page 223



48 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Roof Plan

New Shed and 1861 Shed potential 
expansion for Live Engineering

Example of a contemporary new-
build shed in a heritage context

Page 224



49WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

The A1SLT plans to build a purpose built, three-
road workshop, complete with overhead cranes and 
educational facilities, where it can maintain and 
overhaul its locomotive and carriage fleet, as well as 
build additional locomotives. Other planned features 
of the new ‘Darlington Locomotive Works’ include a 
20-metre diameter turntable and a carriage shed 
to house the Trust’s proposed BR Mark 3 carriage 
charter train preferably in the 1861 Shed and the 
adjoining building(and are in network rail ownership. 
The proposed new build site is owned by DBC. The 
building could also accommodate NELPG that 
includes the 1851 Shed & New Shed and rail road in 
between.

The Trust believes the site can be affordably 
reconnected to the rail network. A key priority for the 
Trust is that the site is made publicly accessible on 
regular advertised open days. The siding if extended 
could be used for limited steam-hauled passenger 
rides, running parallel to the Bishop Auckland 
branch, as well as a basic test-bed for the Trusts 
new and overhauled locomotives. The site also has 
potential as an operational base should proposals 
to run steam hauled shuttle services between 
Darlington and Bishop Auckland come to fruition.
The masterplan identified the best location for 
the new shed on the north side of the train station 
west of the Head of Steam Museum. This location 

facilitates new rail connection to the 1861 shed, 
advertises DRHQ with an iconic presence to Bonomi 
Way, avoids disrupting historic views of the station 
building and allows connection to the site through 
the proposed pedestrian bridge. Architecturally the 
building should be a high-quality, contemporary shed 
and should be considered an exemplar of an active 
building energy generation. A1SLT’s could move to 
1861 Shed only if the new build does not go ahead 
but activities, especially the extended training offer 
and events for DRHQ, will be highly restricted.

The Interpretation Plan suggests that the continued 
presence of A1SLT, NELPG, DRPS and other tenants 
offers visitors the chance to participate in real-life 
live heritage engineering, as well as technology and 
design producing contemporary steam locomotives. 
Live demonstrations, learning experiences and 
guided tours will bring audiences alongside A1’s 
innovative rethinking of traditional skills and 
knowledge using cutting edge technology. This could 
offer learning opportunities for further education 
partnerships, as well as offering a unique skill sharing 
and employment opportunity. This in turn will be a 
catalyst for learning and entrepreneurship. Through 
a land train, footpaths, cycle track and heritage trails, 
it should remain fully integrated in the DRHQ offer.

Page 225



50 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Small Buildings

Goods Agents 
Office

The Good’s Agent’s Offices are 
owned by Darlington Borough 
Council and currently let to 
Darlington Model Railway Club 
and the North Eastern Railway 
Association. 

The building is a very good 
condition. The interior has lost 
almost all its original features 
and the room layout is domestic 
in nature making the building 
unsuitable for visitor uses. 

Both current tenants expressed 
a need for additional space. 
It is proposed to either retain 
the existing uses or facilitate 
alternative accommodation 
for one of the tenants to allow 
expansion for the other.  

USES RETAINED

Page 226



51WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Lime Cells Cycle Hub

The Lime Cells are currently in 
private ownership.

The building has suffered from 
vandalism and will require full 
refurbishment. 

It is recommended that Lime Cells 
are purchased by DBC and used to 
relocate one of the existing tenants 
to provide them with a more public 
facing accommodation.  

Darlington Model Railway 
Club would be a suitable user 
and would contribute to the 
enhancement of the visitor offer of 
the DRHQ. 

Cycling to the site either as a 
destination or on a route to 
explore the 26-mile trail will be 
encouraged as part of the low 
carbon ethos of the project. It is 
therefore desirable to provide good 
facilities for cyclists on site and a 
small cycling hub is envisaged. 

It is unlikely that this function 
can be accommodated in the 
existing buildings either because 
of other functions being prioritised 
or because, as is the case with 
Carriage Works, the space is far 
from other visitor facilities. 

A feasibility study is required once 
the proposed cycling routes are 
agreed, to scope the provision and 
test available site options.  

Page 227



2

3

4

5

5

6

1 Entrance square

Key:

External interpretation area and 
outdoor cafe space

Improved public realm and 
wheelchair car park

Designated play area

Designated events Space

Overspill car park (retained)

52 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

3.4            Public Spaces

Page 228



1

2
3

4

6

53WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

The site has a neglected appearance with many 

wreckages of the rail industry scattered across 

the Goods Shed yard and behind it and in front 

of the Carriage Works. Self-seeding vegetation 

has obstructed some of the views and visual links 

between the original group of buildings.

Most notably the best-preserved elevation of the 

Goods Shed is completely screened from view by 

sapling trees and shrubs.  Furthermore, the views 

of the Station Building have been obstructed.

Equally in need of attention is the appearance 

of the site on arrival at the train station. The 

blockwork wall built to separate the platform from 

the Museum presents very uninviting prospect to 

visitors arriving by train. 

The ground is likely to be contaminated 

throughout the site due to decades of rail 

engineering activities. There are also likely to be 

remains of archaeological interest especially in the 

west corner where Kitchen’s Foundry used to stand.

DRHQ presents an opportunity to significantly 

improve all aspects of the public realm and to 

restore the views and the historic view links 

between the buildings by clearing some of the self-

seeding vegetation.  

There are also several focal points around existing 

historic elements, visual features and externally 

exhibited collection pieces. 

During design stage attention should be paid to 

striking the right balance between the working, 

messy nature of the original site and the new, 

visitor-focused environment. 

Page 229



54 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

              Yard and frontage of 
the Head of Steam MuseumEntrance

New access point is proposed into the site off the 
corner High Northgate and McNay street. Generous 
set of steps are proposed to replace the currently 
overgrown bank, leading up to a new entrance square 
in front of the south elevation of Goods Shed. The 
square will provide appropriate setting for the best-
preserved elevation of the Goods Shed which, with its 
restored clock tower, will become the signpost for the 
DRHQ.
 
This is a natural arrival point from the proposed 
car park area and bus stops. The main entrance 
will be through the building, but gated access will 
be provided to the yard directly from the entrance 
square to facilitate servicing, ingress for large parties 
and potential for a turn stall exit so visitors will not 
need to go through Good Shed on exit.  

Improved ramped access will also be provided to the 
station as part of the works. Step free access to the 
site will be provided via McNay Street.

The arrival space outside Head of Steam together 
with the Yard that joins the Station Building to Goods 
Shed will be the main external spaces for the visitors. 
There are great opportunities here to improve 
the visual impact of the site and to integrate the 
historic interpretation into the design. High quality 
material will be used throughout, and tracks should 
be retained. Lighting can be used to emphasize the 
architectural features such as chimneys on the Head 
of Steam Museum, the underside of the Station 
canopy and the clock tower on the Goods Shed. 
The external area of the Sure Start facility will be 
rationalised to provide a better demarcation with the 
Yard and to offer some privacy to the users of that 
building from the visitors. 

Improved fencing and directly access from the 
platform should be agreed with the operator. 
These spaces should be traffic free, but some 
wheelchair parking will be retained.  In good weather 
café tables can be provided to cater for the increased 
visitor numbers.  The space can also be used for 
staging events. 

1

1

2 3+

2 3

Page 230



55WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Play and Events Aspirational Bridge

The area immediate to the West of Station Road 
is designated for bespoke play area. The overspill 
car park is to be retained. The existing trees and 
vegetation need to be redesigned to open the view 
of the heritage buildings whilst providing some 
screening from the play area. It would be ideal for 
the play area to be overlooked by the café but this 
would conflict with safeguarding the viewing lines 
between the key buildings. It is suggested, therefore, 
that in peak times a pop-up café kiosk is provide with 
outside tables and chairs adjacent to the play area. 

The area west of the play is designated for external 
events. The furthest corner of the triangle was the 
site of the Kitching’s Foundry and is likely to contain 
some archaeology and plenty of contamination. 
Possible remediation method may include significant 
import of new topsoil up to a meter in height. This 
offers opportunity to create a shallow east facing 
amphitheatre from which to view the events. A small 
amount of infrastructure for the events is proposed in 
the form of electrical and data supplies. 

The bridge will be a strategic new connection across 
the rail tracks and will also allow Live Engineering to 
be better integrated with the visitor offer on the main 
site. 

The design of the bridge will need to be carefully 
considered regarding its proximity to the west gable 
of the North Road Station and its visual impact kept 
to a minimum.  It will have to be accessible by lift and 
designed to network rail standards.

 Interpretation can be integrated into the landing 
areas of the stairs and lifts and viewing balconies 
provided off the bridge to facilitate special viewing 
of trains and steam trains and a photographic 
opportunity for train enthusiasts. 

Public use of the bridge outside opening times of 
DRHQ should be considered and the impact on 
security of the site assessed. 

4 5 6++

4

5

6

7

7

Page 231



56 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Landscape

Key:

3.5 Site wide Strategies

Energy

PV cells on 
roofs

PV area 

All new developments need to consider being net zero 
for carbon emissions in their design, development 
and operation. The DRHQ is ideally placed to lead 
this transformation in energy and transport, just 
as the innovations that happened on the site and 
the Stockton and Darlington Railway 200 years 
ago transformed energy and transport around the 
world. In addition, it will help future proof the site in 
terms of minimising its carbon emissions, reducing 
ongoing operational costs of facility and ability to 
attract visitors, as well as providing the opportunities 
to use the renewable energy systems as education 
and research tools and to involve businesses from 
across the region.  Further feasibility study needs to 
be undertaken to establish viable strategy.
Biomass and PVs have been identified as potential 
sources of renewable energy.

The existing character and qualities of industrial railway 
should be preserved and ‘new layer’ be added with 
confidence to articulate the renewal and forward looking 
nature of the regenerative initiative. These layers should 
be unified by a common ‘industrial aesthetic’. 
Characteristics to resonate would include the 
naturalistic, regenerative character of the railside 
vegetation, the established material aesthetic.
 
Opportunities should also be taken to reference the 
landscape pattern and grid of former uses on the site and 
to reinstate the former ‘railway garden’ which is evident 
within the historic plans.
Climatic resilience and sustainable drainage solutions 
should also be included alongside biodiversity 
enhancement.

Biomass Plant

Page 232



Key:

Secure line

Live Engineering 
Building

New Bridge

57WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Servicing Security and pay barrier
Currently all deliveries and refuse collection at the 
Head of Steam utilise Station Road and the main 
entrance of the museum at present. 

Exhibitions are also delivered through the front of 
the building, with locomotives entering and exiting 
the building via the existing roller shutters and 
transported on low loaders that go through the goods 
yard on to Station Road. 

This will remain the main strategy for servicing 
the Darlington Railway Heritage Quarter when 
redeveloped as no other vehicular access options to 
site are available. 

The current inaccessibility of the existing site is 
exacerbated by fencing to the site boundary and 
within the site itself between the Head of Steam 
Museum and the Kitching’s Foundry Field. 
The removal of the fences all together would not 
be compatible with the need for security from 
vandalism.  It is therefore proposed to retain the 
boundary fence and the main gate off Station 
Road and to provide a fence and a lockable gate 
at the proposed main entrance to the south of the 
Goods Shed. The ticket office for the First Day Ride 
and events is proposed at the Goods Shed.  An 
arrangement for direct access to the site from the 
train platform is to be negotiated. The bridge is a long 
term aspiration subject to business case..

Key:

Service/delivery 
zone

Page 233



Celebrate, Protect, 
Retain and Develop 

Local Engineering Skills

Create visitor 
attraction which 

cherishes its heritage

Interpretation

Skills and Learning

Provide Opportunities 
for Bespoke Play 

throughout the Site

Programme of Events 
and Engagement 

Activities

1.1

1.2

1.3 

1.4

1.5

2.1

2.2

2.3 

3.1 4.1Refurbish heritage site 
and heritage buildings

Enhance the Heritage 
Interpretation and 
displays of the 
collection and the site

Provide multimodal 
transport 
infrastructure to site

Provide access to 
archive of S&D Railway 
and digitised archive 
across HAZ

Provide ‘Virtual 
Experience Ride’ or 
similar wow attraction

Complete 
Statements of 
Historic Significance 
for all Listed 
Buildings and the 
Site

Scope spatial 
requirements and 
associated costs for 
each Tenant as for 
AISLT

Set up service 
level agreement 

with Key Tenant 
Organisations

Prototype Play 
Projects with Key 

Stakeholders

Prepare Brief 
for Play

Prepare Brief for 
Learning and 
Skills strategy

Commission Audience 
and Community 

Development 
Strategy and Activites 

Programme

Land Acquisition

Develop Brief for 
Virtual Experience 
Ride

Remote Sensing 
Survey of site

Site Investigation 
Surveys

Commission 
design of Play 
offer

New accommodation 
for Live Engineering with 
visitor access

Restore the 1861 Shed

Provide live link to rail 
network

Provide a bespoke, unique 
Play Park focused on 
creativity and learning 
through engagement in 
Heritage and in future 
engineering technologies 
throughout the site

Events infrastructure for 
the site and buildings 
including data, power 
and storage

4 KEY THEMES
B

IG
 O

B
JE

C
T

IV
E

S
P

R
O

JE
C

T
S

S
T

E
P

P
IN

G
 S

T
O

N
E

S

1 2 3 4

1 1 1 1

2

3

4

2

5

3

6

2
2

|||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

|||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Interpretation 
Plan including 

Heritage Site

3
Develop Strategy 
for Volunteering

4.2 Programme 
for community 
engagement

3

4

Work with Skills and 
Learning Partners 

and Site Tenants to 
incorporate Training 

across the Site

Undertake Business 
Planning for Live 
Engineering to Assess 
Viability 

Heritage Engineering Play Events 
Programme

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

|||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

|||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Page 234



`

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

4.0                        Delivery

Page 235



60 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Cost and Procurement

The costs contained elsewhere in 
this report are based on the likely 
construction costs of a scheme of
this size and nature.
The costs are current as at July 
2019. A separate inflation factor 
has been included which uplifts the
construction costs, contingencies 
and professional fees up to the 
second quarter 2023. This uplift is
based on BCIS Tender Price 
indices which is a nationally 
recognised source of statistical 
construction
data.

The construction costs have been 
divided into Phase one and two 
cost centres as well as Stakeholder
Contributions.

The construction costs assume 
either a traditional form of 
contract or two stage tender 
approach after
planning has been achieved and 
significant surveys and design 
work has been completed.
The costs do not allow for early 
involvement of a contractor and 
their associated preliminary/
management costs. If this is 
required then a separate budget 
needs to be included for pre-
construction contractor’s fees. 

The construction figures may also 
need uplifting to factor in a full
second stage negotiation process 
rather than a competitive tender.
It is also considered that this 
development has potential to be 
divided up into smaller projects 
that will allow local and regional 
contractors to tender for the work 
which could provide a more
economical route for some of the 

works to be procured. This should 
also allow an element of design
and build on some of the elements. 
Careful consideration needs to be 
given to the linkage between
the different elements along 
with any Health and Safety 
complications.

At the moment it is possible that 
the following areas could be split 
away from the main museum
redevelopment:

• Carriage Works (Building 3) – 
could be a design and build project 
as this is a fairly simple
building.

• Live Engineering (Building 4) – 
this sits on the other side of the 
railway line and is new build.
It could be seen as a standalone 
projects, procured via a design 
and build route.

• Lime Cells (Building 6) – the 
building sits on its own and would 
be an ideal project for a local
builder familiar with small 
sensitive refurbishment projects. 
Design and Build is considered
not appropriate for this as its 
condition will be uncertain until it 
is “opened up”.

• 1861 shed (Building 7) – this sits 
away from the main site and could 
be viewed as a separate
contract. The building is relatively 
simple so if sufficient surveys are 
done on it and the information is 
good, then it is possible that this 
could be tendered as a design and 
build contract.

• Area ‘C’ and ‘D’ contamination 
removal and landscaping could be 
considered as a separate

contract as much of it is civil 
engineering. However the timing 
of the work and how it connects to 
the main site need to be reviewed. 
For instance if it were possible to 
access the site early before other 
areas around it were started, then 
it could be possible to remediate 
the site prior to commencement on 
the rest of the buildings.

• Off site highways improvements 
- These areas could easily be 
separated out from the main
project and dealt with by 
Darlington’s Highways 
Department using their own 
framework contractors. This could 
reduce design approval times 
and mean that the highways 
department have control of when 
the works are programmed to be 
done.

• Off-site Car Park and 
Photovoltaics – this is a separate 
site, so there is no reason why this
could not be tendered separately, 
perhaps as a design and build 
contract.

The figures, other than 
construction costs, are included 
as budgets. It is important that 
these figures are ‘tested’ as soon 
as possible to ensure they are 
robust and in line with the client’s 
expectations of what is to be 
delivered.

4.1               Capital Cost

Page 236



61WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Introduction

A key aim of the business 
plan was to create a business 
model for the project which will 
ensure that the project will be 
sustainable. This required an 
energetic approach to revenue 
development. The plan therefore, 
investigated opportunities to build 
on current activities and develop 
new income-generating activities, 
resulting in a vibrant, sustainable 
mixed economy model.

The process to achieving this 
involved looking laterally at 
markets, resources, partnerships 
and marketing. To develop this 
plan the consultants drew on 
experience across the heritage, 
tourism and commercial sectors 
and considered the development 
and delivery models behind some 
best practice comparators. It 
concluded that to achieve the aims 
and objectives of the project a 
more inspirational and engaging 
offer would be required which 
would appeal to heritage and non-
heritage users. An approach that 
would overcome both intellectual 
and financial barriers.  

The plan was developed in 
conjunction with a suite of 
documents prepared as part 
of the masterplan along with 
the interpretation strategy and 
audience development research 
undertaken for the wider Heritage 
Action Zone.  

The business plan considered 
the likely appeal of a number of 
potential options and considered 
the resulting number of visitors 
that would be attracted by these.  
It considered the resources 

necessary to deliver the new 
attraction offer and considered 
the impact of the development on 
operating costs.  The result was 
a 10-year profit and loss forecast 
showing the level of funding 
needed to maintain the offer over 
this period.

Research indicated that a 
revamped Head of Steam 
including an immersive 
experience would be appealing 
to locals, day visitors and tourists 
alike. Audience research also 
suggested that making the 
museum a free attraction would 
encourage greater use by the local 
community.  

To keep the site busy throughout 
the year required something else 
to attract those who are not usual 
‘heritage users’.  Comparator 
analysis suggested that a bespoke 
play experience designed to 
appeal to young families would 
attract locals and day visitors 
who could also experience the free 
Head of Steam museum. A  ‘Play 
and Learn’ approach will ensure 
that the site is both inspiring and 
engaging, enabling young people 
to learn about rail engineering 
through play.

The conclusion of the research and 
workshops with the client team 
resulted in the following product 
proposition:

• A musuem with experience – 
extended attraction including 
VR or AR attracting circa 93,476 
visitors.

• A themed play park - attracting 
over 139,709 visitors.

• An extended programme of 
events - perhaps a continuation of 

the 2025 programme. 

• A new café experience with 
integrated interpretation 
attracting 17,136 visitors.

• Live engineering interpretation.

Visitor Numbers 

The forecast number of 
admissions was developed using 
penetration analysis of local 
and tourist markets.  Potential 
markets were calculated using 
population statistics, published 
data including data on county and 
where available local authority 
level tourism performance, and on 
visitor behaviours including the 
GBDVS (Great Britain Day Visitor 
Survey). A penetration analysis of 
these markets showed potential 
markets and assumptions were 
made on the number of repeat 
visitors that each element might 
draw.  

In total it was estimated that the 
site will attract over 235,000 visits 
per year. This would be made up 
of those attracted by the museum 
experience, those drawn to the 
play park and those drawn to a 
great new café in an interesting 
heritage setting.  

Sustainability

It was recognised by the client 
team that the site will always 
required some public funding to 
be sustained.  However the more 
commercial approach adopted 
by this masterplan which will 
draw a significantly increased 
number of visitors, will ensure that 
even with an allocation for future 
development and refurbishments 
the site will cost less to run that it 
does currently.  

4.2            Business Plan

Page 237



Car park and 
associated traffic 
works

Head of Steam

Events Space

Good’s shed and 
Main entrancePlayground

Carriage Works
Lime Cells

1861 Shed

Turntable

Live Engineering 
Building and 
associated track works

Phase 1

Phase 2a

Phase 2b

62 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||Page 238



63WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

4.3                        Phasing
The Business Plan projections based on the 

proposed masterplan indicate that the DRHQ will 

continue to require some core revenue  funding. 

The masterplan needs to be delivered in time for 

the 2025 bicentennial anniversary celebrations of 

the opening of the S&DR.

The success of achieving the project Vision will 

depend on the strength and effectiveness of the 

partnerships that is achieved in the process of 

developing the DRHQ. The work on establishing 

these needs to commence at the earliest 

opportunity.

The timescale and the funding dictate that the 

masterplan should be phased. 

The initial phase needs to provide the core 

visitor offer and the cost of it exceeds the funding 

currently identifed. 

Likewise, the time required to secure all 

the permissions, land purchases, site 

decontamination, relocation of existing users and 

full design development and delivery suggest that 

a longer period would be required to deliver the full 

vision. Even the delivery of the core phase within 

the time scales might be a challenge. 

It is important therefore to form a dedicated 

delivery team from the outset and to prioritise 

further scoping studies to de-risk the project 

assumptions in terms of timescale and cost. 

Page 239



64 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

1

2

3

5

6

7

4

8

9

A

B

C

D

10
11

12

Page 240



Existing buildings on site:

Key:

External Zones:

Proposed new builds:

Significant structures off site:

Head of Steam

Surviving 
Historical Buildings

Main Entrance

Head of Steam Exhibition Yard

Playground Area

Events Area

Now Demolished
Historical Buildings

External Zones

Proposed Car and Coach Park

Photovoltaic Cells to Roof

Carriage Works - Ingenuity and 
demonstration hub

1861 Shed - Potential expansion 
for Live Engineering

Live Engineering Shed

Footbridge

Pop-up Cafe Kiosk (seasonal)

Viaduct abutments

Skerne Bridge

Note: All areas are approximate

Gross internal Area = 1988m2 Area = 1988m2

Area = 5000m2

Area = 5000m2

Area = 10000m2

Gross internal Area = 1436m2

Gross internal Area = 1050m2

Gross internal Area = 975m2

Gross internal Area = 489m2

Gross internal Area = 114m2

Gross internal Area = 110m2

North Road Station

Goods Shed - Visitor’s Hub

Goods Agent Office 

Lime Cells

Biomass Plant

65WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

1

6

7

8

9

10

2

3

4

5

A

B

C

D

11

12

Page 241



66 DARLINGTON RAILWAY HERITAGE QUARTER 2025 MASTERPLAN     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

|||

THEME STEPPING STONES

1

2

4

5

Complete Statements 
of Historic 
Significance for all 
Listed Buildings and 
the site

Celebrate, Protect, 

Retain and Develop 

Local Engineering Skills

Enhance Heritage Site 

and Visitor Experience

Provide Opportunities 

for Bespoke Play 

throughout the Site

Programme of Events 

and Engagement 

Activities

Scope spatial 
requirements and 
associated costs for 
each Tenant as
for AISLT

Set up service level 
agreement with Key 

Tenant Organisations

Prototype Play 
Projects with Key 

Stakeholders

Prepare Brief for Play

Prepare Brief for 
Learning and Skills 

strategy

Commission Audience and 
Community Development 
Strategy and Activites 
Programme

Land Acquisition

Remote Sensing 
Survey of site

Commission design 
of Play offer

1

1

1

1

2
3    

2

3

2

2

4.4        Stepping Stones
The high-level programme prepared for the masterplan indicates that work needs to progress 

immediately on scoping all aspects of the masterplan in full detail. Most important are the elements 

without which other work cannot be progressed. These have been identified as the next set of 

steppingstones for delivery.

These comprise public consultation on the masterplan, the completion of the Statements of 

Significance for all the listed buildings and the site itself, scoping site contamination, developing 

detailed interpretation plan,  and the preparation of briefs for Bespoke Play, Audience Development and 

Interpretation Plan, and most importantly submitting Stage 1 of the National Lottery Heritage Fund. 

Work with Skills and 
Learning Partners and 

Site Tenants to incorperate 
training across the site.

3    
4

3
Develop Strategy 
for Volunteering

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Page 242



67WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

|||

4

4

Site 
Investigation 
Surveys

5

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Develop Brief for Virtual 
Experience Ride

Interpretation 
Plan including 
Site Heritage6

These stepping-stones are vital to to be able to progress 
the project to design stage and to gain greater cost and 
program certainty. The archaeological survey and the 
ongoing work on Statements of Significance by Heritage 
England. The NHLF application is slow and it is critical to 
achieve Stage 1 bid submission by February 2020 at the 
latest.

Retaining the existing tenants on site and securing better 
facilities for A1 Trust is vital to the success of DRHQ. 
It is also vital to work closely with the tenant organisations 
in involve them in the next stage of the delivery to ensure 
that they feel ownership of the project. 

Business plan projections assumed high visitor numbers 
in anticipation of high quality, unique play offer. It is a high 
priority therefore to develop detailed proposal of what the 
play offer will be. Further research should be undertaken 
on play provision to ensure that the right brief is developed 
for designers and operators. 

Audience Development and Activities Plan will be a 
key element of NLHF stage 1 application. Furthermore, 
getting the infrastructure brief for the events will be critical 
to how ambitious the future events programme will be.  
Commissioning of these strategies should commence at 
the earliest possible stage. 

Undertake Business 
Planning for Live 

Engineering to Assess 
Viability

Page 243



     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

    

Commissioned by TVCA and DBC

July 2019  

An undated, but early, possibly contemporary painting of the line as working after the goods station 

was built between 1826-1827 – the goods station to the left and Skerne Bridge in the centre

From 20, 12 2016- S&DR  Significance and Management  Volume 1

Page 244



69WHERE PASSENGER RAIL BEGAN AND WHERE THE STORY IS TOLD     |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

    

Page 245



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CABINET 
7JANUARY 2020 

 
 

PERMIT SYSTEM TO MANAGE AND COORDINATE ROADWORKS 
 

 

Responsible Cabinet Member – Councillor Heather Scott 
Leader and Local Services Portfolio 

 
Responsible Director – Ian Williams, Director of Economic Growth and 

Neighbourhood Services 
 

 
SUMMARY REPORT 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To update Members on the development of a Permit Scheme to manage and 

coordinate roadworks.   
 

Summary 
 
2. All highways authorities have a duty under the New Roads and Street Works Act 

1991(NRSWA) and the Traffic Management Act 2004 (TMA) to effectively 
coordinate all activities on the highway to ensure the safe and expeditious 
movement of traffic, pedestrians and vulnerable road users. 
 

3. The Council and many other Highway Authorities across the country presently 
effectively coordinate roadworks through a noticing system.  However, a permit-
based system is an alternative approach available to Councils. 

 
4. At its meeting of 8 January 2019 Cabinet considered the development and 

consultation on a permit scheme to manage and coordinate roadworks.  This was 
at the request of the Secretary of State for Transport who wrote to all local 
authorities indicating that they should move to a system of this nature rather than 
being directed to do so.  The deadline imposed to move to a permit system was not 
feasible and was amended following representations to 31 March 2020.  

 
5. The key features of a permit scheme are explained in more detail in the main 

report.  Essentially all works are assessed on an individual basis and the Council 
can apply conditions to the permit.  This is a more detailed application and 
assessment process that is much more resource intensive.  A fee can be charged 
for processing and managing the application and can cover the anticipated 
additional costs associated with a permit scheme compared to the current 
arrangements.   

 
6. The Council has worked collaboratively with North East and Tees Valley Authorities 

to develop a common scheme that will be managed by the individual authorities.   
 

7. This report seeks to update members on the scheme including the cost benefit 
analysis, consultation and implementation.  

 

Page 247

Agenda Item 7(g)



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

8. The scheme was developed with key stakeholders and then formally consulted 
upon regionally with stakeholders between 15 August and 15 November 2019, this 
resulted in some minor alterations to the proposed scheme. 
 

9. The cost benefit analysis work has been undertaken utilising a calculator provided 
by Department for Transport and consultants employed by the North East 
Authorities.  The Council manages around 7000 notices per year.  The more 
detailed and complex nature of the individual application process for a permit has 
identified a need for additional staff resources and modifications to existing 
systems.  The assessment identified the need to increase from 0.75 full time 
equivalent staff to two full time equivalent staff managing permit applications.  

 
10. The scheme allows fees to be charged to offset operating costs.  Under the permit 

scheme regulations, the authority is allowed to charge statutory undertakers a fee 
to review, issue and vary (where applicable) a permit.  The charges proposed have 
been based on Department for Transport information and are included at 
Appendix 1.  The charges are considered proportionate to cover the cost to the 
Authority for administering the permit scheme.  Cabinet are recommended to 
approve the schedule of fees at Appendix 1.  

 
11. The annual operating cost of the scheme is calculated to be £297,978.  However, 

this includes the current operating costs.  The additional annual revenue generated 
is calculated to be £170,949 for permit charges only and not the Fixed Penalty 
Notices.  This revenue is expected to cover the additional costs and will be kept 
under review.  
 

12. The anticipated benefits of operating a permit scheme are detailed in the main 
report but the main benefit will be increased resource and a new way to manage 
activities on the public highway, providing a powerful tool for effective coordination, 
minimising the inconvenience to the travelling public, businesses and local 
residents, whilst allowing works promoters the necessary time and space to 
complete their work. 

 
13. Subject to Member approval of the recommendations in this report the scheme is 

anticipated to commence in March 2020.  The other North East authorities are 
proposing to commence between February and April 2020. 

 
Recommendations 
 
14. It is recommended that:  

 
(a) Cabinet approve the introduction of the Permit Scheme that has been 

developed and the additional resources required to operate the scheme.   
 

(b) Approve the schedule of Fees and Charges as set out in Appendix 1.   
 
Reasons 
 
15. The recommendations are supported by the following reasons: 

 
(a) To fulfil duties under the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991(NRSWA) and 

the Traffic Management Act 2004 (TMA) 
(b) Improve the management and coordination of roadworks 

Page 248



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) Comply with requests from the Secretary of State to introduce a Permit 
Scheme.  
 

Background Papers 
 
1. Cabinet Report 8 January 2019 
2. Traffic Management Act 2004 
3. New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 
4. The Code of Practice for the Coordination of Street Works and Works for Road 

Purposes and Related Matters (Third Edition, July 2007) 
5. The Street Works (Fixed Penalty) Regulations 2007 
 
Dave Winstanley: extension 6618 

 

S17 Crime and Disorder There are no specific implications in relation to 
Crime and Disorder. 

Health and Well Being The duty reflects the strategic objectives in the 
Local Transport Plan, one of these being to 
improve the health of the community through 
reducing congestion and vehicle emissions 
arising from vehicles queuing in road works. 

Sustainability There are no specific implications in relation to 
sustainability. 

Diversity The permit system will improve the ability to 
manage, control and coordinate roadworks and 
consider the impacts of diversity in terms of 
access during works.  

Wards Affected All 

Groups Affected All 

Budget and Policy Framework  The report does not affect the Council’s budget 
or Policy Framework. 

Key Decision This is a key decision. 

Urgent Decision This is not an urgent decision. 

One Darlington: Perfectly 
Placed 

The permit system will better manage, and 
coordinate roadworks reduce congestion, time 
spent in road works that cost the economy and 
ease traffic flow, all of which contributes in 
different ways to the themes in the strategy.  

 

Page 249



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
MAIN REPORT 

 
Information and Analysis 
 
Background 
 
16. All highways authorities have a duty under the New Roads and Street Works Act 

1991(NRSWA) and the Traffic Management Act 2004 (TMA) to effectively 
coordinate all activities on the highway to ensure the safe and expeditious 
movement of traffic, pedestrians and vulnerable road users. 
 

17. The Council presently manages the coordination of roadworks through a noticing 
system.  Whereby, a small dedicated streetwork’s team manage notices submitted 
to the Council.  These are then assessed and coordinated to manage the impact on 
highway users.  The Council currently coordinates over 7,000 notices per year.  

 
18. The Traffic Management Act (TMA) 2004 makes provision for Highways Authorities 

to introduce a permit scheme in order to manage disruption on the network more 
effectively for all road users and the view of Government is that local authorities will 
move to this approach.  A permit scheme requires more detail to be submitted and 
allows the Council to place conditions on the works. 

 
19. In Summer 2018 the Secretary of State for Transport wrote to all local authorities 

indicating that “Government believes that operating a street works permit scheme is 
a far more effective way of proactively managing street and road works on the local 
road networks than operating under the older, more passive street works noticing 
system.” 
 

20. The Secretary of State also asked Councils to consider introducing such a scheme 
by 31 March 2019; preferring the Council to make the change willingly and for it to 
be done in way that best suits the local area rather than the Secretary of State 
giving direction to introduce a scheme.  

 
21. The timescales posed by the Secretary of State were extremely challenging and 

this was reflected back from Councils across the Country resulting in a revised date 
of 31 March 2020.  The Council is aiming for March 2020, which still remains 
challenging.   

 
22. Continuing the current model of delivery is not advisable for two reasons: 

 
(a) Guidance and possible direction from the Secretary of State 

 
(b) The fact that the current approach relies on a national noticing ICT system, 

which is being replaced by a new system Streetworks Manager system which 
comes into force April 2020.  The new system is being developed to work with 
permit schemes.  Whilst, the intention is that it will work with the current 
system, development and support will focus on permit schemes, this could 
present a risk if the Council does not move to a permit system.  
 

23. In January 2019 Cabinet approved the development and consultation on a permit 
scheme.  This report updates members on the development of a scheme.  

 

Page 250



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Key Features of a Permit Scheme 
 

24. Permit Schemes provide an alternative to the current notification system so, rather 
than a works promoter informing the Highway Authority of their intention to carry 
out works, a permit will be required in advance.  
 

25. Provides the Council with the opportunity to better evaluate each proposed works 
and enable the Authority to reject incorrect or incomplete permit applications.   

 
26. Work promoters will effectively book occupation of the street for specific periods 

and purposes rather than the current system of informing the Authority of its 
intention to occupy the street. 

 
27. All permit applications will need to be responded to within a given response time as 

per the regulations and should the time limit elapse without comment the Permit is 
deemed to have been approved and the works can proceed. 

 
28. Permit Schemes differ from the existing approach in a number of ways and will 

apply to our own works as well as those of Utility Companies and parity will be 
demonstrated through annual Key Performance indicators. 

 
29. Works promoters will have to apply for a permit before commencing the work on 

the street with the exception of emergency and urgent works.  Emergency works 
are defined as works that are required to end, or prevent circumstances, either 
existing or imminent that might cause damage to people or property.  Within two 
hours of the works starting, the Utility must contact the Council, apply for a permit 
and provide details of the activity. 

 
30. Urgent activities are defined as, to prevent or put an end to an unplanned 

interruption of any supply, to avoid substantial loss to the Utility in relation to an 
existing service, to reconnect supplies or services where the Utility would be under 
a civil or criminal liability if the reconnection is delayed until after the expiration of 
the appropriate notice period.  Again, within two hours of the works starting, the 
Utility must contact the Council, apply for a permit and provide details of the 
activity. 

 
31. Certain conditions can be attached to a permit, such as timing of activities and the 

way works are carried out, with more punitive fines for either working without a 
permit or in breach of permit conditions. 

 
32. The Traffic Management Act, section 37(7), enables fees for permits to be charged 

to Utilities as follows: 
 
(a) Applications for permits 
(b) Issuing of permits 
(c) Variations to permits or conditions attached e.g. extending the duration of 

works or changes to the traffic management. 
 

33. There are no charges applied to the current Noticing system and it should be noted 
that Permit Schemes are not intended to generate revenue income; however, the 
Authority may cover its costs in delivering the scheme. 
 

Page 251



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

34. A Permit Scheme’s primary function is to reduce disruption on the network and the 
regulations state that Permit income is to be only applied to the prescribed cost of 
operating the scheme. 
 

35. All other aspects of NRSWA remain unchanged and run in conjunction with Permit 
Schemes, including Section 74 overstay charges for unreasonable or prolonged 
occupation of the street.  Section 74 overstay charges will also apply to works 
requiring a permit. 

 
Potential Benefits of a Permit Scheme 
 
36. The potential benefits of the scheme are:  

 
(a) This will provide a new way to manage activities on the public highway, 

providing a powerful tool for effective coordination, minimising the 
inconvenience to the travelling public, businesses and local residents, whilst 
allowing works promoters the necessary time and space to complete their work.   
 

(b) The Council would set out detailed conditions that suit the local environment 
and community on an individual permit basis.  This can help ensure greater 
control over the use of the road network.  For example, promote working 
outside peak hours; instruct where the materials can be stored and what traffic 
management is appropriate for the site. 
 

(c) Developing, introducing and operating a 'permit scheme' that applies to works 
both carried out on behalf of utility companies, the Council and others enables 
greater ability to manage and coordinate works; to reduce disruption and 
protect the operation and fabric of the highway network more effectively. 
 

(d) There are financial consequences for failure to comply with the conditions of 
the permit: 
 

(i) Works without a permit could face a fine of up to £5,000.   
(ii) Not to meet a permit condition a fine up to £2,500.  This would 

encourage good compliance with the conditions set in the Permit. 
 

(e) Fixed Penalty Notices are already in place under the current system with levels 
set by the Department for Transport.  The fixed penalty notices income 
generated by the permit scheme can be used for “implementing policies for the 
promotion and encouragement of safe, integrated, efficient and economic 
transport facilities and services within the specified area”.  The Council will 
utilise funds received to operate and additionally resource the scheme.  Should 
there be any surplus funds from penalties it could be used to support Highways 
and Transportation services as described above. 
 

(f) Ability to direct joint working with utilities when appropriate and aim to achieve 
a better standard of work. 
 

(g) Better ability to manage occupancy of the highway; therefore, durations of 
works could be reduced.  
 

Page 252



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(h) A permit scheme could also further reduce highway occupation as return visits 
to a site would be minimised. 
 

(i) Better quality of information from utilities which would enable us to inspect 
more of their works. 
 

(j) Improved coordination through a reduction in cancellations. 
 

(k) Charges for permits can be utilised to support scheme costs including staff, IT, 
monitoring, coordination and training; all costs that are currently borne by the 
authority. 
 

(l) Successful performance of a scheme can maximise the safe and efficient use 
of road space which will minimise inconvenience to all road users, improving 
safety of those using the highway network with particular emphasis on people 
with disabilities and cyclists. 
 

(m) The Authority can ensure works are being carried out to ensure the impact on 
the network efficiency is kept at a minimum wherever possible particularly on 
Traffic Sensitive and Strategic routes, thus helping to keep the traffic moving.  
By improving coordination Public and School Transport can be improved as the 
delays can be kept to a minimum.  Carbon dioxide emissions could also be 
reduced as traffic will spend less time idling in traffic queues 

 
Feasibility and Implementation of a Permit Scheme 
 
37. It is not currently mandatory for Local Highway Authorities (LHA) to operate a 

Permit Scheme.  However, the request from the Secretary of State in 2018 
provided clear direction.  Prior to 2015, an application to the Secretary of State was 
required if an LHA wanted to operate such a scheme.  However, the deregulation 
Act 2015 removed the requirement for permit schemes to be approved by the 
Secretary of State.   
 

38. There remains a requirement to assess the benefits/dis-benefits of a scheme to 
those impacted and other statutory consultees, which includes the Department for 
Transport.  Therefore, the scheme has been developed, assessed and consulted 
upon prior to introduction.  

 
39. Feasibility work has been undertaken on a collaborative basis with other North 

East/Tees Valley Authorities developing a common permit scheme.  This approach 
has the benefit of: 

 
(a) Developing the same rules/conditions thereby making it consistent for those 

persons working across authorities to comply with schemes. 
 

(b) Consultation on a common scheme is simpler, rather than having multiple 
consultations of different schemes with those impacted. 
 

(c) Expedites the program for implementation along with efficiencies in the 
development costs for the scheme given the anticipated start date for the 
scheme being March 2020. 
 

Page 253



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(d) The collaborative approach was for the implementation phase of the scheme 
and any ongoing common amendments, with each authority managing its own 
scheme separately.  

 
40. The introduction of a Permit Scheme will be more resource intensive to operate.  

However, there will be a fee structure to the external works promoters for the permit 
aimed at allowing the Authority to adequately resource the administration of a 
scheme.  The proposed level of charges has been set accordingly and is detailed at 
Appendix 1. 
 

41. Some of the key elements of the permit scheme are as follows: 
 
(a) Definition of the scheme objectives. 

(i) Manage and maintain the local highway network for the safe and efficient 
use of road space, whilst allowing promoters access to maintain their 
services and assets. 

(ii) To reduce the length of occupation of highway works and thus ongoing 
disruption to the public. 

(iii) To improve the information available to the public to help provide and 
inform reliable journey times. 

(iv) Encourage collaborative activities between all activity promoters 
(v) To ensure parity of treatment for all activity promoters particularly 

between statutory undertakers and highway authority works and 
activities. 

(b) A comprehensive review of the current highway network designations in 
relation to traffic sensitivity, network management hierarchy and the pairing of 
roads has been undertaken. 

(c) Full details of the scheme will be published on the Council’s website 
(d) Cost Benefit Analysis – to assess additional resource requirements and the 

charging structure and level of charges.  
(e) Informal and Formal Consultation with those impacted and statutory 

consultees. 
(f) Internal implications on Council operations requiring Council Services to apply 

for permits when required. 
(g) Assessment of ICT and Legal Resource implications in terms of implementation 

and ongoing costs. 
 
42. It is recommended that Cabinet approve the Permit Scheme as developed, the 

resources required to operate the scheme and the schedule of charges as 
identified at Appendix 1.  

 
Financial Implications 
 
43. In developing the scheme, a cost benefit analysis has been undertaken to 

understand the financial implications.  It is anticipated that the costs of moving to a 
Permit Scheme will be more than the current resource and budget provision.  
However, there is provision within scheme for fees to recover costs of the service.  
The business case assessment has identified these financial implications.    
 

44. The scheme will require additional specialist advice, software, equipment and 
increased staff which will be recovered from fees generated.  The permit scheme is 
monitored over a period of three years to ensure the costs of the scheme is 
covered.  

Page 254



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
45. The cost benefit analysis work has been undertaken utilising a calculator provided 

by Department for Transport and consultants employed by the North East 
Authorities.  The more detailed and complex nature of the individual application 
process has identified a need for additional staff resources.  The assessment has 
identified the need the need to increase from 0.75 full time equivalent staff to two 
full time equivalent staff.  The scheme introduced the ability to charge fees to offset 
costs of running the scheme and the fees proposed have been based on 
Department for Transports figures.  Under the permit scheme regulations 
(Regulation 30) the Authority is allowed to charge statutory undertakers a fee to 
review, issue and vary (where applicable) a permit.  Charges are considered 
proportionate to the cost to the Authority for administering that permit.  The charges 
proposed that are recommended for approval are included at Appendix 1.  

 
46. Permit schemes costs and income should be kept separately from other income 

streams, such as over-runs and fixed penalties.  This means the industry 
regulators’ requirements to see a clear separation between costs to undertakers 
that are avoidable and costs that are not. 

 
47. The estimated total annual operating cost of the new scheme is calculated at 

£297,978.  To aid understanding included in this total figure is an amount 
associated with permit applications for utility companies which can be recovered.  
The DFT calculator estimates this amount to be £171K.  The level of the permit fee 
has been set with an expectation of being cost neutral on the recoverable elements 
of the scheme.  The business case and permit fee accounts will be kept under 
annual review. 
 

48. The total cost figure includes amounts associated with new staff, resources and 
systems associated with operating the proposed permit scheme and also includes 
the costs currently incurred operating the current noticing system that will transfer 
into the new system.  The Council is able to separately recover initial set-up costs 
for the permits systems and these costs are being identified in separate accounts, 
but the Council cannot recover costs associated with local authority permit 
applications. 

 
49. Permit schemes fee income must not be used with the intention of generating 

surplus revenue and income must only be used to meet the costs of the scheme. 
 

Legal Implications 
 
50. The legal implications of introducing a scheme have been considered.  Given the 

indication from the Secretary of State that there is a likely to direct to implement a 
scheme it is better to develop a local scheme that best suits Darlington. 

 
 

Page 255



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 1 
Permit Scheme – Schedule of Fees  

  

Road Category 0-2 
or Traffic-sensitive 

Road Category 3-4 
and non-traffic 

sensitive 

Provisional Advance Authorisation £90 £70 

Major works - over ten days or traffic 
regulation order required 

£231 £142 

Major works - four to ten days and no 
traffic regulation order required 

£130 £75 

Major works - up to three days and no 
traffic regulation order required 

£65 £45 

Standard works £130 £75 

Minor works £65 £45 

Immediate works £60 £40 

 
Permit Variation Fees 
 

 £45 for activities on category 0, 1 and 2 streets, and on 3 and 4 traffic sensitive 
streets.  

 £35 for activities on category 3 and 4 non traffic sensitive streets. 

 If a Permit variation moves an activity into a higher fee category, the Promoter 
will be required to pay the difference in Permit fee.  

 No fee is payable if a Permit variation is initiated by the Permit Authority.  
 
Circumstances Where No Fee is Payable 
 
A promoter cannot be charged a fee where: 
 

(a) The promoter is a highway authority; 
 

(b) A permit is deemed to be granted because the authority failed to respond to an 
application in the time required; 
 

(c) A permit variation is initiated by the permit authority 
 
Use of Income 
 
Permit schemes must not be used with the intention of generating surplus revenue. 
Income must only be used to meet the costs of the scheme. 
 
Keeping Accounts 
 
Permit schemes costs and income should be kept separately from other income 
streams, such as over-runs and fixed penalties.  This means the industry regulators’ 
requirements to see a clear separation between costs to undertakers that are avoidable 
and costs that are not. 
 
Fixed Penalty Notices 
The levels are set by the Department for Transport and have a varying level depending 
on the nature of the non-compliance.  

Page 256



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CABINET 
7 JANUARY 2020 

 
DARLINGTON CREMATORIUM REFURBISHMENT - UPDATE 

 

 
Responsible Cabinet Member – Councillor Heather Scott, 

Leader and Local Services Portfolio 
 

Ian Williams, Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services 
 

 
SUMMARY REPORT 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To update Cabinet on the pre-planning consultation for the Crematorium 

Refurbishment and new Chapel.   
 

Summary 
 
2. Members approved the direction of travel for the Crematorium within Darlington’s 

West Cemetery contained in the previous Cabinet report of 8 October 2019.  
Members, and before that Scrutiny, considered the three options presented to them 
and recommended progressing Option 3, which was to replace the existing 
cremators as well as redeveloping the existing Chapel into the Bereavement 
Service Office and building new Chapel within West Cemetery on part of the land 
identified for future burials.   
 

3. This option also included a through-road through the cemetery extension across 
the Allotment site to Pondfield Close and exiting onto Salutation Road.   
 

4. As part of taking the recommended option forward, pre-planning consultation has 
taken place and a Planning Application was submitted on 20 December 2019.  
Following the consultation, a decision was taken to remove the through-road from 
the Planning Application and therefore enter and exit the cemetery from Carmel 
Road North.   
 

Recommendation 
 
5. It is recommended that Members note the removal of the through-road from the 

Planning Application:- 
 

Reasons 
 
6. The recommendation is supported as following further analysis including the 

comments received, the decision was taken to remove the road to ensure the new 
chapel and works to the existing cremators could still move forward in a timely 
manner. 
 

Ian Williams 
Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services 

Page 257

Agenda Item 8



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 
Background Papers 
 
Report entitled - Darlington Crematorium Refurbishment, considered by Cabinet on 8 October 2019    

 
 
Ian Thompson : Extension 6612 
CD 

 

S17 Crime and Disorder There is no impact on crime and disorder as a 
result of this report.   

Health and Well Being No direct impacts. 

Carbon Impact Provision of new cremators and associated 
equipment to abate mercury emissions as well 
as ensuring any installation provides the 
opportunity to future-proof subsequent 
legislation as well as minimise carbon impacts. 
Provision to be able to abate NOx (a collective 
term for various oxides of Nitrogen which is a 
pollutant by-product of the combustion process 
having similar adverse effects to that of 
mercury). 

Diversity No direct impacts. 

Wards Affected The existing crematorium is located within 
West Cemetery in Hummersknott Ward, 
however residents will use the facility from all 
Wards.   

Groups Affected Different faith groups and non-faith groups 
require different services and iconography.  
Any new development will take account of the 
individual requirements where possible.   

Budget and Policy Framework  This decision does not represent a change to 
the budget and policy framework.  Costs with 
associated building works and lost income will 
be met from existing resources.   

Key Decision No 

Urgent Decision No 

One Darlington: Perfectly 
Placed 

No direct impacts.   

Efficiency By upgrading the existing equipment will 
improve the overall efficiency of the cremators 
and associated equipment.   

Impact on Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers 

This report has no impact on Looked After 
Children or Care Leavers.  

 
 
 

Page 258



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
MAIN REPORT 

 
Background 
 
7. Cabinet had previously considered a detailed report presented on 8 October 2019 

where three options were considered for the replacement/refurbishment of the 
crematorium within Darlington.  The three options were: 
 
(a) Option 1 

New build, new site.   
 

(b) Option 2 
To replace the existing cremators alongside limited improvements to the 
Chapel. 
 

(c) Option 3 
Replace the existing cremators as well as redeveloping the existing Chapel into 
a Bereavement Service Office and new Chapel within West Cemetery on the 
part of land identified for future burials.   
 

8. Both Option 2 and Option 3 included the opportunity to create a through-road going 
through cemetery extension land across allotments onto Pondfield Close and 
exiting through Salutation Road.   
 

9. Prior to Cabinet, consultation had taken place with faith leaders, funeral directors 
and informally with the Allotment Association.  As detailed in the report, there were 
no strong objections from faith leaders or funeral directors with regard to Option 3 
as long as the hearse and formal funeral cars did not pass the care home.  The 
informal discussions with the Allotment Association, whilst not ideal for them, was 
not presenting any strong opposition as it was believed a workable solution could 
be found.   
 

Pre-Planning Consultation 
 
10. Pre-planning consultation has taken place between 7 and 21 November 2019 as 

part of this process.  166 comments have been received with breakdown as 
follows: 
 

Comment Category Number 

Not consulted 20 

Out of town site needed 15 

Drainage Issues 11 

Undignified split site 16 

Traffic issues 78 

Pollution 8 

Security Issues 5 

Poor route past the Nursing Home 8 

Loss of allotments 5 

 
 

Page 259



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

11. As can be seen from the above, by far the majority of objections are related to 
traffic concerns.   
 

12. In addition, through the pre-planning consultation process the Allotment Association 
submitted concerns with regard to the proposals.  
 

13. More discussion has been held with the Allotment Association and agreement has 
not been reached, thereby the decision at this time is to proceed with a planning 
application removing the road.   
 

14. In consultation with the Leader of the Council, the decision was taken to remove 
the road from the Planning Application to enable the Crematorium project to move 
forward at the earliest opportunity, subject to Planning Permission.   
 

 

Page 260



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CABINET 
7 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

 

SCHEDULE OF TRANSACTIONS 
 

 

Responsible Cabinet Member – Councillor Charles Johnson  
Resources Portfolio 

 
Responsible Director – Ian Williams 

Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services 
 

 
SUMMARY REPORT 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To consider and to seek approval of the terms negotiated in respect of the 

Schedule of Transactions as set out below. 
 

TRANSACTION 
PURPOSE OF 

TRANSACTION 
MINUTE REF 

Surrender and Grant 
of New Lease  
2-22 Scargill Court, 
Fenby Avenue, 
Lascelles Park – 
Parade of shops and 
flats 
 

Surrender of existing Lease 
dated 30 April 1974 and grant 
of new lease on modern 
terms, to include a capital 
payment to the Council  

 

Former Fisher 
Carpets and 
Congregation 
Church, 10-12 Union 
Street, Darlington 
DL3 6JE 

Acquisition Cabinet 
9 July 2019 
Resolution 
C25(c) 

 
Summary 
 
2. It is necessary for Cabinet to approve terms negotiated by the Director of Economic 

Growth and Neighbourhood Services on behalf of the Council to enable 
contractually binding contracts to be completed.  The Part III Appendix 1 details 
the terms negotiated for consideration and approval. 
 

Recommendation 
 
3. It is recommended that the schedule be approved, and the transactions completed 

on the terms and conditions detailed therein. 
 

Page 261

Agenda Item 9



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Reasons 
 
4. Terms negotiated require approval by Cabinet before binding itself contractually to 

a transaction. 
 

Ian Williams 
Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services 

 
Background Papers 
No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
Guy Metcalfe: Extension 6725 

 

 

S17 Crime and Disorder This report has no implications for Crime & Disorder 

Health and Well Being There are no issues relating to Health & Wellbeing 
which this report needs to address 

Carbon Impact and Climate 
Change  

There are no impacts 

Diversity There are no issues relating to Diversity which this 
report needs to address 

Wards Affected The impact of the report on any individual Ward is 
considered to be minimal 

Groups Affected The impact of the report on any Group is considered to 
be minimal 

Budget and Policy Framework  This report does not represent a change to the budget 
and policy framework 

Key Decision This is not a key decision 

Urgent Decision This is not an urgent decision 

One Darlington: Perfectly 
Placed 

This report does not adversely impact on the Strategy 

Efficiency The terms set out in the Schedule of Transactions 
appended to this report are considered to be in the 
Council's best interest and ensure the Council's 
business is conducted efficiently 

Impact on Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers  

There are no issues in relation to Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers  

 

Page 262



Document is Restricted

Page 263

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 To Approve the Minutes of the meeting of this Cabinet held on Tuesday, 3 December 2019.
	7(a) Medium Term Financial Plan
	Appendix 1 - Detailed Estimates
	Appendix 2 - Budget Pressures-Savings
	Appendix 3 - Schedule of Charges
	Appendix 4 - Assumptions
	Appendix 5 - Projected Revenue Outturn 19-20
	Appendix 6 - Assessment of Risk Balances
	Appendix 7 - Proposed MTFP 2019 to 2023

	7(b) Darlington Capital Strategy
	Appendix 1 and 2

	7(c) Housing Revenue Account - Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2020/21 to 2023/24
	Appendices 1 to 4

	7(d) The Council Plan 2020/23
	The Council Plan 2020 - 2023 - Appendix 1

	7(e) Capital Works Required at Crown Street Library
	Appendix 1
	Sheets and Views
	layout
	PS_LIMITS



	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	7(f) Darlington Rail Heritage Quarter
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	7(g) Permit System to Manage and Coordinate Roadworks
	8 Darlington Crematorium Refurbishment - Update
	9 Schedule of Transactions
	Appendix 1




